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--- On commencing at 9:30 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  The OEB is sitting today on a matter of an application by Enbridge Gas Inc. regarding its integrated resource planning proposal, or IRP, as we call it.  Enbridge Gas requested that the OEB determine that its IRP proposal is reasonable and appropriate.  The case number is EB-2020-0091, and the OEB has scheduled today's presentation day to gain a greater understanding of the perspectives of parties in advance of the IRP -- regarding the IRP and including perspectives on how IRP may differ from Enbridge's proposal.

My name is Lynne Anderson, and I am presiding today, and along with me are my fellow commissioners, Susan Frank and Michael Janigan.

I understand that the parties have attended a training session prior to the technical conference and are generally quite familiar with the Zoom platform and the etiquette for today, perhaps even more familiar with it than I am.  But I do want to turn it over to Staff to go over again some of the key technical details and remind everyone that your mics should be on mute and you should turn off your video except when you are speaking.

So I would like to turn it over -- Mike Millar -- perhaps, Mike -- Mr. Millar, you should introduce the Staff team from the OEB and then give us some technical instructions.

MR. MILLAR:  Great, thank you very much, Madam Chair, and good morning.

Michael Millar, counsel for Board Staff, and with me today are Cherida Walter and Michael Parkes.  As you say, I think many folks have already participated in a hearing like this before, but it's always good to have a refresher, so I will do that.  A reminder that this event is being transcribed.  Therefore, please speak clearly into your mic, to avoid speaking when someone else is speaking, because it will not be possible for the court reporter to hear either party properly.  If you need to address the Panel, please turn your camera on.  That will give them an indication that you wish to address them.  And if you think they have not noticed you, you can interject as you would in the normal hearing room.  The presenters will be responsible for displaying their own documents.

As a reminder, the OEB does not intend to provide an opportunity for other parties to ask questions of the presenters.

This event is being audio-streamed on the OEB's website.  It is being recorded to assist with transcription services, and that recording will be deleted after seven days.

Zoom allows you to join the event via a land line or a cell phone.  Therefore, please make sure to write down the Zoom phone numbers, which are in the invite.  And if you experience technical difficulties during your presentation, we will try and resolve the issue quickly.  If we are unable to do so, we will move you to the -- we will move to the next presenting party on the schedule and reschedule the affected party to later in the day.  As such, all parties are expected to be ready at any point during the day.

And finally, in case you drop off this call and are unable to rejoin the event, please inform Cherida at cherida.walter@oeb.ca immediately.

And with that I will pass it back to the Panel.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Millar.  And I just -- if there are technical problems and you are unable to rejoin the hearing because you have dropped off, it is our intention to continue with the presentations as planned.  We will look for a place to put you in the schedule.  If you are able to get back online we will make every efforts to do that, but if that does not work you may file comments in writing, but we do plan to proceed with the other presentations.

As a preliminary matter, in the Procedural Order No. 7, we did establish this presentation day to allow us to assess whether there is breadth and scope of evidence on which to establish the IRP framework for Enbridge Gas.  We also indicated that we want to be satisfied with this before going ahead with the oral hearing.  So at the end of today the Panel will take a few minutes to discuss what we've heard today and we will determine if there is anything that prevents us from proceeding with the oral hearing as planned.  We will then come back and let you know.

So I guess what -- I would like to take appearances.  And just to keep it organized, I thought -- and it's difficult for me to see all that's here on the screen at one time -- I thought I would just run through the intervenors, and we can just talk about who's here, and I assume it's Mr. Stevens for Enbridge, so we can start with you, and perhaps you can introduce the Enbridge team.
Appearances:


MR. STEVENS:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Thank you very much.  My name is David Stevens.  I am acting as counsel with Enbridge on this application -- or on this proceeding.  With us today are quite a number of Enbridge representatives, including each of the people who appeared as witnesses at the technical conference, and that includes the three witnesses -- or the three representatives who are going to speak to Enbridge's presentation today.  Each of them have turned on their cameras.  They are Catherine McCowan, Sarah Van Der Paelt, and Adam Stiers.

Also joining us today on this Zoom call are members of Enbridge's regulatory team, including Mark Kitchen, Brittany Zimmer, and Stephanie Allman.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Stevens.  So I am kind of going down the list here, and of course it decides to lose on my screen.  Anwaatin?

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Jonathan McGillivray, counsel for Anwaatin, and we'll be joined later in the day by Larry Sault and John Richardson, who will give the presentation on Anwaatin's behalf.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  BOMA?  Hearing none, CME?

MR. POLLOCK:  Scott Pollock, Counsel for Canadian & Exporters.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Pollock.  Is the City of Hamilton here?  No?  City of Kitchener?

MS. CHATTERJEE:  Good morning, Commissioner.  This is Jaya Chatterjee from City of Kitchener.  I am joined by Les Jones, City of Kitchener.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Hopefully you don't mind I am using your short forms.  CCC.

MS. GIRVAN:  Yes, good morning.  It's Julie Girvan on behalf of the Consumers Council of Canada.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, MS. Girvan.  Energy Probe.

MR. LADANYI:  Good morning.  Tom Ladanyi here for Energy Probe.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.

DR. HIGGIN:  And Roger Higgin for Energy Probe as well, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Higgin -- Dr. Higgin.  Environment Defence?

MR. ELSON:  Good morning.  Kent Elson for Environmental Defence, and Chris Neme is here as well, and he is providing a presentation on behalf of Environmental Defence and Green Energy Coalition.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Is EPCOR represented?  No?  FRPO?

MR. QUINN:  Good morning, Commissioners.  Dwayne Quinn on behalf of FRPO.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  And I am just seeing a note from Staff that Marion Fraser is here for BOMA, so is -- and is unable to speak up.  Thank you.

I will get through my list here.  Green Energy Coalition?  Did I get through there?

MR. POCH:  Yes, good morning, Madam Chair, Commissioners.  David Poch on behalf of Green Energy Coalition.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  IGUA.

MR. MONDROW:  Good morning, Madam Chair, Commissioners.  Ian Mondrow, counsel for the Industrial Gas Users Association, IGUA.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  And LPMA?

MR. AIKEN:  Good morning, everyone.  Randy Aiken on behalf of the London Property Management Association.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  And LIEN.

MS. VALLANI:  Good morning.  This is Madiha Vallani for Low Income Energy Network.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Is OSEA here?  No?  Pollution Probe?

MR. BROPHY:  Good morning, Madam Chair and Commissioners.  Michael Brophy on behalf of Pollution Probe.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  SEC?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  Jay Shepherd, counsel for the School Energy Coalition.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  And is TransCanada Pipelines here?  No?  And finally, VECC?

MS. GRICE:  Good morning.  Shelley Grice, representing Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. Grice.  And is there anyone else?  Oh, there is someone from EPCOR.  I am seeing Ken Poon is here from EPCOR, and Mark Emmanuel?  Have I got that correct?  And is there anyone else here that should be?

MR. BUONAGURO:  Good morning.  It's Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Ontario Greenhouse Vegetable Growers.

MS. ANDERSON:  I am sorry, Mr. Buonaguro.  I must have missed that.  You were actually on my list and I skipped over it.  My apologies.

MR. BUONAGURO:  No problem.

MR. VELLONE:  Good morning, Madam Chair.  John Vellone, counsel for the Association of Power Producers of Ontario, APPrO.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Vellone. Okay, is there any other preliminary matters that we need to cover before we, before we begin today?

Hearing none, I think -- I guess, then, Mr. Stevens, you're up with Enbridge.  And just as a reminder, everyone else will be on mute and have their cameras off, except for the Panel.  Looking forward to the presentations.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you very much, Madam Chair.  Each of the representatives of Enbridge, I believe, have now turned on their camera and the presentation has been projected.

So with that, I am going to turn it over to Adam Stiers to lead everybody through the presentation.
ENBRIDGE GAS INC.

Adam Stiers

Sarah Van Der Paelt

Catherine McCowan
Presentation by Mr. Stiers:


MR. STIERS:  Thank you, David.  Good morning, Commissioners, and thank you for the opportunity to discuss Enbridge Gas's integrated resource planning or IRP proposal with you today.

The company is excited to share its broad, inclusive and evolving vision of natural gas IRP with you.  My name, as you heard, is Adam Stiers, and I am a technical manager of regulatory applications.  I am joined today by Sarah Van Der Paelt, director of energy conservation and marketing, and Catherine McCowan, manager of integrity and asset management governance.

As a point of reference, I would like to start today by clarifying that the terminology used by the company in this presentation generally ascribes to the definitions set out by the Board in its Procedural Order No. 2.

As part of today's presentation, we intend to, one, provide an overview of how Enbridge Gas has come to define natural gas IRP based on its observations of similar initiatives in other leading jurisdictions, and as it relates to the Ontario-specific context.

Secondly, to discuss the impetus for Enbridge Gas's IRP proposal and what the company seeks to accomplish through its evidence in this proceeding and future IRP activities and applications.

Thirdly, to provide a high-level overview of the core principles and processes that the Enbridge Gas proposes the Board endorse, and their respective relevance to ensuring that the company can continue to safely and reliably meet the needs of its customers.

Fourth, to discuss the time horizon over which the company proposes to consider IRP alternatives together with baseline facility alternatives, to resolve identified system constraints from forecasting through to monitoring and reporting on the performance of IRPA investments.

Fifth, to discuss the various stages of stakeholder outreach proposed by Enbridge Gas to engage all parties, including proactive engagement in advance of any system constraints being identified at the time that constraints and initial facility or non-facility projects are identified, and in advance of any IRPA or leave-to-construct application for approval to invest in alternative methods to resolve identified constraints.

Six, we will clarify the approval sought by Enbridge Gas through its IRP proposal and subsequent additional evidence and reply evidence in this proceeding.

And finally, we will identify next steps following the establishment of an IRP framework for Enbridge Gas through this proceeding.

So, if we could get started, Steph on the first slide.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Stiers, just as we are starting, one thing I neglected to say, but the Panel would final it helpful as we are going through presentations today if there's something very specific about one slide, we may just speak up and ask the question then.  So I just wanted to forewarn you of that.  Sometimes it is more helpful while we are on that slide.  If it's more general in nature, we will leave them to the end.

I just wanted to give heads-up to all parties that's the approach we will take if we have those specific questions.

MR. STIERS:  Fair enough, thank you.  Okay.  So through this proceeding, Enbridge Gas is seeking OEB approval and establishment of an IRP policy framework to guide the company's assessment of IRP alternatives or IRPAs.

IRP is a planning approach to resolve identified long-term system constraints, which includes the identification, assessments and evaluation of supply-side and demand-side alternatives compared to facility alternatives, to determine the alternative or alternatives that provide the optimal balance of cost and risk for ratepayers.  

Enbridge Gas's IRP proposal and associated evidence and testimony has been submitted in support of establishing an IRP framework that will enable the company to pursue investment in a broad variety of IRPAs in the future, while also ensuring that it can meet its obligations to serve the firm contractual demands of its customers on a peak or design basis.

This proposal has its foundations based in OEB-approved forecasting methodologies, over a century of natural gas system planning and operational expertise, and the company's historic consideration and implementation of various non-facility alternatives to resolve system capacity constraints, including 25 years of passive deferral of infrastructure through natural gas DSM or conservation programming, established interruptible services and rates, historic assessment of and contracting for supply-side or market-based alternatives, and optimized system planning practices.

As the Board's request, Enbridge Gas Distribution and Union Gas Limited commissioned a joint transition plan and IRP study which was completed by ICF Canada.  In its IRP study, ICF concluded that changes in Ontario energy policy and regulatory structure would be necessary to facilitate natural gas IRP.

Enbridge Gas's IRP proposal and related evidence seeks guidance and clarity regarding the gaps identified by ICF, and the scope and scale of the Board's expectations for natural gas IRP in Ontario including what approvals are required for IRP investment and activity going forward.

What is the appropriate allocation of risk related to investment in IRPA?  How does the Board expect to address issues of cross subsidies caused by investments in IRPAs.

What is the appropriate means by which the company should recover the cost associated with IRP investment and what accounting treatment is appropriate?  What monitoring and reporting of the performance of IRPAs and other IRP-related activities and issues is appropriate?  Are the company's proposed guiding principles appropriate?  What IRPAs are appropriate for the company to invest in --further, to own, to operate and/or to procure?

How should the company be rewarded for its investments in IRPAs?  And, finally, are the company's proposed assessments and evaluation criteria and processes appropriate?  Next slide, please.

Enbridge Gas's IRP proposal is grounded in four guiding principles:  reliability and safety, cost-effectiveness, public policy, and optimized scoping.

In terms of reliability and safety, Enbridge Gas's system design philosophy must not be compromised and reliable and safe delivery of natural gas remains paramount.

In terms of cost-effectiveness, IRP plans that consider alternatives to defer, reduce, or avoid future infrastructure should be cost-effective compared to other alternatives.  In terms of public policy, IRP will be developed to ensure that it supports and is aligned with public policy where that policy is established in law, or where the Board has otherwise directed the company in some way.

And finally, in terms of optimized scoping, recognizing that the review of supply and demand-side alternatives for every forecasted infrastructure project would be extremely time intensive, a screening approach should be put in place to ensure a focus at the at the outset on efficient and effective IRPA investment.

Following its identification, Enbridge Gas intends to consider whether IRPAs and/or facility alternatives could feasibly resolve a system constraint.  In the case of IRP alternatives, the company has proposed to conduct an initial binary screening exercise to determine whether such alternatives could reasonably be considered to resolve the constraint based on five criteria.  This exercise is meant to ensure that initial IRPA assessments are focussed on system constraints with the highest potential to be resolved by such alternatives.  

If a complete IRPA assessment was undertaken for every identified system constraint, it would be exceedingly time- and resource-intensive, resulting in substantial incremental administrative costs to ratepayers.  To avoid incurring such costs where limited potential value to ratepayers exists and so that all existing resources are optimized, the company has proposed the five binary screening criteria.  

If the company determines that it is appropriate to consider IRPAs to resolve an identified system constraint, then it intends to review the various potential IRPAs proposed within its additional evidence, including low-carbon technologies, CNG, RNG, non-gas alternatives, demand response, enhanced targeted energy efficiency, and supply-side alternatives to determine whether any IRPAs have a high potential to deliver the peak period demand savings required to reliably resolve the system constraints.

This list of potential IRPAs is not exhaustive, and the company expects that it will evolve over time.  In certain cases, given that natural gas IRP is a new concept, it may also be necessary for the company to apply a derating factor to the savings it anticipated from viable IRPAs in order to account for the risk that the peak demand savings anticipated are not realized.  

This concept is used in New York State and was cited by ICF in its IRP study.

Once an IRP alternative is selected, the company proposes to compare it to the baseline facility alternative that would otherwise be expected to resolve the constraint on an economic basis.

Enbridge Gas has proposed that this economic analysis be based on the OEB's EBO 134 guidelines to assess facility projects.  However, Enbridge Gas has also suggested that to the extent the Board wishes to consider a greater variety of costs and benefits than are included in the three-stage DCF test set out in EBO 134, the Board could modify these guidelines for the purposes of assessing natural gas IRP projects to create a DCF plus test.

This approach is reasonable, as it supports the company's overall request for like treatment of IRPA and facility investments, it is based on Ontario-specific cost-effectiveness guidelines, and the Board and stakeholders already have a degree of familiarity with it.

Next slide.
Presentation by Ms. McCowan:


MS. McCOWAN:  Enbridge Gas has proposed that it include consideration of IRPAs, together with comparable facility alternatives, to resolve identified system constraints up to ten years in advance through its Asset Management Plan, providing significant incremental lead time to support investment in IRP alternatives.

Through its annual forecasting and planning processes, the company anticipates that it will identify system constraints up to ten years in advance.  Upon identifying such constraints, initial work will commence to understand their nature and the attributes of the regions and the customers affected, including completing IRPA binary screening and setting a baseline facility alternative.

Should the identified system constraint pass the binary screening exercise, the company would then conduct the proposed IRP evaluation process, which is composed of two stages:  To identify viable IRPAs and test their cost-effectiveness relative to comparable baseline facilities.

Both the binary screening and IRP evaluation processes are informed by ongoing input through existing channels with stakeholders, otherwise referred to as component 1 of the company's proposed IRP stakeholder outreach strategy.

Next, and prior to project development, the company expects that it would reflect the conclusions of the preceding five steps in the IRP planning horizon within its annual update to its Asset Management Plan, currently filed as part of stage 2 of its annual rate-setting proceedings in October.

Immediately following the filing of the update to the AMP, the company intends to conduct an annual stakeholder day, otherwise referred to as component 2 of the company's proposed IRP stakeholder outreach strategy, to discuss the content of the AMP, to explain and discuss its decisions regarding screening out of alternatives, and the conclusions of its IRP evaluations.

The company will also solicit input on new IRPAs as part of its stakeholder day and may determine that reconsideration of previous conclusions regarding the optimal means of resolving identified system constraints is appropriate.

Importantly, the AMP should be considered a living document that is updated annually to reflect the best available information, including with regard to IRPAs.  All input received during annual stakeholder days will be reported and subsequently filed with the Board as part of future annual IRP reports or IRP applications and evidence.

In advance of fully developing and implementing any IRPA or facility project, the company has proposed to conduct geographically targeted stakeholder consultation in a similar manner to the consultation conducted during the stakeholder day, albeit specific to a single constraint and project, otherwise referred to as component 3 of the company's proposed IRP stakeholder outreach strategy.

Following this targeted consultation, the company expects to apply to the Board for approval to invest in the preferred alternative.  In the case of IRPAs this is proposed to be done through an IRPA application.  For a facility alternative, it would be done through an application for leave to construct.

Critically, in case its investments in IRPs are found through the annual monitoring and reporting processes to have underperformed in terms of reducing the underlying system constraint, the company must reserve adequate time to seek OEB approval for leave to construct a facility alternative.

Enbridge Gas has estimated the amount of time required to finalize the design, conduct environmental assessments, acquire land and permit, receive OEB approval to construct, and put facilities into service will range from three to five years, each project being unique in this regard.

Steph, can you move to the next slide?

MS. ANDERSON:  Ms. McCowan, just before we leave that slide, I just wanted to make sure I understand the timelines here.  So you said that the -- it starts ten years out, and then I was trying to understand the three to five years, which falls under monitoring and reporting after a project has been implemented.

But you have just mentioned three to five years as about putting facilities in place if you need to get a leave to construct, so I am trying to understand what the three to five years is.

MS. McCOWAN:  Yeah, sure.  So what we are thinking is that in that timeline between the three to five years to ten years we can be looking at the IRPAs and implementing them and trying to monitor to see if they're effective.  But if we get to the point where we are three to five years from the constraint being realized, at that point we would need to start thinking about the facility alternative if the IRPs had not been successful.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Makes sense.  I understand now.

MS. McCOWAN:  Okay.
Presentation by Ms. Van Der Paelt:


MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Thank you, Catherine.  Good morning, Madam Chair and fellow Commissioners.

I am going to expand a little bit around what Ms. McCowan just shared around the stakeholder outreach and the components that were mentioned.

So Enbridge is committed to soliciting and documenting and responding to all of our stakeholder feedback regarding the conclusions of our IRP assessments and our evaluation process, because we strive to identify and resolve system constraints through the use of IRPAs and expansion programs.  So for this reason we promoted and proposed this three-stage stakeholder outreach program.

So the first component is really leveraging our existing channels.  And to effectively and efficiently reflect the geographic and customer-specific information at the outset of natural gas IRP, we thought it would be best to use the existing knowledge we have and the existing channels with our customers.

And so to give you a few examples of what some of those channels might be, they include the work we do currently with municipalities, the work we do currently with all our large industrial and commercial customers and actively account-managing them and soliciting their demand requirements and forecast needs, as well as our ongoing surveys of all customer segments that we do throughout the year on a continuous basis to understand their views not only of the utility and our service, but also of the natural gas fuel.

As time passes and our experience with the IRPA investments are gained, we expect we will find means to improve these engagements and elicit additional feedback from the customers through these channels, which will hopefully improve the IRP assessment and evaluation results.

Through the knowledge we gain there, we will then move to specific annual stakeholder engagements.  As Ms. McCowan mentioned, after we file our Asset Management Plan, the intent is to conduct a stakeholder day to discuss the IRPAs and facility projects identified together in that document.

So in that document, we will see facility projects, as Ms. McCowan stated, that go out up to ten years, and those that we have identified have potential IRPA solutions, as well as those that we feel might be best served with a facilities solution based on the criteria that was established in the stage 1 evaluation.

Any input that we receive on these stakeholder days from the participant will be used to guide our decisions and even bring forward new IRP alternatives that we had not previously considered.  Our company's responses will be recorded, they will be responded to, and will be filed with the OEB as part of the annual IRP report, or as part of a future IRPA application or leave to construct.

Our intent is to be transparent and as we indicate on the last bullet, we are seeking to solicit input on additional IRPAs from stakeholders.  This is a new process.  It is new for natural gas across North America, and for any one of us to think that we have all the answers today would be a little presupposing of what we know and don't know.

Component 3 is around including the targeted stakeholders in a specific geographic area in advance of an IRPA application.  So after we have gone through this process and we've identified an area where we think an IRPA will be a good solution, or a combination of IRPAs could be a good solution to serve a geographic area, we would like to seek the input of the community and the customers that will ultimately be impacted by that integrated resource planning decision.

We intend to conduct geographically targeted stakeholder consultation, and will include all members of the affected community.  We will do these consultations and share the screening process as well as the evaluation processes that the company has engaged in, and any input received through these participating stakeholders regarding our decisions, or new alternatives that are brought forward that we have not previously considered, will also be recorded, responded to, and filed with the OEB as part of our annual IRP report.

Hopefully, from these processes, you can see that our intent again is to solicit input from our stakeholders and from our customers and communities who are going to be most impacted by the decisions that the OEB makes here collectively around facilities and future IRPA applications going forward.

MS. FRANK:  Could I just ask about the various approaches to stakeholdering?  Would you say that you currently practice each of the items that you've described in either your general rate applications, or in a leave to construct?  I am thinking that there's nothing that's brand new here.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  We do conduct these types of stakeholders today, you are correct.  I would say the stakeholder day in component 2, although tied directly to the Asset Management Plan, would be very similar to other stakeholder days that we have done, both on energy conservation or with some of our rate cases and our rate hearings.

Component 1 is ongoing best practices that we do for day-to-day business in managing our relationships with our customers.  And component 3 would be very similar to what we see in our leave to construct, when we are looking at a community and we have open houses, we share facility routes, we get input on potential pipeline routes and the impacts on the community.

So it's that type of process.  The content would be different, but the actual event would look similar.

MS. FRANK:  Okay, thank you.
Continued Presentation by Mr. Stiers:


MR. STIERS:  Okay, thank you, Steph, and thank you, Sarah.

Enbridge Gas is seeking OEB approval and establishment of an IRP policy framework to the to guide the company's assessment of IRPAs at the outset of natural gas IRP in Ontario.  The company expects that the framework will necessarily evolve as experience is gained in the province and through ongoing learning from IRPs in other jurisdictions.

Accordingly, the ideal IRP framework would provide flexibility wherever possible, recognizing that many outstanding issues will likely be resolved through future specific IRPA application that follow the establishment of the framework.

Regarding IRP cost recovery and cost recovery mechanisms and their treatment, the company is proposing that it should be allowed to capitalize the costs of investments in IRPAs, that the Board approve the establishment of an IRP deferral account to record associated incremental administrative, projects and operating and maintenance costs for annual clearance. And, to seek cost recovery for OEB-approved IRPA investments under section 36 of the OEB Act in a similar manner to cost recovery of facility alternatives.

To support its assessment of identified system constraints and the evaluation of IRP alternatives, the company is proposing to apply four guiding principles, five binary screening criteria, and a two-stage IRP evaluation and assessment process to ensure that no IRPA is inappropriately or prematurely scoped out at the outset of natural gas IRP in Ontario, the company proposes that it is appropriate for the Board to establish an IRP framework that does not overly restrict consideration of IRPAs or their ownership, operation, and/or procurement.

Finally, the company is also seeking acknowledgement from the Board that advanced metering infrastructure or AMI is an important enabler of IRP and IRP alternatives, such as demand response.

Final slide, please, Steph.  Next steps regarding investments in IRPAs in Ontario are necessarily dependent upon the timing of establishment of an IRP framework for Enbridge Gas.  Until the company has guidance and clarity regarding the gaps identified by ICF, and the scope and scale of the Board's expectations for natural gas IRP in the province, it will be challenging to significantly advance IRP beyond its historic or existing levels.

Upon receipt of the guidance sought, the company expects that it would complete its initial exercise to integrate IRP into existing planning processes, advance proposals for two IRP pilot projects in 2021, and potentially file for approval to proceed with such investments as part of Phase 2 of its 2022 rates proceeding, and begin to incorporate its IRP proposal into a future annual update to the Asset Management Plan by completing its proposed IRP assessment and evaluation processes, and conducting an annual IRP stakeholder day following the annual filing of updates to the AMP going forward.

The insights gleaned from IRP pilot projects are expected to further inform the company's proposed IRP planning, assessment, evaluation, and monitoring and reporting processes by allowing the company, the Board, and stakeholders to learn from and improve natural gas IRP in Ontario through its real-life application.  These pilots would be initially informed by ongoing stakeholder input described in component 1 of the company's stakeholder outreach strategy, and the company is also open to conducting consultation on IRP pilot projects throughout 2021, to receive further input in a manner similar to components 2 and 3 of its stakeholder outreach strategy.

Enbridge Gas expects that it could feasibly complete IRP pilot project design by Q2 2022, and deployment by Q4 of 2022.

Thank you again, Commissioners, for this opportunity to speak with you this morning.  We would be happy at this point to answer any remaining questions that you have.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Stiers.  So I will open up for commissioner questions.  To start, Ms. Frank, do you have any questions?

MS. FRANK:  Yes.  I heard you talk about broad categories of IRPAs that you were considering as part of this approach, but they were pretty broad in their nature and I was wondering are you expecting, as part of this framework, that the OEB will either narrow those categories or specifically approve certain potential IRPAs as items that could be funded?  What direction are you looking for, more specifically?

MR. STIERS:  I think what we are seeking at this point -- and thank you for the question -- is first and foremost a framework be established that is not overly restrictive in terms of the nature of IRPAs that we are allowed to pursue.  It is still very early days in that regard, Commissioner, and we foresee that perhaps deeper insights into the nature of each of the IRPAs, their relevance to reducing design or peak demand in Ontario and resolving identified system constraints is more likely to be effectively achieved through the actual IRPA applications that we would bring forward to the Board for approval.

So while any guidance would be helpful from the Board regarding the IRPAs that we contemplated, we do think that overall it would be optimal if the company is given some flexibility in the framework to pursue and better understand these opportunities.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  So -- and just one more aspect of that.  So I am going particularly to the funding.  So if we are silent on if one of these areas may be potentially allowed in rate base or some other means of payment, we are just silent on that, that would in no way deter you from investigating it; is that what I just understood?

MR. STIERS:  So just to clarify, you are asking if -- if you were silent as to whether or not a specific technology or alternative should or shouldn't be, let's say, included for IRP purposes going forward, would that preclude or restrict the company in any way in terms of pursuing that alternative from a cost recovery standpoint?

MS. FRANK:  Yes, that's my question.

MR. STIERS:  I don't believe so, no.  We have proposed -- to the extent possible we have proposed that in general we be allowed to treat the costs of IRPA investments in the same manner as facility investments, and have set out some general guidance for how that might be done in some of our interrogatory responses most recently, such as Staff 22.  So I think we would -- we would appreciate some acknowledgement of that general approach being appropriate and would expect, again, that at such time we bring forward an IRPA application together with the Board and parties we would clarify the exact appropriate treatment for that IRP plan or investment in specific IRPAs.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  Excuse me, Adam.  May I add one point?

MR. STIERS:  Please.

MS. VAN DER PAELT:  So there is one area where some clarity would be helpful from the Panel.  Some of the IRPAs are potentially electrification solutions, and as we are not a dual fuel buying utility and we are only gas, especially on the energy conservation side, electrification generally has generally been out of scope, so clarity on whether electrification solutions, not the specific solutions, but electrification itself, would be helpful.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Understood.  Those are my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan, do you have questions?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes, thank you.  I am dealing with a situation where a demand has been identified, and in your proposed framework you would go through a screening process and an assessment as to what the potential is for IRPAs.  And Enbridge concludes that they are not -- it is not possible to implement an IRPA and proposes a facilities-based leave to construct.  At the time that the Board reviews the leave to construct, they conclude that they don't agree with the assessment that's been made by Enbridge with respect to the assessments of IRPA.

At that juncture, is that likely -- is it likely that any other -- any other course of action except for the approval of the leave to construct can meet the demand, given, you know, the timeline required?

MR. STIERS:  I can offer an initial thought here, and my colleagues may wish to supplement it, Commissioner, but thank you for the question.

I think that what we are seeking to do here is through the process set out in the slide that Ms. McCowan took you through, identified those system constraints and related projects very early, up to ten years in advance, and to receive input from all stakeholders on our decisions with regard to pursuit of IRPAs or not, and then obviously the opposite is pursuit of facilities in their stead.

And so what we are hoping for is that any reasonable or possible IRPA opportunities would be communicated or discovered through the process that Ms. McCowan took you through, up to multiple years in advance.  And by doing that, we are hopeful that we don't find ourselves in a situation where the company is left in a -- where the company is forced to apply for leave-to-construct facilities with very little time left and having still certain IRPA opportunities not pursued adequately.

We are, said another way, hopeful that all stakeholders will actively participate and do so early so that we are successful in identifying IRPA investment opportunities very early on and avoiding the situation that you have just described.

MR. JANIGAN:  So the principal safeguard would be stakeholder consultation, as you see it?

MR. STIERS:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thanks.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Can you bring us back to the second-last slide, please.  So I guess -- no, I don't guess.  My question is around the asset treatment, and you're asking for rate base treatment, and I am trying to understand, as Ms. Frank was going over, you know, the kinds of things that you're looking at here.  And would they all be something that would otherwise be considered an asset, or would some of those things be things that would normally be expensed but because of a direction from a regulator would be capitalized and become an asset under U.S. GAAP and then get rate-based treatment.

So I'm kind of -- it's kind of a little bit of what kind of things are they that Ms. Frank was asking, and a little bit of the accounting treatment as well.

MR. STIERS:  Sure.  So I think it's the latter of the two, Commissioner.  It is the -- it is a variety of different forms of assets, and in all cases what the company is seeking is -- so if there's administrative costs we would include those in O&M costs of our revenue requirement.  If it was project-specific costs, regardless of the nature of the project itself or the underlying asset, we'd like to capitalize those to rate base.  And any ongoing operating and maintenance costs we would also include in O&M costs of the company's revenue requirement.

In all cases, we propose that the costs of IRP investments are incremental in nature, and therefore we would like to establish an IRP deferral account so that we can record all of these different forms of costs affected when projects are in-service, we would seek to recover those costs in the same manner that we recover or clear balances in our annual earnings sharing and deferral and variance account clearance proceedings.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So a DSM-related cost that is not related to a specific asset.  I am just trying to understand, would that -- you are proposing that would be capitalized and amortized over a period of time; is that correct?

MR. STIERS:  That's correct, yes.  And the theme -- underlying theme of our evidence that we have put forward to reflect this fact is the concept of like treatment for like results.  We are hoping that this is justifiable on the basis that the investments in these IRPAs allows the company to otherwise defer, reduce, or avoid investments in traditional facility or pipeline assets.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  And the other one is on the binary screening.  I just want to understand which projects undergo the binary screening.

So you've said that, you know, you don't want to do the deep assessment of every single project.  So does any project that's related to some constraints go through the binary process?

MR. STIERS:  That's our intent at this time, yes.  We do expect that the principles and screening criteria, even evaluation process, may evolve over time.  We recognize that IRP as a concept in North America is still new, and certainly is new to Ontario entirely for natural gas.

But we do foresee and propose that we apply the binary screening criteria to all IRPAs that are being considered to resolve identified system constraints.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, apply to all IRPAs or applied to all projects related to a constraint, so basically -- is there anything that doesn't -- what doesn't go through the binary?  I guess that's maybe another way of framing it.

MR. STIERS:  I don't --


MS. McCOWAN:  Want me to take it?

MR. STIERS:  Yeah, please, Catherine.

MS. McCOWAN:  The way we've proposed it is that it would be those projects that are driven by risk and have a significant cost, and are also a fair distance into the future so that we would have time to establish the IRPAs, get approval and make sure that they're working.

But as Mr. Stiers spoke to earlier, that cut-off as to how big a project we would seek to do this on is really a case of, you know, the benefit versus the cost of doing it for, you know, projects that are, you know, say a million dollars would -- is the benefit of pursuing IRPA sufficient for the administrative cost of investigating and doing the stakeholdering, and implementing all that type of thing.

So I think that's one of the things that is yet to be fully established is where -- what is that cut-off of projects.  But it is definitely the ones that we see as being driven by growth and the need for reinforcement of a facility.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Ms. McCowan.  I guess the last question -- and I go back to the evolving nature.  So the goal here is to establish a framework that you'll use a framework -- the framework will have a number of components.

Are you saying that the framework will evolve, or that the approach to looking at IRPAs under the framework will evolve?  Or is it both?

MR. STIERS:  I believe it's intended to be both at this stage.  The recognition that we are trying to give is that -- I believe it was also stated succinctly by Ms. Van Der Paelt, the sense that we need to walk before we can run.  We would like to get started, but it is still very early days for IRPA investments in Ontario.

So the establishment of the framework will give us the clarity and guidance that we need to confidently move forward.  But we recognize that whether you're speaking of specific IRPA applications, IRPA technologies and alternatives in general, or even certain aspects of the IRP framework, there may be reason for aspects of those things to be reconsidered as time passes, as experience is gained, and as we learn from what's happening in other leading jurisdictions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Stiers.  So those were the Panel's questions.  Is there anything Enbridge would like to say before we close off with this team?

MR. STIERS:  Not from me.  Just thank you very much for your time.

MS. McCOWAN:  Yes, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, Mr. Stevens, was there anything from you before we move to the next presentation?

MR. STEVENS:  Nothing from me, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you.  Thank you very much for the presentation.  And with that, I go to my third screen to look at our schedule, and the next on the list. Mr. Millar, are you ready with Staff's presentation?
OEB STAFF

Michael Parkes


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, I believe we are, Madam Chair.  It will actually be Mr. Parkes who is giving the presentation, so you can hear from someone who knows what he is talking about instead of me.

I should also point out that we do have -- Guidehouse will not be participating in the presentation, but we do have some representatives from them available.  So to the extent the Panel has any questions that may engage their expertise, they are available.

But with that, I will hand it over to Mr. Parkes.
Presentation by Mr. Parkes:


MR. PARKES:  Thank you very much, Mike.  Good morning, Madam Chair and Commissioners.  So, yeah, I will be delivering some initial thoughts on OEB Staff's perspective on Enbridge's IRP proposal and the framework at this stage. I will just pull up my presentation and share that.

Is that coming through clear?  You guys can see that?  Right, great.

So just a caveat that anything I present here should not be taken as a final Staff position. I expect our views on the proposal and the framework will continue to evolve throughout the remainder of the proceeding, but we do have some initial thoughts we would like to share.

So I wanted to touch on three different areas within the presentation, some high-level views on implementation considerations and how we see the framework rolling out.  So specific issues within the framework which we think will be particularly important for the OEB to give consideration to throughout the hearing and in its decision.  And then just a quick overview of the work that we had Guidehouse conduct on our behalf to look at natural gas IRP in New York State and the possible implications for Ontario.

So I will start with implementation considerations and sort of procedural outcomes.  We believe, based on what we have seen so far in this proceeding, that it is a reasonable goal that the initial decision that comes out of this proceeding will be able to provide guidance to Enbridge Gas, and should be able to provide guidance to Enbridge Gas that it can begin implementing immediately in its system planning practices and in its facility decisions on investments and leave-to-construct applications.

As Enbridge noted, I think it's inevitable that we won't get everything right in the initial framework, and that some stuff will take more time.  But we do think it's a reasonable goal that the initial decision should provide basic guidance to Enbridge to improve their consideration of IRPAs.

In parallel, we also agree with Enbridge and some other parties that there is value to initiating some work on pilots of specific IRP technologies and approaches, and to understand their performance in an Ontario context.  We think that will provide valuable learnings in terms of technological, economic viability, and any specific considerations around the technologies and will likely -- make it more likely that Enbridge will then move forward to bring forward IRP applications to specifically defer or avoid infrastructure in the future based on the results of those pilots.

Just one last point.  We did want to note the specific linkage between this proceeding and the proceeding that will be initiated in the relatively near future on Enbridge's post-2020 DSM plan.

So within this IRP -- within its IRP proposal, Enbridge has put forward its view as to the relationship between the IRP framework and its DSM plans.  And based on the comments that I have shown here, this Panel has sort of been tasked with providing guidance on that issue, and so any determination that this Panel makes regarding the relationship between IRP and DSM will also be very helpful in the review of Enbridge's post-2020 DSM plan, which Enbridge has been asked to file by May 1st of this year.

So just moving on to just a quick comment on scoping of the IRP proposal and the IRP framework.  So one of the rationales for this presentation and one of the outcomes the Panel was hoping for was to hear whether parties have perspectives on IRP that differs significantly from Enbridge Gas.  So I would say that that is not the case for OEB Staff, with one exception, which I will get into later.  We do think that Enbridge's IRP proposal addresses the main policy areas that would need to be discussed and evaluated in an IRP framework.  So not -- I am not suggesting we support Enbridge's proposals in all those areas, but we do think they touch on essentially all of the relevant issues, and I would note that in New York State Con Edison filed a non-pipelines alternative proposal more recently, so just within the past few months, subsequent to Enbridge's proposal, and if you look through the content of that proposal, it is very similar in terms of the issues which they are hoping to have addressed in the New York State proceeding.

So I will move on now to some specific issues.  I am not going to cover every element of Enbridge's IRP proposal.  But based on what's gone on in the proceeding to date, these are some of the topics that we think will be particularly important for the OEB to address in its decision, and essentially the issues that, where there may be more of a divergence of views among the parties you will be able to make a determination on.

So we will go through each of the five topics discussed here, and I will add a few more comments on each.

So the first being the integration of the assessment of IRP alternatives within system planning.  So we have seen in multiple leave-to-construct applications in recent years where I think the OEB has found that it wasn't really able to give sort of proper or fulsome consideration to alternatives at the time a leave-to-construct application came forward due to the need to bring a solution into place with a very short lead time that precluded development of possible alternatives to the proposed facility project.

So I'd say this is one of, if not the most important issue where we think an IRP framework should be able to significantly improve matters on current practice in terms of providing updated visibility on system needs and the potential role of IRPs -- IRP alternatives to meet those system needs.

So this is an area we thought was relatively underdeveloped in Enbridge's initial IRP proposal in terms of linking the specifics of IRP evaluation and analysis back to Enbridge's core system planning practices, so beginning with their demand forecasting, their needs analysis, and how they addressed those issues through their Asset Management Plan.

Through subsequent procedural stages, including Enbridge's responses to interrogatories and the technical conference, I think we now have a much better understanding of just how Enbridge intends to integrate consideration of IRPAs into the early stages of system planning.  Adam described this a bit in Enbridge's proposal.

So Enbridge is proposing using its Asset Management Plan as sort of the primary tool to present information on system needs and the possible role of IRPAs meeting those needs, and the proposal is for advanced visibility of those system needs and the role of IRPAs up to ten years in advance.

So having looked at what Enbridge is proposing in this area, Staff do think it's a great improvement over current practice and will be very helpful.  We do think it will be quite a contested issue as to whether the OEB has a role in reviewing and approving decisions or actions that Enbridge takes at this early stage prior to bringing forward specific facility project or IRP alternatives for approval on a project-specific basis.

So some of the elements of Enbridge's proposal, including its binary screening criteria and its approach to stakeholder consultation, we do believe those will minimize disagreements over Enbridge's determination as to whether IRP is appropriate to meet system needs, but probably will not eliminate it entirely.

So I think the Board will need to determine whether it has any role in reviewing or approving Enbridge's determination at these earlier stages.

Moving on next to cost-benefit testing.  So this has been a major topic of discussion throughout the technical conference two weeks back.  So what we can clearly see is that the current cost-benefit tests that have been used in leave-to-construct applications based on the discounted cash-flow methodology and the cost-benefit -- the primary cost-benefit test that's used to evaluate demand-side management programs, which is the total resource cost plus test, those are quite dissimilar and can yield very different results, and IRP essentially brings the worlds of infrastructure and demand-side management together, and so the Board will need to determine which test or combination of tests should be used and which is given primacy.

So I think Staff's initial perspective is that there's value in doing multiple tests, looking at this from the perspective of the utility -- from the perspective of all Enbridge customer costs and benefits and potentially even from a broader societal perspective.  But some direction will need to be provided on what you do if those tests yield different results and what should be given primacy.

So the biggest difference between the leave-to-construct test and the TRC plus test in terms of its impact on the test results is that the discounted cash-flow test used in leave-to-construct proceedings, at least in its initial stage, wouldn't account for any impacts on commodity costs for Enbridge Gas customers, so savings, for example, that customers might experience through participating in demand-side management programs.

So the choice of the primary cost-effectiveness test will greatly affect, I think, both the general availability of many IRPA technologies and which specific types of IRPAs would likely be selected.

So I will focus specifically on geo-targeted demand-side management type programs, which was, I think, what the Board initially had in mind primarily when it was -- in some of its earlier decisions where it requested that Enbridge look at alternatives to infrastructure, including demand-side management.

So geo-targeted DSM programs will perform much better under a TRC plus test than they would under a discounted cash-flow test.  Essentially, under a discounted cash-flow test, the cost of the conservation program or -- the cost of the conservation program would need to be less solely than the infrastructure benefits that that conservation program could deliver, and there'd be no -- no accounting for the value of any additional savings that accumulated to customers due to a reduction in gas costs.

So if the Board chooses a DCF plus type test, that would minimize the role of geo-targeted DSM as a potential IRP solution, and you would likely be left more with, I guess, pure play infrastructure alternatives such as gas demand response programs, so that's one consideration that we wanted the Board to be aware of.

If the Board determines that it does want to adopt a resource cost type of test, we would flag that this can introduce concerns with bill impact or cross-subsidization, given that not all -- all Enbridge customers would necessarily benefit from selected programs that might be implemented if that was chosen as the primary test.  This is not a new issue.  The Board deals with this in the context of demand-side management, but I just did want to bring it to your attention as one consideration.

Moving on to risk and reward.  So Enbridge has proposed generally a quite conservative treatment of how its cost recovery and financial risks and rewards would be treated, similar to what is done with current facility projects.  So the main new proposal that Enbridge has put forward, which Adam discussed in his presentation, is the concept of capitalizing IRPA project-related costs so that Enbridge is sort of indifferent to whether those costs are capital or operational in nature, because it will be able to earn rate of return on either.

So to the degree that we expect IRP-type solutions may have a higher level of operational costs than traditional facility projects, this does remove a potential barrier to consideration of IRPAs.  And so for that reason, I think Staff generally are supportive of that concept in principle.

We do want to flag, though, that that the proposal in itself does not necessarily incent Enbridge to choose the best or lowest-cost solution to our system needs.  So, for example, we could look at introducing financial incentives or penalties that would be -- that could be used to reward or penalize Enbridge for making sure it does all it can to find the best solution to a system need.  And so that is not an element that's in Enbridge's current proposal.

Just a few quick comments on specific types of IRPAs and how the information in there might be presented.  As Enbridge indicated, they're requesting specific direction from the OEB as to eligibility of IRPAs that involve electricity.

Staff hasn't taken a position on this yet.  We do note that it does introduce unique considerations different from most other types of IRPAs related to the role of Enbridge Gas, whether it's appropriate for them to rate base electricity assets.

It will also have implications for cost-benefit testing, as you then need to assess potential impacts on the electricity system.

So once the OEB provides any direction to Enbridge regarding which IRPAs it has the latitude to consider, Enbridge is proposing that it would develop a menu of IRPAs that it would draw from as needed to address project-specific needs.

Enbridge's proposal is a bit vague as to exactly what this menu might involve and what might be included, and there's been a lot of discussion within the technical conference as to whether Enbridge will give consideration to specific types of technologies and what assumptions would be used regarding those technologies.

So Staff believe there's likely value in Enbridge developing a public document, what I would call like a living handbook, which would provide its best available current information on types of IRPAs, their cost and savings assumptions, and any other considerations for Enbridge's system that could be used as sort of a starting point in assessing comparison of alternatives in project-specific applications.

And the last issue I wanted to address is one which is not really covered in Enbridge's initial proposal, and one which Staff are of two minds as to whether the final IRP framework should attempt to address.  So that is the issue of demand forecast risk and essentially how far natural gas demand forecasts may vary in reality -- or actual natural gas demand how that may vary in reality from what you had forecast at the time investment decisions were made.

So that could be due to climate change policy, or multiple other factors, and how should Enbridge's planning address the risks associated with that possible deviation.

So there are arguments, I think, both for and against addressing this topic within the IRP framework.  On the con side, I think it's fair to argue that forecasting methodology, risk of changes in policy market conditions, and treatment of stranded assets are all broad system planning issues that are not new with IRP and, you know, predated any consideration of IRP alternatives and were probably not at the top of the OEB's mind when it initially directed Enbridge to look at alternatives to infrastructure.

But on the pro side, there's an argument to be made that IRPAs can offer some unique value in comparison to facility projects in dealing with risk associated with deviations from natural gas demand forecast, in terms of perhaps being more modular than facility projects and at least with some IRPAs, lower carbon in nature and thus more resilient to future climate change policy implications.

So Enbridge's proposal, as I noted, doesn't really address this topic.  But it will be discussed, I know, by Green Energy coalition later.  And I did want to flag a that in the New York State proceeding, they have indicated, at least at a high level, that this topic would be dealt with in some fashion, as you can see from the quote there.

So I will turn now to just a couple comments on the analysis that Guidehouse performed for OEB Staff regarding IRP in New York State.  As Mike Millar mentioned, we also have Jim Young and Paul Moran from Guidehouse on the line, who can jump if needed, if the Panel have specific questions regarding Guidehouse work.

So we asked Guidehouse to do this project given that New York State is the leading jurisdiction, perhaps the only jurisdiction that has made major strides in terms of natural gas IRP in consideration of alternatives to infrastructure.  So we asked Guidehouse to analyze what had been done in New York State and assess its relevance to natural gas IRP in Ontario.

So just one comment there.  In New York, we found that implementation of IRP-type programs generally preceded the establishment of a formal policy framework.  So due to upstream constraints on bringing supply into distribution service territories in New York, major New York utilities began implementing IRP-type solutions in the absence of a specific framework, and the framework is kind of now being built up around those initial programs and proposals.

That is a moving target in that there have been major developments just in the past months throughout this proceeding.  So it's not realistic, I think, for this proceeding to wait until there's a fully fleshed-out New York framework.  We kind of need to proceed in parallel and just take account of learnings that are coming in from New York at the same time.

So we do believe that most information that comes out of the New York State proceedings will likely be relevant and valuable to Ontario.  The jurisdictional differences will affect the specific viability of IRPAs and the choice of solutions, but we do think that the policy elements will generally be quite similar.

I flagged here just a few specific areas that Guidehouse specified in its report where New York has gone farther than Ontario that will likely be of value to IRP development in Ontario, one being the implementation of specific IRP-type programs and technologies.  So I specifically flagged gas demand response programs, where there are pilots now underway in New York that should provide some useful learnings for Ontario if we are to develop similar solutions there.

New York has gone further in doing some work on a handbook of cost benefit analysis and considerations that might be specifically relevant to different IRP-type technologies.  And Con Edison in New York has proposed an incentive mechanism regarding its treatment for consideration of non-pipe alternatives or IRP solutions that addresses both an incentive for the overall performance of an IRP in comparison with a facility project, and also addresses cost containment concerns and the implementation of the IRP, so there are possibly some useful learnings from that incentive mechanism that might be relevant to Ontario.

I didn't intend to get into specific recommendations that Guidehouse developed as part of its report.  I plan to do that at the hearing, but Guidehouse is available if the Panel would like to discuss that.

I think that's all I wanted to say on that issue.  I am happy to take any questions that the Panel has, then, on the presentation.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Parkes.  So I will start again with Ms. Frank, whether you have any questions of this presentation?

MS. FRANK:  Maybe if I can start, I have a couple questions that actually relate primarily to Guidehouse's work.  The first one is I do understand that it's not a stagnant type area, there's progress being made and changes coming forward.  So my first question is how will we be informed about any changes that are happening during this proceeding, or do you feel that there's nothing that will likely occur or no new developments anticipated during the proceeding?

MR. PARKES:  Well, I wouldn't say that there are no new developments anticipated.  In particular we know that just last week there was a major staff paper that was released regarding modernized gas supply planning in New York.  So Staff's intent for that specific update would be to have Guidehouse discuss that a bit at -- when it's discussing its evidence at the oral hearing.

In regards to developments beyond that, that's a good question.  I don't have a specific approach in mind as to how the Panel would be advised of additional further developments.

MS. FRANK:  But you do believe that it will be something that should be monitored in some way.

MR. PARKES:  Yes, so Staff is definitely continuing to monitor the New York proceedings, yeah.

MS. FRANK:  The challenge is how do all parties to this --


MR. PARKES:  Yeah.

MS. FRANK:  -- proceeding be informed and have the opportunity to understand the options better.

MR. PARKES:  Yeah, so there may be -- there may be an approach where Staff could put relevant developments on the record to inform submissions from parties.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Well, that's something that maybe other parties as they do their presentations could comment on.

My other question actually comes to -- with Guidehouse, the process that they're proposing, at what point in time is the regulator stepping in to review or comment or in some way consider the alternative investments that are being examined?  So, at what stage does --


MR. PARKES:  I think I will turn that over to Guidehouse to answer, and I will note that there were some developments that came out of the paper released just last week on this topic which Guidehouse may or may not in be in a position to comment on, but I will turn it over to Paul or Jim if they want to talk to that.

MR. YOUNG:  Sure [audio dropout] with Guidehouse.  Can you hear me okay?

MR. PARKES:  Fine, thank you.

MR. YOUNG:  Okay.  Would you mind restating the question, because I don't believe that -- if you wouldn't mind restating the question?

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  That's fine.  I am wondering from your -- studying your work, have you identified at what steps the regulator would participate in the review of alternatives or give comments or advice or even render decisions and kind of when does the regulator step in?  I assume it's something before the final "go build" or "go do the alternative investment".  Is it something earlier?  That's what I am looking for.  Is there something earlier?

MR. YOUNG:  Yes.  So when we were looking at for New York State and for what the kind of -- what the framework that was to date for Con Edison and National Grid to pursue pilots to address urgent issues, in each of those situations there was a filing and a plan that was put forward to the Public Service Commission for approval before moving forward with those pilots.

The framework that Michael alluded to that's under discussion would follow a similar, kind of an open proceeding, where a plan is put forward on a more established schedule to identify needs and then look at alternatives and then come forward with a recommendation.

MS. FRANK:  And you're saying that the regulator would receive that information and comment in some way.  What way would they comment?

MR. YOUNG:  So ultimately they would decide to -- whether to approve or deny whether or not -- or comment upon the set of solutions that were proposed so that the utility would not be able to -- if they were to identify a need and identify solutions, they would not be able to move forward with those kind of additional spending, whether it be on a rate base or under another financial means, without in this case Board approval.

MS. FRANK:  That's relatively late in the process, Jim, so they have already done all their assessments, they have come up with a preferred alternative, and now they want approval to proceed with a preferred alternative, if I have understood you correctly; is that the step?

MR. YOUNG:  So I think -- I think with regard, as I mentioned, the initial experience in New York was an urgent issue to address and may not be indicative of what the planning will be moving forward.  But in the current framework that's being proactively developed for future needs, there would be an established timeline where the utility would be required to file a series of reports of, I believe it's 20-year demand forecast, 20-year supply forecasts, on a three-year basis to understand where infrastructure may be needed or how policies have changed to affect this.

If gaps are identified, then at that point would then put forward, here's a series of solutions, one of which needs to be a no infrastructure solution, that could address that, and then open that up for comment and discussion with the regulator and other stakeholders regarding, is that need real, are the solutions appropriate, and ultimately is there a solution that can address the need.

MS. FRANK:  And you say this is all happening at one point in time, or is this over several years in a, you know -- down the road after the urgent issues are dealt with, you see the engagement of the regulator being periodic in several stages through the process or just near the end?

MR. YOUNG:  So the -- no, no, so the -- what New York -- the utilities and the regulator are trying to establish is a more formalized process to go do this where -- to avoid the kind of the urgent needs that come up.  Obviously, things that are health -- public-safety issues related to immediate needs for the pipeline will be addressed through kind of more immediate steps, but this is really dealing with longer-term capacity constraints, and the framework is trying to establish what does that communication schedule look like.

And so the -- what's being discussed in the white paper that came out last Friday from the Power Public Service staff is looking to establish that timeline of on a three-year basis each utility in the state is required to prepare a supply, a 20-year supply forecast, 20-year demand forecast, identify needs, and put forward solutions such that it can be proactively discussed with the regulator and stakeholders.

MR. PARKES:  Jim, just to jump in there, I believe one of the actions that is proposed in that New York staff paper is that the regulator take no action, so the information is presented to the regulator, and then they have a choice of options, which could include simply accepting the report and, you know, not approving it or denying it in any way, just accepting it for information.

MR. YOUNG:  Umm-hmm.

MS. FRANK:  No, that's helpful.  That's really what I wondering what the regulator might do with the information, other than just receive it, of course.

MR. YOUNG:  Um-hmm.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Thank you.  I think one other question.  There was a comment, Mike.  You indicated that you originally had some concerns that the -- Enbridge's application was not complete, but after the updates they provided your confidence in what they were recommending had increased, and I am just wondering, are you left with anything that you believe really must get further developed before a framework could be established?

MR. PARKES:  Okay.  Yeah, so that -- that comment was specifically around kind of integrating IRP consideration into the early stages of Enbridge's system planning process.  So I do think the major issue there is basically what we just discussed in the interchange with Jim there, is what level of OEB review or approval is needed of Enbridge's determinations on IRP at a stage prior to coming forward with a project-specific application.

So Enbridge's current proposal does not -- doesn't provide an avenue where the Board would specifically review those determinations by Enbridge.  It could potentially be considered in rate cases where Enbridge's Asset Management Plan is included as evidence, but it wouldn't necessarily be the specific focus of an application.

So I think more clarity on what the Board believes is the appropriate at this stage is needed, otherwise you could end up back in the same spot where you reach a leave-to-construct application stage and it's still a contested issue among parties as to whether Enbridge made the right call as to screening out alternatives at an earlier stage.

MS. FRANK:  I understand that that's a question that really should be addressed in the framework that, you know it's helpful to get certainly for Enbridge and others to know what the expectation is of the OEB, and that should come in the framework.

But what I am concerned about is there sufficient information currently on the record, is there something else that we need to know about that, or some other aspect of the framework that you think is going to be a barrier to developing the framework?

MR. PARKES:  Not in developing the initial guidance.  I think more work will be needed in some areas, the benefit-cost stuff.  Guidehouse has recommended kind of working together to develop a specific Ontario handbook on that.  But I don't think it would prevent initial direction from the OEB as to the type of test that it sees appropriate that would -- that could then be refined in future work.

If the OEB determines that it wants to get into this issue of demand forecast risk and how this should be addressed, I am not -- I am not certain whether there's enough information on the record to deal with that in detail, at least in the first stage of the proceeding.  So as I have said, I think this is an open question whether the framework should deal with this topic at all.  But if the OEB does want to deal with some aspects of this, I think would be a -- I will call it a phase 2 part of the proceeding.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  That's helpful, thank you.  That's all my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Janigan, do you have any questions?

MR. JANIGAN:  This morning, Enbridge indicated that they believe that both the framework, IRP framework and IRPAs themselves would be an evolving picture.

Just dealing with the IRPA, the alternatives first, you mentioned that the compilation of a handbook would be useful in that regard.  Do you see that as a resource document, or effectively part and parcel of the framework itself?

MR. PARKES:  Thanks, Michael.  I left that a little vague in that I don't think Staff has come to a position as to whether there's an explicit role for the OEB in terms of, let's say, approving the assumptions that are in that document, or whether it is just an Enbridge document that is made public.

I can see some parallels in what's been done in the demand-side management framework, where there's been the existence of a technical resource manual that there's been -- the OEB has had a role over the years.  But I could also respect that this will -- because IRP is a relatively new subject and this will be evolving quickly, it could be cumbersome and not that efficient if the OEB was to get involved into deeply vetting and continually maintaining control of that document.

So that's an argument for it potentially remaining with Enbridge as long as the information in there is made public and available to other parties.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  That's all my -- those are all my questions.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Janigan.  So I -- my question is not specifically for Mr. Parkes.  I think he has addressed it in answering Ms. Frank's questions.

It's more just reiteration to everyone doing presentations today that, you know, what we didn't want to happen in this proceeding is to get to the point of submissions and have somebody proposing something within a framework, and realizing that there's insufficient evidence in which to do it.

So the question that Ms. Frank asked, you know, is there a gap in something that will let us establish this framework, it is something that we want everyone who is proposing something alternative to what Enbridge is proposing to share with us today.

So if you don't include that in your presentation, expect to be asked.  But I think we got the answer from -- not from Mr. Parkes, from OEB Staff.  So I don't need to go over that again.

So, unless there is anything else from OEB Staff -- Mr. Millar, all good?

MR. PARKES:  No.

MR. MILLAR:  All good.

MS. ANDERSON:  We are six minutes over, according to my clock, but I think we all do need a 15-minute break.  So that gets us back at about -- let's try and get back at 20 after, if that works, cut it a little bit short.  Does that work for everyone?  And I think, Ms. Walter, you move us into our meeting room.  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 11:07 a.m.
--- On resuming at 11:22 a.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  One thing I will say, we compared notes in our meeting room, and all of us had a brief sort of one-second pause in the sound and all thought it might have been our own headphones in the previous session.  All of us, of course, noted that the transcript was fine, so it didn't seem to have had any break, so we carried on, and that's what our intent, is to carry on if we think that the record is clear.

The other thing that could possibly happen, we had someone who had, like, one of those, you know, bad network connection things, and if that happens to one of the Panel members, we might have to go off camera briefly, and then we will come back on as long -- we have the ability to, you know, to discuss with each other.  As long as we still have sound and voice and the rest of us are there, we will continue on, because we have got the record, and we also know that we can hear and speak.

So anyway, just a few technical things that we compared notes on at the break.

So we are back with Green Energy Coalition and Environmental Defence, so Mr. Poch, it's -- I am trying to see -- is Kent Elson here as well?  Yes.  And Chris Neme.  And so I will turn it right over to you as to who you would like to do the presentation.

MR. POCH:  Perhaps I can just start by introducing us.  I am going to introduce Mr. Neme.  Mr. Elson and I might have a few brief comments afterwards, but we would like to save most of the time allocated to the two groups to Mr. Neme's presentation.

Chris Neme's founder of and principal at Energy Futures Group.  He is an economist.  He has worked for -- on energy policy matters for over 30 years, including work for energy regulators, utilities, government agencies, advocacy organizations, and he has worked in over 30 states, seven Canadian provinces, and several European countries as well.  From 1999 through 2010 he was director of planning and evaluation at Vermont Energy Investment Corp., which was chosen by the Vermont regulator on more than one occasion to run Efficiency Vermont, which is effectively their conservation utility.

He has defended expert witness testimony in nearly 60 cases before regulatory commissions in 13 different jurisdictions on numerous occasions before this Board, and he has served on several DSM committees in Ontario.  Of particular relevance to this case, Chris has authored or co-authored numerous reports and papers regarding clean energy policies and programs, including the first edition of the National Standard Practice Manual for assessing cost-effectiveness of energy efficiency resources and an update of that manual, addressing all distributed energy resources, and several reports on non-wires alternatives, and as I have mentioned, his report has been sponsored by both GEC and ED, so I will hand it off to Chris.
GREEN ENERGY COALITION / ENVIRONMENTAL DEFENCE

Chris Neme

Presentation by Mr. Neme:


MR. NEME:  Thank you, David.  And Madam Chair and Panel, I appreciate the opportunity to be here and speak with you.  Let me pull up my presentation.

Can you see it okay?

MS. ANDERSON:  Not quite yet.  Sometimes it takes a few seconds.

MR. NEME:  Okay.  Let me know when it's up.

MS. ANDERSON:  No, still not seeing it.

MR. NEME:  Let me try that again.  Okay.  Can you see it now?

MS. ANDERSON:  Something's happening.  Something's happening.  There we go.

MR. NEME:  Now I will move it to the full screen.  Still okay?  Terrific.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, please continue.

MR. NEME:  Thank you.  Again, thank you for the opportunity to speak with you today.  I want to make just two real quick introductory points.  I try to use throughout the presentation the terminology of IRPA or IRPAs that is consistent with the guidance of the Board in this proceeding.  I do occasionally slip into language more along the lines of non-pipe solutions or non-pipe alternatives.  I use those terms interchangeably.  But needless to say, if I go there and there's some questions, please let me know.

I also want to note that there are two small changes in this presentation that I made this morning relative to the one that got sent out yesterday.  I will try to flag those as I go through.  But just so you know, I can obviously make the corrected version available later today.

David gave you an introduction of who I am and my organization, so I am just going to start by talking a little bit about -- giving you a preview of the different topics that I am going to try to address in this presentation.  There are five of them.

The first is the planning process and timeline, the second is economic analysis or cost-effectiveness analysis, the third is the issue of uncertainty and risk, and then I talk a little bit about pilots and a little bit about shareholder incentives.  There are a whole range of topics that have been brought up in this proceeding, but I thought these were five that merit particular attention because of both their importance and the fact that there has been, you know, some disagreement among the parties thus far in the proceeding on these topics.

So I am going to start with the planning process and timeline.  And before I get into some of the specifics there, I think it's useful to set the table by flagging the fact that there are at least four potential key decision points that could affect consideration of IRPAs or non-pipe solutions.

The first is the identification of system needs.  I have recommended and Enbridge has itself agreed that a ten-year forecast into the future of those needs would be appropriate.  That's a good thing.  But there's a whole bunch of other underlying assumptions and analyses that go into identifying where there might be a need before you even get around to considering which type of response to the need would be appropriate.

The second key point is what I call pre-screening criteria of the applicability of an IRPA, what I think Enbridge called their binary screening process, where you have kind of qualitative criteria like, is this an emergent safety issue and therefore not relevant to -- for consideration of an IRPA.

The third kind of key decision point is where you've passed that pre-screening or that binary test and now there's an analysis done to determine what the optimal solution is, is it a non-pipe solution, a pipe solution, or some combination of the two.

I think Enbridge has suggested that there may be a 3(a) and a 3(b) here, where, you know, 3(a) might be the viability of an IRPA, can we get enough resource to even worth -- make it worth looking at the economics, and then 3(b), you might be looking at the economics.

And then lastly, once you have done that analysis or the company has done that analysis, there is the development of a plan for whether it's an IRPA plan or an infrastructure proposal for how you are going to roll out and acquire the resources needed to address the constraint.

So with that context, I'd like to suggest that I think it's important that the process for consideration of IRPAs or non-pipe solutions really have two components to it, and the first is a robust and what I suggest a formal stakeholder process that would address at some level all four of those decision steps.

And in particular I think this is important because the ability to kind of seek input from parties that might have different perspectives and even in many cases different types of expertise and experience will -- should result in a -- in a more robust look at alternatives and ideally would also minimize disputes and therefore regulatory costs.  I specifically suggest in my report that the Board consider adopting a formal committee structure similar to Vermont's system planning committee, which was set up more than a decade ago to kind of create a venue for consideration of non-wires alternatives in the state.

The -- this community in Ontario could be run by OEB Staff, akin to the way Staff currently run the Ontario gas DSM evaluation committee.  It would have appointed members to represent a range of stakeholders and expertise.  It would probably need to meet quarterly and perhaps have some subcommittees as needed.  But it would be transparent and open to the public, so anyone who wanted to attend could do so.

So that's the stakeholder piece of this, the stakeholder engagement piece of this. I also think it's really important to think about the regulatory process and, in particular, that there be timely adjudication of all key decisions during which an IRPA is ruled either in or out, viable or not viable.

Again, in particularly, that would go to the, you know, the second, third and fourth of the key decision points I raised earlier, the binary screening or pre-screening process, the viability/economic screening process and then the plan.

The plan itself would presumably get -- the fourth stage would presumably get put before the Board in a leave-to-construct application, or an infrastructure investment, or in an IRPA plan.  But I think it's really important that those two earlier steps, where IRPAs could be ruled in or out, are also approved by the Board in one way or another.  And probably the best way to do that would be to require approval of those decisions in the Asset Management Plan, which would be a departure -- as I understand it, I am not an expert in how the Asset Management Plan process works today -- but as I understand it, that would be a departure from the way things work today.

To the extent that there is the ability to reach consensus through the more robust stakeholder process, the Board's focus could be potentially much narrower than it might otherwise have been.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Neme, before you leave this slide, just back on the formal stakeholder process.  I did take just a glance of what I could see online on the Vermont system planning committee, and it looked to me like part of what that was about was coordinating amongst a number of different utilities, because I saw a utilities commission distributors, transmitters and that seemed to be, I guess, an important element of it that it doesn't seem as, you know, as likely to be needed in Ontario with Enbridge.

So I guess the question is kind of compare and contrast --


MR. NEME:  Sure.

MS. ANDERSON:  -- that whole kind of system planning element amongst utilities in Vermont versus Ontario.

MR. NEME:  Yeah, it's a great question.  I would say one of the functions of the committee is to enable that collaboration.  There are something like 20 different distribution utilities, electric utilities in Vermont and then a single state-wide transmission utility, and there obviously -- and by the way, the state-wide transmission utility is co-owned by all of those 20 distribution utilities.  So they already have some form of integrated planning just by nature of the fact that between distribution and transmission -- by nature of the fact of that ownership structure.  But I am sure that the process itself also aids that collaboration.  But that's not the only reason that the system planning committee is -- has been established.

There are a number of non-utility appointees to that committee as well.  And I will also say that my understanding is that there is an effort across all of the participants in that committee process to endeavour to achieve consensus in the consideration of non-wires alternatives at each of the different stages that I outlined on the previous slide; a pre-screening criteria, the more detailed analysis of the viability and economics of solutions, and then development of the plans.

To my knowledge, as a result of those robust discussions across a range of stakeholders, there has not been a contested case put before the Board.  What gets submitted to the Board, our public service Board, which I think has been renamed our public utility commission, you know, that's the end process.  But thus far, the committee has enabled resolution of concerns from a range of perspectives on that.

So I think that in a way, the fact that Enbridge is the entire distribution utility pretty much and the entire transmission utility would make this even a little bit easier to implement in Ontario than it is in Vermont, because you don't have as many kind of different utility voices that you need to manage.  Does that address your question?

MS. ANDERSON:  It does, thank you.

MR. NEME:  Great.  So I also want to say a few words about my understanding of the Enbridge proposal, which I think is problematic in a couple of ways.

The first is the company appears to be putting an awful lot of emphasis on its kind of annual one-day stakeholder meeting.  And I think it's not realistic to suggest that that one-day meeting can be the place where most questions about all decisions from steps 2, 3 and 4, or even steps 2 and 3, could -- you know, from all different types of stakeholders across the entire system could be reasonably addressed.

I believe it was in Staff 8, the response to Staff 8, Enbridge provided a table that showed for its 2021-2025 Asset Management Plan -- so this is only five years of forecast, not the ten years that they are now talking about doing -- there were about 20 different projects which they identified in that interrogatory response as either, you know, potential candidates for IRPAs or not.

If you had a ten-year forecast, you know, maybe it's 40 different projects.  It's just hard to imagine that you can get anywhere close to the level of detail and discussion about 40 different projects and the viability of IRPAs for them with multiple stakeholders in the room.  I have spent half days, sometimes even longer, just talking about the viability of an IRPA with one utility on one aspect of their system.  If you want more than just a superficial, you know, we will take a couple questions from you and then a couple questions from somebody else, that's just -- a one-day stakeholder meeting is just not going to do it.

They do -- the company has suggested that its conclusions on whether IRPAs are ruled out through their binary screening process and/or deemed viable in the kind of subsequent stage would be documented in an Asset Management Plan, which is a good thing, but it doesn't appear as if they are supporting the idea or the potential for an interrogatory process to get more details on those things, and they aren't proposing that there be any kind of formal Board approval of any of those decisions.

As a result, you won't be asked as a Board to adjudicate a proposal and implicitly, then, potentially the ruling out of an IRPA solution, until a leave-to-construct application has been submitted.  And, you know, in my humble opinion, and I think past experience suggests that that's just too late to give the Board real choices.

Now I am going to shift over to the issue of economic analysis.  I recommend that the Board begin by adopting the TRC, the total resource cost plus test, as its initial primary cost-effectiveness test.  This is a test that provide a comprehensive view of cost-effectiveness.  It is consistent with the OEB's DSM framework.  I would suggest that it is also North American best practice for consideration of non-pipe alternatives and non-wires alternatives.  It is consistent, for example, with the guidance of the national standards practice manual for cost-effectiveness analysis of distributed energy resources that Mr. Poch referenced earlier, and which I consider to be the pre-eminent reference on cost-effectiveness assessment for these types of concerns.

The TRC test -- or the societal test, which is a little bit more encompassing -- is the test currently used in New York, Vermont, Rhode Island, Massachusetts, California, and Oregon for assessment of either non-wires and/or non-pipe solutions.

I know there are two states, Michigan and Maine, that use the utility cost test, which is a little bit less encompassing than the TRC, but has many of the same elements.

And then I just would observe that I am not aware of any jurisdiction that uses anything like Enbridge's proposed discounted cash flow plus test for assessing non-wires or non-pipe solutions.

It may also be reasonable for the Board to consider requiring secondary analyses, secondary cost-effectiveness assessments from different perspectives to add perspective.  The utility cost test is one option.  Some assessment of rate impacts could be another, and there's a whole appendix in the national standard practice manual for how that might be done.

There are several jurisdictions that have done this; New York, Vermont and California are good examples.

MS. ANDERSON:  Sorry, Mr. Neme, before we go on, can you just give us a little bit more about the NSPM?

MR. NEME:  Sure.  The National Standard Practice Manual, the original one, which was just focussed on energy efficiency resources, was published in 2017.  It was published in response to concerns from all over the U.S. and Canada about challenges in thinking about cost-effectiveness of DSM, and so it laid out a core set of economic principles for how one should conduct cost-effectiveness assessment, and then went into a variety of details regarding the specifics of how that would get applied to DSM.

Three years later, last summer, we published an updated manual that addressed all distributed energy resources, that includes renewable energy, demand response, energy efficiency, strategic electrification, storage, and so on.

Looking at them both individually and in 
combination -- there's a chapter on non-wires solutions in particular -- again it starts with a set of core principles, it lays out -- and I am going to talk about a few of those later on -- and it lays out a process that any jurisdiction can follow to determine which cost-effectiveness test makes the most sense for its jurisdiction, given its policy goals.

Both manuals have been referenced on numerous occasions in regulatory proceedings across dozens of jurisdictions in North America.  I myself have made presentations on it in numerous U.S. and Canadian forums.  Does that help?

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Yes, it does, thanks.

MS. FRANK:  Could I just ask, who's developed that manual?  And you said it's been reviewed in many places, but has it been approved as a basis for any of the jurisdictions?

MR. NEME:  Well, to be clear, the manual does not prescribe a test that a jurisdiction -- that all jurisdictions should use.  What it lays out is a set of guiding principles that all cost-effectiveness tests should follow and that all jurisdictions should follow in determining which test makes the most sense for that jurisdiction.  In that context a number of jurisdictions have taken the guidance in the manual and used it to review their existing cost-effectiveness test and make revisions to it and/or to adopt totally new tests that were more aligned with the recommendations of the NSPM.  Rhode Island is one that kind of went whole hog, for example.  New Hampshire is another one, where they took the principles of the test, started at ground zero, and said, okay, if we were to follow these kind of from beginning to end, where would we end up in terms of the test that made the sense for our jurisdiction.  Does that help?

MS. FRANK:  And the other part of the question, who actually developed it?

MR. NEME:  Who developed it?

MS. FRANK:  Yeah.

MR. NEME:  Sure.  So the test -- the most recent manual was developed by a set of co-authors.  I was one of them.  There were a couple of individuals from ICF, Enbridge's consulting firm in this proceeding, that were also co-authors.  And there were probably half a dozen others from other organizations.  The manual was funded in part by the U.S. Department of Energy, as well as a non-profit organization called E4TheFuture, and we had a review committee of 45 or 50 different people from all kind of walks of life, regulators, utilities, advocacy organizations, consultants, et cetera, that were involved in peer review of different versions of the -- or different drafts of the manual, although, you know, we were very clear to articulate at the beginning that it's impossible to write something that 50 different people will agree to every word on, so we took their input where we could, and it's just the authors of the manual that own the words.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  That's helpful, thank you.

MR. NEME:  Sure.  So a couple of words on the total resource cost test and how it works.  The TRC test in a nutshell represents the combined perspective of the gas utility system and IRPA program participants.  So if you were to think about those two groups, which are kind of overlapping, it's all of the cost and all of the benefits that are relevant to either of those kind of two entities.

Ontario's been using it for DSM for at least since the early '90s.  Well, I shouldn't say "at least".  From the early '90s.  And basically, when you are using -- when you would use the TRC to analyze an IRPA, what you would do is to sum up the net present value of all of the benefits of the IRPA from the perspective of the utility system and program participants, including the avoided cost of the alternative infrastructure solution, you would then sum up all of the costs that are borne by the utility in the program participants, and if the benefits are greater than the cost the IRPA is determined to be more cost-effective or lower cost than the pipeline solution.

It's basically the same application as is -- or its application is the same for IRPAs as it is for DSM with one exception, which is that when we apply the TRC test to assess the cost-effectiveness of the DSM program, we include an average system-wide avoided TND cost when we are using it to assess the cost-effectiveness of an IRPA that is designed to defer a specific infrastructure investment, we use the specific cost of that infrastructure investment instead of a more kind of average system-wide generic value.

I also recommend in my report -- and this is consistent with the Guidehouse recommendation that Mr. Parkes alluded to earlier -- that the Board initiate a process to kind of re-examine which test makes the most sense with -- for its -- for your jurisdiction, for your province, given the policy goals that you are trying to address.  And again, the process consistent with the way the NSPM principles are structured, ideally.

I suggest that this should be done after the IRP framework is put in place, but we start initially with the TRC plus test, but then this is one of those things, I forget who said this earlier this morning, the framework should be considered a living document.  Kind of any revisions to the test that the Board might develop through this kind of re-examination of its cost-effectiveness principles could be used to update the framework in the future.

Now, this graph is designed to kind of illustrate a little bit how the -- how different cost-effectiveness tests differ from each other.  The TRC test is that second column.  You can see the utility cost test is a little bit, as I said earlier, a little bit less encompassing than the TRC test.  It includes only utility system impacts.  And again, one of the fundamental principles -- the NSPM lays out eight fundamental principles to cost-effectiveness analysis.

The very first one is that all utility system impacts must be included, and that's -- on the benefits side that's the first five avoided infrastructure costs, avoided commodity costs, avoided O&M costs, avoided carbon taxes, and any other gas utility system impacts, and then the costs side, that would include all utility IRPA costs, any increase in gas commodity or fuel costs, any increased O&M costs, or any increased carbon taxes.  Those are the utility system impacts, and they should be included in every test.  And that -- and the UCT, utility cost test, that's all that's included.

The TRC test starts there, and then it adds benefit to IRP program participants and costs incurred by IRP program participants.  So if you think of a DSM program that offers a $50 rebate for a customer to invest in an efficiency measure that costs $150, if you were looking only at the utility cost test you would include only the $50 rebate that the utility provided.  If you were using the TRC test or the societal test, you would use the full 150, the $50 rebate plus the $100 contribution the customer itself had to make to the full cost of the measure, so it's a little bit more encompassing in its view of benefits and cost.

And then societal test would include potential additional societal impacts like economic jobs and economic development impacts, public health impacts, other environmental impacts, and so on.

And again, the core principle -- the first core principle of the NSPM is that all gas system impacts must be included.  The second core principle of the NSPM is that the decision on what other impacts on top of utility system impacts should be included is a policy choice and it ought to be a function of the policy goals of the jurisdiction, and that's why in that last column where I say -- you know, suggest, you know, what would the possible future Ontario test look like, there's question marks on those last three rows in the benefits and costs, because that's precisely what that review process would be designed to determine, which additional -- what do our policy goals tell us about the additional impacts beyond all utility system impacts should be included.

The last point about this chart, you will see in the third point in red there that there is -- the impacts on revenue, whether positive or negative, they are shown here as costs, are not relevant to cost-effectiveness.  They are -- they are neither costs nor benefits.  They are simply a way to recover, a way in which costs that have already been incurred or will be incurred are being recovered.

As I noted in one of the earlier slides, there are -- the TRC test, like all other tests, should include all utility system impacts.  But the historic application of the TRC plus test in Ontario has excluded some system utility impacts.  I list three here in particular, the potential, for example for demand side management programs to lower the market clearing price of natural gas, even if it does it only a very small amount; that very small amount gets multiplied by every cubic metre of gas consumed in the province, which can add up to a non-trivial number.

And then the two others are option value and hedge value, which I will talk about more later.

All of these impacts should be accounted for because if we aren't accounting for them, we are essentially assuming that they are zero, which is incorrect. And I will just observe that leading jurisdictions are already accounting for these, or are currently examining how to account for them. And we can estimate values for them, or the Board can estimate values for them, or have consultants estimate values for them specific to Ontario, although perhaps in some cases there could be some benefit from considering values used in other jurisdictions that are a little bit more simplistically applied.

Let me turn to Enbridge's proposed discounted cash flow test.  I'll observe as an aside that this table comes from the company's response to Staff 20.  I know that yesterday they sent a revised, kind of updated version of this table in response to an undertaking from the technical conference.  But I will talk about the key difference there as I talk through this slide.

The company's DCF plus test has three stages to it.  The first stage is principally about comparing incremental revenues to the cost of an infrastructure project, or presumably alternatively to the cost of an IRPA.  You'll note that the circles there around avoided infrastructure costs and avoided commodity fuel costs --and this is the clarification the company made in its undertaking == it shows up there both in stage 1 and in stage 2.

The clarification the company has provided is to say that the avoided commodity cost in stage 1, you know, the avoided gas fuel costs are only the avoided gas fuel costs realized by the utility itself in its operations.  Any avoided gas fuel costs that are realized by consumers show up only in stage 2.

And Mr. Parkes noted earlier that that approach would obviously disadvantage demand-side management programs for which a significant portion of the benefits are the fact that customers don't have to spend as much on energy.  I would argue that it's even worse than that, because incremental revenues are treated as a benefit, or alternatively reduced revenues are treated as a cost, DSM is not -- not only would DSM programs benefits not be fully included in stage 1, they would actually be penalized for reducing consumption in stage 1.

I will talk a little bit more about this shortly, but the bottom line is stage 1, if anything, is really -- because it's principally about comparing revenues to the costs of a project, is more than anything kind of a look at rate impacts and not even a very good one at that, for reasons I can get into later if you would like.

Stage 2 in this test is -- the company suggests it's a look at the economics from the customer's perspective, but it doesn't comprehensively include all the impacts on the customer.  For example, it doesn't include any of the IRPA or infrastructure costs in the costs column.

And then stage 3 is an incremental look at just what the societal impacts are.

Now, I believe I have stated this in my report, that Enbridge's proposed DCF plus test is fundamentally flawed for several reasons.  Perhaps the most important is that it actually doesn't answer the core question of what is least cost.  No single stage provide a holistic view of cost-effectiveness and the mathematical sum of the three stages has no meaning from an economics perspective.  And the reason for that is that it mixes apples and oranges, it mixes cost-effectiveness factors with rate impact factors.

I will also observe that the company's claim that this test provides essentially the same information as ConEd's test in New York is incorrect.  If you were to sum up all of the numbers throughout the three stages that they provide, you don't get the societal cost test, or the TRC, or really anything close.

Secondly, the test is inconsistent with the TRC test that Ontario currently uses for assessing the cost-effectiveness of energy efficiency programs, and it is economically irrational to use different tests for different purposes.  In essence, you are -- you can take the exact same efficiency measure, insulating an attic, and say, well, when we look at that in the context of an efficiency program, it's worth $3,000.  But when we look at it in the context of trying to defer a distribution system upgrade, it's worth only $500 or some other number.  That just doesn't make sense.

Thirdly, the DCF plus test framework, as I understand it, was built on EBO 134 and, as I understand it, EBO 134 was principally designed to ensure that when you're looking at gas system expansions, for example into the new communities, that existing customers don't subsidize new customers.  But that has very little to do with comparing the relative economics of pipe and non-pipe solutions.

And finally, as I noted before, nobody else does this.  No other jurisdiction that's looking at non-pipe or non-wire solutions seriously, to my knowledge, is using anything close to this kind of test.

Another point about rate impacts and cost-effectiveness and how they're different.  Again, I just wanted to point out that this is one of the core principles of the NSPM that "cost-effectiveness analyses answer fundamentally different questions than rate impact analyses.  Cost-effectiveness analyses should therefore be conducted separately from rate impact analyses".  That's not suggesting that it's not appropriate or reasonable to look at rate impacts, you just need to analyze them separately.

What Enbridge has essentially done is conflated these two things into a single test.

Again, it's reasonable to consider equity questions -- and Mr. Parkes raised this point earlier -- but it's also important to consider them in context.  I think it's problematic to narrowly focus on equity concerns when you're just examining one particular project rather than looking at all utility investments and looking at them over time.

To kind of use a simplistic example, think about kind of a hypothetical scenario where you have ten customers and you have ten different DSM programs, and each customer participates in one of those different DSM programs.  If you were to look at the equity of program number 1, you have ten customers and only one of them is participating in it; that's not very equitable.  And then you look at program number 2 and it's like, well, we have got ten programs and only one customer is participating in program number 2; that's not very equitable either.

And if you look at those things all individually, you can come to the conclusion that none of these programs are equitable.  But in reality, when you look at them as an aggregate, they are because all customers are participating in one or the other in that kind of hypothetical scenario.

In very much the same way, when you think about equity, you need to think about it broadly across all of the different -- not just all the different IRPAs or infrastructure investments the company is making, but across all the other investments it makes, including its DSM programs.

I think it's also important to recognize that utility investments on the supply side routinely have inequities.  Think about the need for an infrastructure investment in the first place.  Those needs are typically driven by only a subset of the customers that are downstream of that supply constraint.  And yet, when we pay for that infrastructure investment, all customers downstream even if they had declining peak loads are paying for that infrastructure investment.  Indeed, customers who are not even downstream of that infrastructure investment are paying for it.

So these -- it's just really important to think about the question of rate impacts and equity in this broader context.

Now, if you're going to consider trade-offs between lower costs and equity concerns, which is a perfectly reasonable thing to consider, it's important to look at it that way, to do the analyses separately, to look at how many customers benefit over time, how many customers do not benefit over time, you know, a long enough period of time to kind of get a sense of how that's going to play out, and then to determine, well, how much higher cost am I willing to accept for improved equity.

And lastly, I think it's also important to recognize there are a range of ways, of options that regulators and utilities can employ to address concerns about equity.  You could make your DSM programs more holistic, you can promote broader participation in them, you can even do things with rate designs that can help improve concerns about equity.

Now, I am going to transition to talking a little bit about risk.  I have several recommendations around risk.  One of them is to require sensitivity analyses of climate policy scenarios.  The second is to require analysis of other economic risks and, where there are risk-mitigating benefits of IRPAs, to include them in the cost-effectiveness assessments.  The third is to support reasonable planning conservatisms to address reliability risk, and lastly to consider amortizing investments over no more than 20 years in order to reduce the risk of stranded assets.

Let me say a brief word or a couple brief words about why sensitivity analyses of climate policy risk are important.  I think there's scientific consensus that, you know, the globe needs to largely decarbonize the energy sector by 2050, and Canada itself is committed to net zero emissions of greenhouse gases between now and then.  That includes, therefore, decarbonizing the natural gas sector, and there are several options that different parties over the years have put forward for decarbonizing the gas industry.

I think the one that most studies suggest is the most viable and cost-effective is electrification.  Heat pumps are now very viable in cold climates, and their performances are getting better over time.  But there are potentially other options as well:  renewable natural gas, hydrogen, and carbon sequestration are among some of the more commonly articulated ones.

But there are a lot of concerns about the cost of some of those options and their availability and, in some cases, even about their viability.

But putting -- putting those potential concerns aside, I think the bottom line is that regardless of what the ultimate solution is to decarbonizing the gas sector, the impacts on the gas industry are likely to be quite large.  Just the carbon tax increase to $170 a tonne by 2030 that the federal government has announced would more than triple current gas commodity costs, or roughly triple, and other policies that could be adopted in the future could have even bigger impacts.

And the bottom line from all of this is that it's no longer credible to assume that there is no risk, no economic risk, associated with pipe investments, infrastructure investments.  There is a very real possibility that they will be underutilized or become stranded over the next 50 years.

I think it's -- let me finish this slide by saying that it's not a question about making uncertain assumptions about policy.  I think it -- again, it's really important to recognize that when we say we don't want to make an assumption and therefore we are assuming zero, we are still making an assumption.  And in fact, Enbridge itself is making an assumption that the cost of carbon is going to be $50 a tonne post-2022.

So if we are going to do sensitivity analysis, how would that work?  And I think this in some respects gets to the point Mr. Parkes raised earlier about, you know, demand forecast and how far does the Board want to weigh into the issue of guidance of demand forecast.

I want to be clear, I am not suggesting that the Board get into kind of infinite detail in its guidance on IRP -- gas IRP demand forecasts.  Mr. Parkes is probably right.  Kind of a detailed kind of deep dive into that topic might be best left for kind of a second iteration of a gas IRP framework.

But I think a much simpler step of requiring sensitivity analyses is eminently reasonable and doable.  It simply means calculating a benefit-cost ratio or calculation of net benefits not just for kind of a business-as-usual case as if nothing new is going to come down the pike on carbon or climate policy, but to then model a couple of different scenarios about what would happen if we did have climate policy that either resulted in significant increase in gas costs because of an increased use of renewable gas, for example, or significant electrification and the impacts that could have on future demand.

These are not onerous calculations.  In many cases it would be using a lot of the same inputs you would use for the rebasing cost-effectiveness calculation by making a couple of adjustments.

Broadly speaking, there are two kind of flavours of risk.  One is reliability risk, you know, is there a risk that we're under-forecasting peak demand growth or that the IRPA that we deploy won't be able to generate enough load reduction and there will be a constraint that causes reliability problems.  Those are very real and important to consider.

But there are also economic risks.  I am going to talk about several of those shortly, but I -- the point of this slide is to make sure that the focus is not just on reliability risk, that we need to look at both flavours of this risk when we are assessing the reasonableness of IRPAs.

There are several different options for addressing the reliability risk.  You know, one of them is to start the IRPA investment a little bit earlier so that if it's not working, as the company said, you've got, you know three to five years left to still deploy an infrastructure investment.  There are others as well that the company has addressed and I think are generally reasonable, so I won't address them further.

What I do want to talk a little bit more about is the fact that IRPA -- many IRPA options can reduce economic risk.  Mr. Parkes alluded to earlier the fact that IRPAs, so for example demand side management programs, are more modular in nature.  And because of that modularity they -- as you start to deploy them, they can buy time to calibrate your needs forecasts.

So, you know, think about a five-year DSM program.  One or two or three years into it we could be making progress and reducing peak demands, but determine -- and re-examining the need that the IRPA was deployed to address in the first place at the end of each of those years and stopping the IRPA investment if we need to or if it's no longer needed because our forecast has changed.

I have included here a quote from ConEd from 2010, which was almost ten years after they started doing non-wires solutions.  I think they had done them on a couple dozen electric substations up to that point.  And what they said regarding their experience was that:

"Using DSM to defer projects bought time for demand uncertainty to resolve, leading to better capital decision-making.  Moreover, widespread policy and cultural shifts favouring energy efficiency may further defer some projects to the point where they are never needed.  In fact, ConEd has projected that in the absence of this program it would have installed up to 85 million in capacity extensions that may never be needed."

That's the value of some of this, the modular nature -- the more modular nature of some IRPAs.  And accounting for that is what I call option value, which I addressed earlier.

Secondly, demand side management programs can insulate customers from future gas price uncertainty, whether that's because of the potential for the need for increased use of renewable gas or for any other reason.  It's like buying a -- when I insulate my attic, it's like buying a fixed-price contract for the next 20 years, the savings I get out of it, and there's value to that.  Customers value that certainty.  And there are some -- this is what I call hedge value.  There are several jurisdictions that are now accounting for that benefit in their cost-effectiveness assessments.

Again, IRPAs can reduce the risk of stranded assets, because typically their lives of those investments are more in the range of 15 to 20 years, rather than the 50 years for new pipe, and then they can also reduce future greenhouse gas compliance costs.

I am going to close the discussion of risk by kind of walking through just a very hypothetical for illustrative purposes only example of the idea of doing sensitivity assessment.

So what you see in this graph is three hypothetical lines of where demand growth relative to a particular potential constraint might look like.  The orange line is a business as usual case, the blue line kind of hypothetically assumes that a climate policy is going to drive the need for increasing amounts of renewable gas on the system with a higher cost, and as that higher cost kicks in it will start to have impacts on demand.  And the green one is a hypothetical scenario in which a greenhouse gas policy or climate policy drives significant fuel-switching through electrification, and you can see that also dampens demand hypothetically here and then ultimately sends it negative.

This is the same three scenarios if you were to implement an IRPA -- and these are again all in my report, if you wanted to get more details on them.

You can see in the case of the business as usual case, the deployment of this IRPA, it's the same amount of -- in this case, it was a hypothetical DSM program or set of DSM programs that was achieving the same amount of savings in all three cases.  It was enough to defer the need by three years in the business as usual case.  It was enough to defer it by four years in the climate policy case where renewable gas was increasingly being used in the system.  And it was enough to permanently defer it in the case where there was a significant investment over time, a growing investment over time with strategic electrification.

And this is -- you don't need to know all these numbers, but I am just going to point you to a couple of them.  This is kind of a hypothetical look at how the economics of these different scenarios might vary.

The bottom line is on the far right column, Column J, and you can see in the first case, the business as usual case, in column I there were $10 million of cost reduction from the infrastructure investment from deferring the investment by three years; that compares to the $21 million in cost in column F, and so it is not cost-effective.  You spend 21 and you get $10 million in cost savings; it doesn't make sense.

But in the other two cases, it's very cost-effective, the IRP is.  In the second case, it's cost-effective primarily because the value of the avoided commodity cost is much higher with substantial renewable gas being -- and more expensive renewable gas being put on the system.

In the last case, it's primarily cost-effective because the growing electrification of loads meant that demand wasn't going fast enough so that you could use the IRPA to completely eliminate the need for the capital investment all together.

Again these are purely hypothetical scenarios.  But they illustrate the point that if you think about how climate policy can affect both future demands, peak demands on the system, as well as the benefits of different IRPA solutions, they can have significant impacts.

In this case, you don't have to do a probabilistic kind of a weighted average of these.  But if you did, and even if you assigned an 80 percent probability to the business as usual case, the weighted average result would be that it's cost-effective.

I am going to say a couple of words about pilots. I think there has been universal -- not universal agreement 

-- a number of parties, including the company and Staff and myself have suggested that there be significant value to launching a couple of pilots.

The key point I want to make about pilots, however, is that I think there's particular value in the pilots being more comprehensive than what Enbridge has historically called its pilots in these areas, and what they appear to be thinking about, although it's not entirely clear in this proceeding.  That is, it's all fine and good to have a pilot where what you're doing, for example, is testing the effectiveness of a demand response program, how much load reduction can you get from it.

You also get useful information, for example, by assessing what the relationship is between peak demand reduction and annual energy reduction from a set of energy efficiency programs.

Those are all useful things.  But they are all small pieces of what ultimately need to be included or addressed in an IRPA, a plan that's actually designed to defer an infrastructure investment.

So when I think of a pilot, I am thinking of a pilot in which the company would test everything it needs to do to try to defer an infrastructure investment.  I am working on these kind of pilots on non-wire solutions with both of the large investor-owned utilities in Michigan right now on the electric side.

As part of the pilots, they identified the substations that they wanted to look at deferring, they did an assessment about how much load reduction would be necessary to defer those investments.  They looked at the range of options for deferring them.  They developed a portfolio of resources, IRPA resources that they would field test.

Then they went out and field tested them.  They measured the reduction that they got, assessed cost-effectiveness, et cetera.  So it's actually test running the actual effort to defer an infrastructure investment, and I think that more comprehensive level of a pilot is what we need at this stage and would be appropriate.

I have suggested two pilots, and I don't think anyone else has kind of suggested anything different.  But I have also suggested that you might want to think about one of them being utility-run like these two Michigan examples I gave.  And another one being RFP driven.  So we need X amount of peak load reduction in a certain geographic area put on RFP and see what set of solutions come back to you.  That's the principal way ConEd has been approaching certainly its non-wire solutions projects.

And you don't necessarily, in the context of a pilot, want to take all of the least-cost resources that come in.  If you're testing certain things, you may want to say, well, we are going to take the cheapest X amount of load reduction from energy efficiency, the cheapest Y amount of load reduction from demand response, the cheapest Z amount of reduction from compressed natural gas that gets trucked in, or whatever kind of mix so that you can actually field test different electrification, different potential resource options and learn something about all of them in the context of a pilot.

Once you actually get to full scale deployment, you want to take the least cost solution.  But in the context of a pilot, you may be willing to do things a little bit differently.  And as I noted here at the bottom, that's exactly what the State of Maine did with its non-wires pilot for Boothbay Harbor.

Last point, shareholder incentives.  I believe that they are necessary and appropriate so that the company has a viable business option -- a business model, I should say, for going through the future if it's investing in the solutions that are best for its customers.

There are a variety of ways that you can structure shareholder incentives; I talk about several of them in my report.  There are pros and cons -- there is no perfect answer; there are pros and cons to all of them.  I have suggested starting with capitalizing and rate basing IRPA investments.  But that approach may want to be revised over time and perhaps even looking at the experience with the pilot programs, if they are comprehensive enough to understand whether some refinements might make sense.

That's the end of what I wanted to say.  I will turn it over to Mr. Poch and Mr. Elson, if there's any additional words that they wanted to add.

MR. POCH:  Madam Chair, I don't know if you want to ask questions of Mr. Neme, if you had any now.  I was just going to add one point, really, which was with respect to this difference of approach on stakeholdering and decision points.

I think GEC is quite concerned that the approach Enbridge is proposing, apart from being inadequate in terms of the amount of resources attributed to it and the degree of the discovery, is it's ultimately just going to lead to more work for the Board and more regulatory burden because groups, intervenors, stakeholders will have no other option, other than to challenge decisions late in the day before the Board, which is cumbersome and expensive and doesn't help achieve the least-cost solution for ratepayers.

So our hope is that if we have a stakeholdering committee approach as Mr. Neme has recommended, it would be only by exception that the Board would see disputes come before it.  Generally, the Board would see the Asset Management Plan reporting on these decisions as they're taken or as they're expected to be made in future, and unless the Board had any concern or unless the stakeholders by exception had outstanding concerns, you wouldn't need to embark on that contested decision-making situation.

There would be that option that would be a safeguard 

-- a regulatory backstop I think is how we referred to it.  Obviously, the Board might have a different set of concerns than the collection of the stakeholders in the company.  The Board would have that option, Staff would have that option, but hopefully it would be by exception.

So in short, we think Enbridge's approach is penny-wise and pound foolish both for the ratepayers and for the Board's time.

That is the only point I wanted to add.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Poch.  Mr. Elson, we have a little bit time in your slot, if you had something you wanted to add.

MR. ELSON:  Yes.  I will be brief, thank you.  Two points I just wanted to stress where we are on the same page as Enbridge, and two points where there's a bit of divergence.

First of all on rate basing, I just wanted to flag that we fully agree with Enbridge that rate basing is both appropriate and necessary to align interests, and we think without that that the framework frankly will not be successful.  If we don't align interests, I think then we are going to be struggling with some of the issues that we struggled with in the past.

Also I would add that it's appropriate in our view to pay for IRPAs over time, because the benefits accrue over time.  And that's particularly with DSM, so you put the money in in year 1 and you're saving the gas for the next 10 or 20 years, and so it's appropriate to be paying that off over time.

Secondly is about fuel-switching, just to follow up on some comments earlier this morning.  We very much agree that fuel-switching should not be precluded.  And our view is that it's -- well, it's not our view, it has always been part of DSM and an eligible activity under the DSM framework.  It specifically stated so in the 2011 DSM guidelines, mentioned also in the 2014 DSM guidelines, referenced in a lot of detail in the OEB's 2017 marginal abatement cost curve for natural gas cap and trade activities, also mentioned in the latest DSM potential study.

So in our view it's already in and there's no reason to take that out of the list of potential projects, and I think the main reason for that is, why preclude something that could potentially result in lower system costs as part of an IRPA?

I would also add that IRPA proposals will be reviewed by the Board in the future, so the Board will have a chance to look at any specifics that Enbridge puts forward as part of a proposal.  And the good thing about IRPA proposals is you still have a chance to fall back on traditional facilities if you don't like what Enbridge puts forward and there's time to adjust.  So I don't think there needs to be a concern about heat pumps and wanting to exclude them.

A third point is just a point to consider, which is that we have been talking a lot about bigger projects, and another question is how to deal with projects that are below the leave-to-construct threshold, particularly if the LTC threshold goes up to $10 million.  And that's important.

Should those costs be something that Enbridge can incur under its capital budget without specific approval?  We think it should.  If they can find a small project should they need approval?  We think not, if they are doing it within their existing budget.  But I just flag that as something that hasn't been discussed in a lot of detail.

And lastly, I just wanted to follow up on what Mr. Parkes was talking about in terms of demand forecast risk and what Mr. Neme was talking about, which is climate policy risk, and those are the same in some sense.  And as you know, Canada has committed to net zero in less than 30 years from now, and I think the other piece to keep in mind is that natural gas consumption generates a third of all of Ontario's carbon emissions.

And those two facts are going to be reconciled in the future over the coming years, and that has two important impacts.  One Mr. Neme has already discussed.  That will impact future gas demand one way or the other, and that impacts risk of underutilized or stranded assets associated with traditional infrastructure, and we shouldn't ignore those risks, which is the proposal on the table at the moment.  And also there's a very significant benefit to deferring a project until we have a better idea of how net zero is going to be achieved.  And so if you can buy a couple of years, that's very, very helpful right now in an environment where there is this kind of certainty.

And we are not saying that Enbridge should be required or asked to predict the future state of climate policy that will come to pass, and actually, we are saying the opposite.  And Enbridge can't assume that business as usual will continue, and if they do that, that will be exposing customers to major risks across their investment portfolio.

So I just wanted to add those few points, thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  So Commissioner questions.  Ms. Frank, do you have questions?

MS. FRANK:  Just a couple of questions for Mr. Neme.  First, I want to talk a little bit more about the pilot suggestion that you had.  It certainly sounds like a lot more comprehensive examination during a pilot than I saw in Enbridge's work.

So you're saying that this is something that's already underway in other jurisdictions, this larger, more comprehensive pilot, first of all, that?

MR. NEME:  Yes.  There's a lot more experience with this on the electricity side, but all of the pilot projects I am familiar with non-wires solutions have piloted this kind of comprehensive approach, the Boothbay Harbor example in Maine, pilot projects that one of the Guidehouse witnesses was involved in where the National Grid has undertaken in Rhode Island, the two examples I gave that I am working on with both Michigan utilities, and incidentally, both ICF, Enbridge's consultant, is working with the -- with both of those electric utilities, and Guidehouse is evaluating the results in both of those, so kind of just over the border you have got all three of the witnesses here working on these projects in Michigan.

And I know for -- and then on the gas side, while there's less experience, you know, certainly the example, for example, in Oregon, there is a more comprehensive approach.  They are looking at, what does it actually take and how do we do planning and cost-effectiveness assessment to really, you know, to look at what it would take to defer an infrastructure investment.

If we take -- if what we do instead is, well, let's do a pilot demand response program and three years we will do another pilot on something else and three years later we do another one on something else, it'll be ten years before we have actually looked at, what does it actually take to try to defer the infrastructure investment.  There's no reason why we couldn't take this more holistic approach.

Now, that's not to say there isn't value in just piloting the demand response program.  That could be an eminently reasonable thing.  But it's not a substitute for a more kind of integrated, comprehensive pilot.

MS. FRANK:  So that leads me to one of my other questions on the pilots.  How long are these pilots taking when they take a comprehensive -- you say you don't want to take ten years, one pilot after another, but to do a comprehensive pilot, is that taking ten years?

MR. NEME:  No.  And I would say that to kind of really look at something and learn something from it, it's probably a three-year -- a three-year process.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Now, the pilots that you suggested in Maine, National Grid, Oregon, are those on the record anywhere?

MR. NEME:  Umm... I have made reference to -- in my report to a paper that I wrote in 2015 on the U.S. experience with non-wires solutions, and the Maine pilot is described in great detail in that report.  The beginnings of the Rhode Island pilot, I believe, were described, but not in detail.  I don't know that the Oregon non-pipe solution pilot is -- detailed information of it is on the record in this case.  It's relatively new, and I don't recall.  It may not be.

MS. FRANK:  And is there a logical reference that we can use to actually look information up about that Oregon pilot?  Is there a place to go?

MR. NEME:  Well, if it's helpful, I have a couple of documents in my possession that I recently got from a friend who works for the Oregon Energy Trust which is going to be implementing the pilot, which I could put on the record if that would be helpful, and there may well be some aspects of that Oregon pilot that are in the Oregon Public Utility Commission docketed proceedings that are public as well, and I can check and let you know about that as well.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  I think I will let the Panel decide if we want this information filed, but certainly it is helpful to know that there is potential that we might have something, so we will get back to you on, do we want it or not, but it is helpful to know that it may exist.

MR. NEME:  Okay.

MS. FRANK:  So my other questioning relates to the testing that you suggested, that the test proposed by Enbridge, which is the same test as they use for their leave to construct, is inappropriate for an IRPA examination.  So I am going to flip the question the other way around.

So is a TRC plus test appropriate for a leave to construct?  If you want the same test for everything, should be using TRC plus for a leave to construct?

MR. NEME:  Yes, because I think it's the -- it's the flip side of the, of the coin.  Whenever you are doing a cost-effectiveness test -- and maybe I need to take a step back and say this. Whenever you are doing a cost-effectiveness test, you are saying is this lower cost than something else.  And the question is, well, what is the something else we are comparing its to.

So in my construct, I've suggested that we look at what's the cost of the infrastructure project and then we do a cost-effectiveness test of the IRPA relative to that infrastructure project.  You could flip it around and say we have an IRPA and here's what it costs and here's what its impacts would be; now let's analyze the cost-effectiveness of an infrastructure option relative to that IRPA alternative, absolutely.

But whenever you are doing cost-effectiveness analysis, you also have to ask the question of compared to what, because all cost-effectiveness assessments are about the thing that you're looking at compared to something else.

MS. FRANK:  In the TRC plus test, are there aspects that give a particular challenge to come up -- you know, it's very difficult to estimate this aspect of a TRC plus test.  What would that be?  What's the one that normally when you go into a regulatory proceeding there's disagreement about?  We cannot agree on this particular cost or benefit because it's so difficult to arrive at; what is that?

MR. NEME:  Sure, sure.  Well, I would say that if you're talking about the categories of impacts in the -- the utility system impacts that are included in the TRC test today in Ontario, there isn't a whole lot of challenge.  We have been estimated avoided energy costs, avoided T&D costs, the costs of running programs for a long time, for decades.  And that's not just true in Ontario. It's true everywhere across North America where that's, you know, the most commonly used test for DSM purposes and increasingly for non-wires and non-pipe solutions.

I think if you were to point to a couple of areas that are maybe the most challenging, they are related to the customers -- because the TRC test addresses both the utility system and the participating customers, any non-energy benefits to the customer can sometimes, you know, can be more challenging or sometimes more controversial when trying to monetize them.

In Ontario, what we've done, you know, it's the plus part of the TRC plus, and this was based on a ministerial directive is we have just said that when you run a DSM program, those other customer and non-energy benefits are worth 15 percent of whatever the utility system benefits are.

It's a very simplistic adder, so to speak. I think anybody in the industry who has looked at customer non-energy benefits would say it's a conservatively low number.  But it's a way of saying we know it's not zero, so we are including something.  So that's one of the more challenging ones.

I think of the -- I noted in my remarks that there were three utility system impacts that have not historically been included in the TRC plus test as used in Ontario, and which I suggest should be examined and included in a future iteration of the application of the test, or any other test that the commission ultimately migrates.

Those are the price impression effects of the efficiency of program investments, option value, and hedge value.  I would say there's kind of growing experience with how to look at the first and third of those, and kind of reasonable estimates or ways of coming up with estimates that are conservative around those.  I think option value around those three is the most challenging and why there -- it's probably why there are some jurisdictions that are looking at how to assign a dollar value to that, but haven't quite gotten there yet.

But that's like an additional thing that we are not currently using in the TRC plus test that I suggest we add in the future.  I am not suggesting that that needs to be in there now to start using it today.  We could use the test today as it's currently being used and has been used for years in Ontario in the DSM context without having to sort all that out on some of those, you know, in that much more difficult -- challenging item to quantify.  That could be done in a future iteration, in other words.

MS. FRANK:  Thank you for those comments. I will pass it on to Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thanks, Susan. I just have one question.  Has the risk of stranded assets been addressed in any jurisdiction in relation to facilities-based applications, and how has it been addressed?

MR. NEME:  I am not familiar with an example in which there's been an attempt to deal with the stranded asset risk as a result of climate policy through some kind of change, for example, in the way it's amortized.  I think it's kind of an emerging issue.

I believe back in 2016, when the province of Ontario was under the kind of California carbon cap and trade system, that Union Gas actually proposed looking at recovering costs of infrastructure investments over a shorter period of time.  That was kind of rejected at the time and not proceeded with.  But I don't know of other examples where this has kind of been adjudicated on by regulators.

I do know that it is starting to percolate up in conversations in proceedings. I know there's a proceeding in Rhode Island where at least one party is going to be making this case, and I am pretty sure that there are others where it's coming as well.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  So we heard earlier this morning that Enbridge, I think, referred to their proposed framework as a living framework.  And I think I heard you, Mr. Neme, agreeing to that, or at least having some comments about that.

So I just wanted to get your thoughts, and then also perhaps Mr. Poch and Mr. Elson, what is your view of a living framework versus one that, let's say, we put in place for the next five years?

MR. NEME:  I don't think those two concepts are necessarily different.  What I mean by living framework is we need to acknowledge -- and I forget who said this earlier -- that we don't have all of the answers today, and that the rules and guidance around how this consideration of IRPAs works ought to evolve over time.

I don't -- I think that's eminently consistent with the idea of putting a preliminary framework in for the next five years, or whatever period of time might be appropriate, and then have some investigation into some of the more challenging topics that we all acknowledge might particularly merit revisiting and then coming back five years from now and taking the lessons learned from those efforts and modifying it.

I suppose that we should also be open to the idea that there might be something really important or egregious that we miss between now and five years from now, that might merit kind of reopening it sooner.  You know, policy direction around climate, or other things from the province might be one such example.

But generally speaking, I think the idea of putting a first cut of the framework in place for a period like five years is reasonable, and consistent with the idea that this is going to have to evolve over time.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Poch?

MR. POCH:  Yeah, I would just add, one, I think we don't want to wait until these in-depth pilots to come to completion before having a framework that guides Enbridge's actions.  And the hope is we will learn things from this pilot.

So I think the Board might be well advised to stay -- provide a framework, or a direction and a framework, and really invite Enbridge and stakeholders, intervenors to whenever the matters come before the Board to feel free to seek the Board's guidance as to additions, changes, modifications, perhaps for a particular IFPA, perhaps for consideration for all, for the framework itself.  That will be in addition to saying in five years we are going to do a review of this -- it might be your proposal.  But I think we are in a learning mode, and it's -- it would be probably healthy for the utility to feel free to seek guidance from the Board in its -- when it's before the Board on other matters, for example, or where there's -- disagreement has arisen.

If you are -- or if you buy the idea of the stakeholder committee, hopefully things will get fleshed out there.  There may be a consensus approach emerges on a factor of, it's not in the initial framework then it might be appropriate for that to be brought forward by the utility in its next application before the Board, for example, for the Board to give it a nod or not.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  Mr. Elson, do you have anything to add?

MR. ELSON:  Yes, Madam Chair.  I don't think that the Board needs to do something particularly different than it normally does in guidelines by designating this one as being a living document, because I think in many ways Board guidelines already are living documents, and you set out high-level principles, high-level guidelines, high-level expectations, and then the details are finally adjudicated on in the proceeding itself, and that's how it happens with DSM guidelines, and most of the time the Board will decide decisions on details, and it's not bound by those guidelines, so you as the Board won't be bound to follow exactly what the guidelines say in a particular case if it turns out that on the details something different is actually required.

So I think you can come up with, you know, a framework now, and I think you can do the kind of refinements to the cost-benefit analysis in a future study or process that Mr. Neme and Guidehouse has recommended, and I don't think that requires treating this as being all that different from other guidelines that the Board has provided in the past.

And I just had a quick comment further to Commissioner Frank's question about using the TRC for infrastructure.  Just to put a bit of a point on it, the TRC can be used and is very appropriate to decide between pipe and non-pipe solutions.

If you're talking about doing a pipe versus doing nothing, for example a community expansion, there's no reason you couldn't continue to use, you know, EBO 134, which is talking about a different question, which is the question of, will this cost be paid for through revenues by incremental customer connections, and that's what EBO 134 is for.  But that's a different question than which is more cost-effective to meet this need, pipe versus non-pipe solutions.

So I think that maybe provides a bit more detail.  And I think what you were getting at is, does the TRC, you know, somehow disadvantage or not account for some of the considerations on the pipe side of that question, pipe versus non-pipe, and I think it deals with both of those.

And as to the question of stranded assets that Commissioner Janigan raised and how that's been dealt with in other jurisdictions, the reference that Mr. Neme made was to -- it's EB-2016-0186, and in that case Union had proposed a depreciation over 20 years, and the Board decided that this should be dealt with not on a project basis but at the next rebasing period.

And the concern raised there was the concern that Mr. Neme has highlighted, which is uncertainty about gas demand in relation to climate policy in the future.

Now, I note that a lot of IRP is in the electricity sector, so you are not going to have the same kind of stranded asset concern to the same degree, but that one Union Gas example is another one.  Thanks.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thanks.  And then the last question is the one I promised I would ask, which is just your perspective on, is there any barrier, gaps on the record, that would make it difficult for us to go ahead and establish this framework going forward?

MR. NEME:  I can't think of any.  At least, in terms of the core things that I think would be essential for the Board to address in a framework, I think that there is adequate information on the record to proceed, and as I said in my presentation, I think that's even true -- you know, Mr. Parkes flagged that, well, maybe this issue of forecasting is one where there isn't.  That may be true when you think about the details of forecasting, but with respect to the specific proposal of looking at sensitivities of the different forecasts under different kinds of futures, I think there's more than adequate information to inform Board guidance right now on that topic.

Madam Chair, I think your mic is --


MS. ANDERSON:  My dog started barking, so I made sure I was on mute.  I apologize.

Just, Mr. Poch or Mr. Elson, did you have anything you wanted to add to what Mr. Neme said?

MR. POCH:  I tend to agree with what he said.

MR. ELSON:  Yes, as well, and one way to put a point to it is you can ask Enbridge to do a sensitivity analysis without telling Enbridge what scenarios it's going to look at, and Enbridge can fill out the details and the guidelines of the framework and just say that they have to account for that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Good.  Well, thank you very much.  I think that that concludes this presentation, and we are only three minutes over, which is pretty good.  So I am going to cut that three minutes out of our lunchtime, because we are still going to come back at the scheduled 1:30, and that will be with Mr. Shepherd.  So thanks, everyone.
--- Luncheon recess taken at 12:48 p.m.

--- On resuming at 1:31 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Welcome back, everyone.  Just before we get to Mr. Shepherd, when we left the last presentation there was talk about the -- I guess a pilot project in Oregon and whether or not getting a study on that, the Panel would find that interesting.

I think what we've concluded is if there was an executive summary to that, that would be of great interest to us.  So Mr. Neme or Mr. Poch or Mr. Elson, if that is something that you could look into.

The other thing is again, Mr. Neme did talk about a paper that did reference some things.  So if that paper was available and was easy to provide, that would also be of interest as that did refer to pilot project.  So we are not looking for several hundred pages of details on a pilot, but if there is something that gave us a good kind of overview of what they were doing, that would be helpful.

MR. POCH:  I am not sure Mr. Neme's monitoring this afternoon.  I will certainly pass that along.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Well, thank you, Mr. Poch.  And with that, we will turn over to Mr. Shepherd.
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MR. SHEPHERD:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  I am going to for the first time learn how to share a screen, and I am hoping that that -- is that sharing now?

MS. ANDERSON:  It is.  Looks good, yeah.

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's like a miracle.  Okay.  So I am here representing the School Energy Coalition.  I titled this planting a flag in the sand, but my client says actually what I am supposed to be doing here is channelling my inner Greta Thunberg, who is obviously a lot more well spoken than I am.

We are only going to deal with three issues here and they are higher level issues.  We have spent the whole morning talking about details, and the details are important; the nitty-gritty is important for sure.

But our feeling is that there are three major issues that are contextual that you have to keep in context in your minds all the way through this.

Acceptance of the future, the different conceptual approaches to IRP planning, and the unusual role of Enbridge as player, gatekeeper, and opponent with respect to IRP.

So let's start with accepting the future, and there are other speakers who have alluded to this.  We are facing a low-carbon future.  We can argue with when it's going to happen and how it's going to happen, and all that sort of stuff.  But nobody, I think, will now debate the direction that we are going in, a lower-carbon future.

And what that means is the gas distribution as a legacy business.  It's like tobacco or gas street lighting; it's going to end.  But Enbridge right now assumes in their planning -- and they've repeated that a number of times here -- indefinite long-term growth.  That's wrong.  That's just not correct.

In fact, their business will die or it will be limited to a niche likely in our lifetimes, because net zero 2050 can't happen with gas distribution continuing to grow.  It just can't.

So the questions available are how long will it take, how much pain will we experience along the way -- and by we, I mean the customers because it's the customers who always end up with the pain -- and who gets left footing the bill if we are putting 50-year assets in the ground today, because they will not be valuable 50 years from now.

So Enbridge is planning, they're planning in their proposal here and their planning generally is based on an incorrect assumption that they are going to continue to grow, grow, grow.

In that context, what they want is for the Board to at least keep them whole if they don't put as much pipe in the ground, and that really sort of misses the point.  They don't need to be incented; this is a survival thing for them.  They have to pivot or they will not survive.  And they do not appear to want to accept this.

So their approach to IRP -- this is more the first of three that I'll lay out.  Their approach to IRP is that it's a choice between options.  You start with we are going to put this pipe in the ground.  This is the thing that has to be displaced, is a facility expenditure.  And that's really what they want to do, because that's what they do for a living; they put pipe in the ground.

Anything else is secondary, but if you force them, they will look at other options.  But they want to put a bunch of barriers in the way.

So we have identified eight barriers that they want to put in the way.  They want the timelines to be lengthy and late, so that it's too late, as it has been in the past, to do anything other than facility investments.

They want limited stakeholder and Board involvement, again until its too late.  They have a binary screening proposal that would screen out the vast majority of possible projects.  They propose to do rate IRPAs because they are -- they are less certain than a pipe.

They want to use a DCF test that nobody else in the world uses for this purpose, and that is not suited for this purpose.  They only want to consider IRPAs that they can either own or control, and they want to put them in rate base which, from the customer point of view, is the most expensive way to pay for it.  And by the way, they will have some high collateral costs like a billion dollars for AMI.

These are all barriers they are presenting to the Board saying, okay, we are going to do it.  You told us seven years ago we had to do it in the GTA reinforcement case, we ignored you.  Then you insisted, so, okay, now we've done a study saying well we can't do it, but we are going to try our best anyway.

So their approach is very much let's see how little of this we can get by on.

The opposite to that, if you like, which -- take this as the regulatory approach if you like, is what we've called the just say no approach.  The Board could literally say to Enbridge we only approve capital spending by Enbridge if it's in the public interest.  When you come to us and ask to spend money, you better have done your homework.  If you don't, we will say no, and you can't say, oh, it's too late for you to say no.  No, that's your job; you must come having done your homework, then it's on you to make sure that the work has been done prior.  And that means that if there's another option available to meet the need, then the Board will simply refuse to approve the facility that they want to build.  

And by the way, you would use a TRC or an SCT test, something like that, which is an appropriate test to consider the facility relative to other options, as Mr. Neme said.

And if you took this extreme approach -- and I know you are not going to, we are not suggesting that -- but if you took this extreme approach, then if the time for alternative options was passed because Enbridge didn't do their homework, then the cost to catch up would be their cost.  Their shareholders would bear that, they would be at risk, the customers would not.

All right, so that was the straw man.

The better approach to IRP -- and what I am hearing nobody saying, by the way, including the environmental groups, which surprises me -- the better approach is to start with the low-carbon future being a problem that has to be solved, not has to be solved in the sense of opposed, but in the sense of facilitated.  We are going to get there, so what's the smartest, least-cost, most efficient way to get to that end?

Enbridge has a lot of very smart people.  If they chose to go in this direction, they could do it.  What it means is that they could plan -- they would approach their planning for their system starting with the idea that they are going to be burning less gas.  There's a net zero target, they're going to get there.  They are going to be putting less pipe in the ground because they can't afford to have pipe that lasts another 50 years; it won't be in use then.

And so their goal will be to shrink rate base over time.  They are not going to like that, but if we are going to get to net zero, we don't have a choice and they don't have a choice.

So then from the Board's point of view, if Enbridge took this approach and did their planning this way, then the Board's test of Enbridge's DS -- I said DSP; it's actually USP, I guess they call it -- is does it achieve the low-carbon future as fast as is possible?  Is all the capital spending they still have proposed necessary to produce the low-carbon result?  And is rate base declining fast enough that we won't have stranded assets?

So you see the last bullet on this page is Enbridge with a question mark, because Enbridge can't deliver that future.  This is -- I should step back and say, the Board will be aware that SEC took the lead in challenging leave to constructs in order to try to get Enbridge to embrace IRP.  We -- we were hopeful.

What's happened in this application and in the last several years is we are now no longer hopeful.  Enbridge is a company that has -- in their own plans, they have to put -- that is, Enbridge Inc. have to put -- at least a billion dollars a year new capital into the ground.  That's their plan.  They have to do that.

They also don't believe that IRPAs can actually deliver results, and if you read through their evidence you see this constantly, the doubt, they don't actually deliver.  We are going to have to build the facilities eventually.

The third thing is they have upstream interests, they have transportation pipelines, they have storage.  Those are dependent on continued growth in gas.  It's not in their interests, it's directly contrary to their interests to do anything other than facilitate more use of gas.

But the real -- the important reason why we know they can't deliver on this future is because they've had ample opportunity to show they can do it.  The Board's told them year after year, you should be looking at IRP.  They haven't, because they can't.

So we see their proposal.  It starts with indefinite growth, which is just clearly incorrect.  They want the same revenue from customers, they want like treatment for like results, but they say, but they'll invest in IRPAs instead of facilities.  They want to enter the competitive markets as if they were still a monopoly, but of course if they entered the competitive markets they are not a monopoly.

In essence, what they want to do is fight the decline of gas distribution on our nickel, and that's not right.  So our conclusion from this, sadly, is that the solution is not to hand the keys over to Enbridge.  In this we disagree with -- with GEC and Environmental Defence, and I think others who would say, well, half a loaf is better than none.

And, yes, their IRP proposal, even if it's fixed a bit, is not really that great, but because it's not really integrated resource planning; it's not that great, but it's better than nothing, so therefore let's get it now and then see if we can make it better later.

Our view -- and of course we will listen to the hearing at the hearing -- we will listen to the evidence at the hearing, but our view is that the Board should simply reject the Enbridge proposal and advise the parties that there is not a proposal before them that is acceptable.  And I -- despite being very high-level, I will still be very happy to answer questions if you have them.

MS. ANDERSON:  Ms. Frank, do you have any questions?

MS. FRANK:  So Jay, I get the, you've got it wrong, Enbridge, no, we are not going to agree to that, but then what are we going to do?  Certainly you are not suggesting that we avoid doing any IRP and go back to the old approach.  That sounds worse to me.  So rather than what we shouldn't do, what should we do?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, of course, and as you know, Commissioner Frank, we were among the ones jumping up and down saying, no, we have to have more IRP, so, no, we don't want to go back to the old way.

The -- you heard earlier talk about the 20-year plans, the three-year 20-year -- every three years there's a 20-year plan in New York, and that's similar to the better approach that I was talking about in the earlier slide that -- where you start with, how do we get to a better future and plan accordingly.

And the Board could direct Enbridge to go back and look at that approach or that type of approach, an approach that -- that takes a more problem-solving approach to the problem, rather than simply trying to displace each individual facility investment with an IRPA.

MS. FRANK:  It sounds like a good place to start, but I think you need to go a bit further in terms of your advice here.  So, yes, let's have a 20-year plan that gets refreshed as more information becomes available, as the circumstances change, as we get new policies, and every three years sounds a reasonable frequency, sounds good.  What else?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so I can make it more -- I didn't have a specific plan, but I -- but I can make it more specific, because we know that in two years they have to file a utilities system plan in their rebasing, and the Board could say to them, when you file that, we expect it to be at least ten years, let's say, which they say it's going to be anyway, and we are telling you right now we want you to give us visibility on how you're going to deal with the lower-carbon future.  That DSP or USP has to show us that.  And that would be a huge step in the right direction.

MS. FRANK:  I think I am still struggling, Jay, with what -- even if I buy that, okay, that we set an expectation, that they look to the notion that indeed they've got to get to the low carbon, and their assets are going down because you're not building a whole lot more pipe, and even if those are guiding principles, I still am not convinced that we have a framework that will allow Enbridge to go away and make it happen.  It's -- it's not enough direction, in my opinion, so I am looking for your thoughts as to what other direction will we need.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, you're right, but I am not suggesting that you tell them how to do it.  Indeed, they're very good at -- at figuring out how to do things if they know what the goal is.

But what I am suggesting is that you tell them the result you want, and that the Board say, we are your regulator.  You have to end up at this place, and you're smart.  Figure out how to do it and come back.  And you can -- you can tell them at the same time, here are some things in what you propose this time around that are not good enough, and that will help them.

But I don't think you have evidence in front of you right now sufficient to have them -- to construct or to set a framework for an actual integrated resource planning exercise where they integrate all the resources into their planning, which is what it's all about.

MS. FRANK:  If we buy that, then just help us a little bit in terms of when will we have the information in front of us to allow for this integrated resource plan?  What are we missing?  What do we need to get in place?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, so for example, you have a current utilities system plan that assumes the price of carbon will top out at $50.  We know that's wrong.  Or it's likely to be wrong.  We have an integrated resource plan that -- or, sorry, a utilities system plan that assumes that there will be customer growth every year into the foreseeable future and throughput growth every year into the future, but as prices go up and as carbon becomes less acceptable to the public, that won't happen either.

So if they just make those changes in their plan and start from there, that will be a large improvement.

MS. FRANK:  Okay, I think I will leave it at that and see what else we can get from others.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Janigan?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.  What we are talking about here is ways to meet demand, and that demand comes about either through growth or replacement.

Is it your view that in order to advance the idea of a low-carbon future, we have to take the role of meeting that demand, that either in growth replacement away from Enbridge, or does Enbridge have a role in that?

MR. SHEPHERD:  It's a very good question, and in my heart of hearts I would like to say yes, we should take the job of meeting that demand away from Enbridge because they're conflicted.  But I don't think, A, the Board has jurisdiction to do that; and, B, it's not a practical thing to do right now.

To move in the right direction, we have to at least start them planning in a more proactive way.  And then once that happens, it may be the government might step in and say we should have something like they have in Vermont, with energy efficiency run by somebody else other than the utility.  It's possible.  But the Board can't do that, I don't think.

MR. JANIGAN:  What you're essentially proposing, it largely seems to have more stick than carrot.

MR. SHEPHERD:  Yes.

MR. JANIGAN:  Is there any -- is there any carrot that is possible for Enbridge, particularly given the fact that, you know, they're not a non-profit organization?

MR. SHEPHERD:  Well, yeah, that's a fair point and 
I -- the problem is that they have a monopoly business and the alternatives in what we are calling on the electricity side DERs, but I think it's also true here, the alternatives are competitive activities.

So what's the carrot for Enbridge?  Well, the carrot is not to pretend -- for them to move into competitive activities and pretend they a monopoly.  That doesn't make sense; that just hurts everybody.  The carrot is if the Board pushes them to pivot, they will then have -- they will then plan for a runway and they will not be left with a bunch of stranded assets that they are begging their declining customer base to pay for.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thanks.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Shepherd, I don't have any additional questions.

MR. SHEPHERD:   Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  So thank you for your time.  And I think now -- and we did comment that as we see ourselves on the screen, we see ourselves looking up all the time and we are not looking into space.  We have a transcript on one side, we have a documents on the other.  So we actually are multitasking, trying to look at all of our different materials.

But thank you, Mr. Shepherd, and we will turn it over to Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  I can see it on my screen.  Can you see my slide on your screen?

MS. ANDERSON:  We can -- or at least I can.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, sorry.  I am learning this technology also, but I think...


MS. ANDERSON:  We all are.

MR. QUINN:  Yes, I have one more thing I need to do.  Now my screen is up and there we go.  Can you still see it full screen, Ontario Energy Board?

MS. ANDERSON:  It's very small on my screen.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, that's what I was concerned about.  Okay.  Well, I will go back this way here.

MS. ANDERSON:  That looks fine to me.

MR. QUINN:  That's better now?  Okay.

MS. ANDERSON:  It is.

MR. QUINN:  Okay, I was hoping I could do that.  But as you said with multiple screens, I am going to use my multiple screens, because I have my tablet in front of me and that should assist.  So if I am looking away and not into the camera, it is because I do have multiple screens.  So without further ado, I will start our presentation.  
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We thank you for the opportunity.  So good afternoon, members of the Panel, Board Staff, and interested stakeholders in this proceeding.  My name is Dwayne Quinn, and I will be presenting, on behalf of FRPO, our perspectives on IRP.

Our agenda focuses on and is responsive to the Board's procedural orders.  This is a complex proceeding for a challenging time, and we seek to assist the Board with specific matters that are pertinent to IRP.

I understand from Madam Chair this morning that the Commissioners may prefer to ask a question on the slide.  this presentation day is for the benefit of the Board, and so we would welcome that opportunity to create clarity as needed throughout the presentation.

So the purpose of our presentation is to provide FRPO's perspectives on how IRP should work for Enbridge, and to inform the OEB's assessment of whether there's a breadth and scope of evidence on which to establish the IRP framework for Enbridge.

As FRPO's representative over the last decade, I wanted to elaborate on my background as context for this presentation.  I started as a facilities planner with Union Gas.  I became the director of a municipal gas utility in Kitchener for over a decade, and I have been an independent consultant for more than a dozen years serving two gas utilities in Ontario and one on the east coast.

These engagements provide experience as part of TransCanada's taskforce.  It also provides me with experience in identifying and procuring market-based solutions for utility gas supply and facilities planning.

FRPO considers there to be deficiencies in Enbridge's IRP framework proposals.  These deficiencies include an incomplete list of guiding principles, and there are outstanding questions related to determinations of need, and an incomplete presentation of matters related to alternatives.

FRPO presents its perspectives on these deficiencies and how they should be remedied, with particular emphasis on deficiencies related to market-based supply side, non-facility alternatives.  These deficiencies are illustrated by reference to Enbridge's reaction to a market-based alternatives opportunity that has recently emerged as a result of changes that have taken place in gas markets in and surrounding Ontario.

FRPO suggests that the three -- that three guiding principles need to be added to Enbridge's proposals, particularly in relation to market-based supply side alternatives to new infrastructure.

First, the authors of an IRP framework for Enbridge need to have a general understanding of how supply-side alternatives work.

Second, the Board's powers related to a determination of disputes related to alternatives.  And third, requirements for procedural fairness need to be recognized in cases where there is a dispute between Enbridge and one or more of its stakeholders over alternatives to be compared and the selection of a preferred option from these comparators.

An elaboration of the rationale for applying these three additional guiding principles in establishing the IRP framework for Enbridge is provided in the following sections of our presentation.  FRPO has questions about the appropriateness of discontinuing an existing supply-side IRPA as partial justification for our proposed addition to natural gas infrastructure.  In our view, if a supply-side IRPA remains available for a future period, then it should not be discontinued without a demonstration to the OEB that cost or other public interest factors justify such a discontinuance.

The menu of potential alternatives is broad.  It includes utility, non-utility, and regulated and unregulated solutions, as well as non-gas solutions, including electricity.

FRPO suggests that a comprehensive OEB-maintained menu of potential alternatives as a schedule or appendix in the IRP framework for Enbridge would be useful to those seeking to identify a short list of alternatives for consideration in a specific case.  Enbridge declines to produce an initial list -- draft list of such -- sorry, Enbridge declines to produce an initial draft of such a list.  We offer a couple of these alternatives that we will present later to address a pending need for a solution.

The OEB agrees that there are differing categories of IRPAs and that the screening criteria may be different depending on the category.  FRPO suggests that the menu of alternatives be categorized to separate supply-side non-facility alternatives from other non-facility options and from facility solutions.  The items within these categories that constitute bridging mechanisms should be flagged.

A menu of this nature will help the readers of the framework better understand the potential scope of matters relating to alternatives in a specific case.  Also, additions and deletions from the list should be subject to OEB oversight.

Enbridge's evidence says little about these alternatives.  The authors of an IRP framework for Enbridge need to be aware of these supply-side options and, most importantly, how each of them operates.  For Enbridge, the list of supply-side options include third-party purchases of peaking services, delivered supply, and exchanges.  However, Enbridge was quick to dismiss these gas supply alternatives as inappropriate to meet long-term needs.

It is important to distinguish that exchanges involve the title transfer of gas commodity.  They differ from displacement that do not involve gas commodity title transfers.  We will describe the importance of displacements and their contribution to efficiency later in the presentation.

We trust the Board is familiar with the Parkway delivery obligation.  The issues list in this proceeding poses a question, though:  What are industry best practices?  For Enbridge, the Parkway delivery obligation, or PDO solution, is clearly a best-practice supply-side alternative.  The PDO mechanism was assumed by -- sorry, PDO was assumed by those who opted for direct purchase, starting in the late '80s.  The direct purchase customers received an incentive to deliver their gas each day of the year at Parkway, known as Parkway delivery commitment incentive.  Then and now, PDO serves as an extremely cost-effective supply alternative to the construction of facilities -- facility increments to Enbridge's Dawn-Parkway transmission system.

The PDCI is not based upon the notion that this supply-side alternative is incompatible with the public interest.  Rather, the PDCI amount that the system collects from all ratepayers and pays to PDO-obligated direct purchasers that deliver the gas to Parkway recognizes that PDO undertaken by some but not all direct purchase customers results in the avoidance of the more expensive alternative of adding pipe to serve an incremental need.

That purpose of the PDCI is to compensate those direct purchase customers who produce an avoided cost-benefit to the system as a whole.  The purpose of the PDCI is to remedy an inequity of some versus all.

The existence of the PDCI can be demonstrated to be much more cost-effective than a build.  In fact, if PDCI were eliminated, then it would cost the system considerably more than the cumulative PDCI amounts to install and pay for costs of capacity that direct purchase PDO currently contributes to avoiding through their committed deliveries.

The above-described market-based opportunity that Enbridge had and has been phasing out is clearly a best practice supply-side alternative for Enbridge.

So turning your attention to this slide, this slide was taken from a 2012 meeting of Enbridge with stakeholders who sought to reduce historic inequities that existed at the time.  However, those conditions have changed significantly.  Over time, surplus pipeline capacity was allocated to the process of moving customer delivery commitments from Parkway back to Dawn.  In addition, a number of infrastructure builds on the system has reduced the difference in market value for deliveries between Dawn and Parkway by more than half.  As a result, marketers are now offering services at Parkway at a discount, the 
costs -- the current cost of Dawn-Parkway M12 rates.

Before I leave this slide, I would just like to point out the practical application of this concept of displacement.  As can be seen on the slide, the total Dawn-Parkway demand was about 6,600 TJs in the day, but the obligated deliveries coming to Parkway on a firm basis throughout every day of the year, but especially the winter, these obligated deliveries total about 640 TJs.

The net result of this, because gas can't flow two different ways, in two opposite directions on the same pipeline, the net effect of obligated deliveries is to reduce the net Dawn-Parkway volumes to just under 6,000 TJs.  This is displacement, and the practical effect is that it reduces the amount of facilities that you need, because now you have to build facilities for 6,000 TJs, not 6,600 TJs.

The authors of an IRP framework for Enbridge will need to understand that displacements are fundamental to the operations of interconnecting pipelines, such as TransCanada and Enbridge.  Displacement is foundational to the movement of gas in pipelines.

While well understood by pipeline operators, it is especially important at pipeline interconnects like the connection of TransCanada to Enbridge at Parkway.  Through understanding and securing commitments to these flows, utilities have the opportunity to harness the benefit of existing capability.

A depiction of the extent to which displacement between TransCanada and Enbridge occur at Parkway are integral to the operations of the interconnected TransCanada and Enbridge facilities at Parkway.  And this can be gleaned from Enbridge's response to FRPO IR 55 and the figure provided in Enbridge's response to FRPO IR number 56.

So in an actual basis the flow of gas from Dawn to Parkway -- sorry, the flow of gas from the Dawn-Parkway transmission line was greater than the flow coming from TransCanada's line through Toronto for the complete winter, in this case of November 2017 to March of 2018.  This is a typical actual situation on the transmission line in the winter period.

From this information it can be seen that displacement of TransCanada-carried gas into the Toronto area would get used in Toronto, but under no circumstances would it -- and under no circumstances would it actually reach Parkway.

Another item that the authors of the IRP framework for Enbridge will need to understand in relation to potential market-based supply-side alternatives for Enbridge is that the gas carried by TransCanada on its northern line is being transported by TransCanada's recently established long-term fixed-price service, known as LTFP.

LTFP transportation was implemented in 2017 to prompt the use of TCPL's main line system as a result of changes in market circumstances that rendered these pipeline facilities underutilized.

LTFP is a ten-year service which expires at the end of 2027 that provides fixed-price transportation from Empress to Dawn.  The service is firm, in that TransCanada is obliged to carry the full contracted demand of an LTFP shipper on each and every day of the year that the shipper provides its full contracted demand for carriers by TransCanada.

The next slide just provides some geographical context that is important to understand that when gas leaves Alberta at its Empress gate it flows to the Winnipeg area, and it has two options.  It can flow down through TransCanada's affiliate gas pipeline -- Great Lakes pipeline down to Dawn, or the gas can flow over -- across the northern Ontario line and to a point which is known as North Bay junction.  From there it can travel down to the Toronto area and then on to Parkway and Dawn.

To visualize the system more simply, we provided the following schematic to place focus on the impact to Ontario.

Subject to certain limitations that the authors of an IRP framework for Enbridge may not be familiar with at this stage, TCPL has the option of carrying this gas -- carrying the gas of its LTPF shippers either through the northern route I just described, or the southern route through its affiliate.  When the gas flows on the northern route, displacements happen along the path of that gas.  That gas would be credited to the shipper's account eventually at Dawn, but the physical gas will be used along the path.  The effect, though, is to reduce the flow in the opposite direction.

What this means is that all the gas a being carry by TransCanada from Empress to Dawn on TCPL's northern line is being displaced before it gets to Parkway.  TCPL's 1500 TJs a day of LTFP services, fully subscribed for gas producers and marketers wishing to move their gas from Alberta to Dawn where it attracts a market premium that is favourable for them, much more favourable for them than the market price at Empress.  Therefore, the pipe is full almost every day of the year.

TCPL has the discretion to select the northern route for its LTFP carriage up to 750 TJs from Empress to Dawn.  In an exercise of this discretion, TransCanada can commit to elect that route for a specific contracted demand for an LTFP shipper. A market-based contractual commitment by TransCanada to exercise its route selection discretion in a manner that effectively produces LTFP firm service on each and every day of the year upon a fixed -- for a fixed period in the winter months.

With such a contractual commitment an LTFP shipper could agree to provide Enbridge with a firm commitment to deliver the agreed upon CD to Parkway for displacement into the Toronto area where the gas is actually needed.  Enbridge can contractually commit to facilitate a displacement transaction with TransCanada at Parkway and Dawn to enable TransCanada to fulfil its transport obligations to its LTFP shipper.

The foregoing arrangements provide Enbridge with a market opportunity to acquire supply-side alternatives that will satisfy an immediate and future need for an increase in its Dawn Parkway capacity and for capacity into Toronto.

To achieve such an outcome, all Enbridge needs to do is solicit bids in the marketplace for one or more LTFP shippers to deliver Enbridge's required CD, for example maybe 100 TJs a day to Parkway on each day of the winter, where the gas will be displaced to Enbridge and Enbridge possessed gas being simultaneously displaced to TransCanada at Dawn to fulfil TransCanada's obligations to its LTFP shippers.

The displaced -- the gas displaced to Enbridge before Parkway will be consumed in the Toronto area where the gas is actually needed.  This is very analogous to the how the Parkway delivery obligation works today.  Making market solicitations of this nature is a reasonably simple exercise for Enbridge to conduct.  Yet Enbridge resists even our inquiry on this obvious supply-side, non-facility market-based solution for satisfying its need for an increase in its Dawn Parkway transmission capacity to serve an area of forecasted incremental demand near Toronto.

This market opportunity is effectively analogous to the PDO as I described earlier, and Enbridge acknowledges that PDO belongs on the list of potential supply-side IRPs.  A market-based LTFP PDO displacement service of this type as envisioned by FRPO would be paid for by Enbridge with the costs thereof being recovered from ratepayers.

In addition, the existence of the PDCI, the other market-based alternative we described earlier, this avoids a much more expensive construction of Dawn Parkway capacity.  It is a market solicitation directed to all non-Parkway obligated direct purchase customers, and could be done with a payment of PD CI to these parties that they could chose to recommit deliveries at Parkway.

Now, this morning Commissioner Janigan asked a question about a scenario where a utility brings forward an LTC application, and the Board may reject that LTC application, but what then?  In our view, a solution like we're proposing in using currently available flow conditions could be implemented in less than a year, which would allow other alternatives to be considered if the Board were to consider rejecting the LTC application.

However, Enbridge refuses to answer any questions about either of these supply-side alternatives, despite the fact that identification of alternatives is a component part of matters on the issue list in this proceeding.

FRPO expects that EGI will shortly be seeking to demonstrate that it has a need for expansion of capacity of its Dawn Parkway transmission system, as Enbridge has sent out an open season request for Dawn Parkway capacity that just flows last month in the middle of January.  At this point, the proposed 2021 build for the Dawn Parkway system is in Enbridge's Asset Management Plan for 2023.

Implementation of this initiative could greatly assist the public interest by being a bridging solution in support of other IRPAs with costs that are only 10 percent of the annualized cost of a build.  This will have environmental and societal benefits in avoidance of an installation of opposed pipeline with uncertain long term utilization, and these benefits could extend beyond the primary term.

Once again, we emphasize this is a key bridging solution for uncertain times.  Enbridge's refusal to answer questions about PDO market-based supply side opportunities described above trigger a need for inclusion in the strong statement from the OEB of its powers to determine disputed issues related to alternatives.

FRPO suggests that the OEB has broad powers to consider and decide these issues as it sees fit.  The OEB determines when it will consider and decide an alternatives dispute.  Enbridge should not have the power to frustrate the position of other stakeholders on the appropriateness of supply-side alternatives to infrastructure additions with its unilateral declaration that such alternatives are inappropriate to satisfy its long-term gas supply requirements.

The terms of the OEB's IRP framework for Enbridge should clearly and unequivocally put an end to Enbridge's conflation of its requirements for long-term gas supply with the requisite duration for supply-side alternatives for an infrastructure build.  The IRP framework for Enbridge should clearly articulate the Board's powers to set the schedule for determining disputes over alternatives at a time when the dispute arises, rather than at a time when it is too late for the alternative favoured by a stakeholder other than Enbridge to be properly investigated and implemented.

The framework should clearly express the OEB's power to direct Enbridge to adopt an alternative other than the one Enbridge prefers.

The IRP framework for Enbridge should stress the procedural fairness is a principle to which the Board will adhere when dealing with disputes pertaining to alternatives.  Considerations of fairness call for procedures that will allow disputes about alternatives to be raised, considered, and determined in a timely manner.  Such disputes should be considered when they first arise and not years later, when Enbridge has already committed to another option.

The phasing of a proceeding in which the material alternatives dispute arises should be adopted in specific cases where the OEB considers such a process to be warranted.  Matters related to need and alternatives can be decided in advance of matters related to implementation.

The terms of the IRP framework for Enbridge should discourage Enbridge from frustrating a proper investigation by the OEB and those opposite in interest to Enbridge of an alternative other than Enbridge's preference.

As described above, opportunities exist for innovative IRPs such as LTFP or PDO delivery service.  However, the reasonable pursuit of these solutions may require the Board's oversight.  We understand the utility is seeking incentives, including the potential to capitalize O&M costs.  Given the flow-through nature of our proposals, we do not believe the capitalization of flow-through costs would be appropriate.  We believe that the utility may warrant a nominal incentive for facilitating the displacement construct to harness the capability of flows that are occurring in any event as a result of Enbridge shipments from Dawn to Parkway.

We recommend that the monitoring and reporting would be done through the rate-case filings for supply-side alternatives and not as part of a stakeholder day that Enbridge is advancing.

In conclusion, we believe that the time for IRP has come, and it needs to be supported by a sound regulatory framework.  This evolution will require informed leadership and objective fact-based decision-making.

The foregoing is FRPO's perspective on how IRP should work for Enbridge, having regard to the issues list in this proceeding.  FRPO thanks the Board for the opportunity to present our views and would be pleased to answer any questions that you may have about the contents of this presentation.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Quinn.  We will start with you, again, Ms. Frank.

MS. FRANK:  I noticed that your presentation was very focussed on the supply side and opportunities on the supply side as part of an IRP.  My question is, is the focus on the supply side driven by your feeling that that's the priority, that they should consider that first?  Why is supply side getting so much attention from you?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you for the question.  In our view, supply side is under-represented in the evidence that is before the Board to this point in this proceeding.  We had desired for more information to be available to the Board for the Board's examination in the proceeding and, frankly, at this juncture we believe that supply side could provide bridging solution for other alternatives to be implemented.

At the technical conference there was a lot of discussion about the amount of time to implement demand-side solutions, because it just simply takes time for demand-side implementation to actually lower the required need.

To implement something like a supply-side solution that is non-facility-related reduces the cost, one, it can be implemented more quickly, but very importantly, it need not be there for the long-term.  So if it takes three years for the DSM solution to be implemented, evaluated, and hopefully established to be in place, the solution that we'd be providing could be terminated in three years, and the costs would then not be continued to have to be borne, like in the case of a pipeline.

So that is -- that is our frame of reference for coming to this proceeding.  We also are very concerned about the due process in the proceeding to be able to emphasize the Board's power to be able to make these determinations so that there is a holistic view to the solutions, and again, we believe some of this information has been under-represented to this point.

MS. FRANK:  Mr. Quinn, you aren't suggesting that other elements or potential elements of an IRP should be ignored, it's just that you are feeling that there's more flexibility and a speedier option available through supply side which needs to get appropriate attention; is that fair?

MR. QUINN:  That's fair.  That's a very concise way of saying it.  And we do -- we respect the views of other participants that are acknowledging the environment in which we live and the desire to reduce the carbonization of energy in Ontario, so solutions like what we are proposing would give time for some of those mechanisms to take over, to ultimately reduce demand and eliminate the need for this solution and certainly the pipe that would have been put in place traditionally to meet that demand.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Just one other area of questions.  You expressed concern that you weren't getting the information that you thought would have been helpful and that the disputes that exist in such a proceeding need to be considered at an earlier stage, I think is what you are saying -- or what's your thoughts about how the OEB can manage the disputes that you're concerned about?

MR. QUINN:  We believe that the OEB should be the overseers of the menu of alternatives that Enbridge or other stakeholders can draw from.  If that is maintained by the utility, then there are concerns that opportunities to bring some of those solutions forward can be frustrated.

So if the OEB were to keep a menu of these alternatives and simply alternatives that come to the forefront that may be new technology, they could be added with the OEB's approval to this menu of alternatives as reasonable IRPAs.

So those disputes are managed upfront, then there is a greater opportunity for other stakeholders beyond the utility to bring forward solutions that would not be screened out early in the process, but in fact would be available to be considered in an opportunity to meet demand.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  I think I understand that.  I am still a little bit vague on what the timing might be about the dispute resolution.  What would be the trigger, how would the OEB know that it's time to step in?  Is it something that -- is it a normal application that we'd see from Enbridge?  Is it something that some other parties might bring to the Board's attention?  It's a question about timing and how does the Board know it's time to act?

MR. QUINN:  Today it often happens at the time of a leave to construct, but under the IRP framework that could be put in place, this menu could be created starting later this year, these alternatives would be presented, defended, and included in the Board-approved list in a way that the Board accepts the viability and feasibility of such alternatives and would be looking to ensure that if application were brought forward by the utility that it has demonstrated that it has vetted the Board-approved alternatives in a way that is meaningful and is fact-based in a way that satisfies the Board that all alternatives are being considered and the IRPA that's being advanced or facility that's being advanced is defensible.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Thank you for those responses.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  Mr. Quinn, you indicated, I think, in your discourse with Ms. Frank that what you're looking at here are not long-term solutions, I believe they're bridging solutions, and to meet anticipated demand.

Can you tell me what would be the likely length of any such arrangements that could be negotiated, and how does that compare in terms of security of supply with any other arrangements that Enbridge might have?

MR. QUINN:  Thank you for that question.  I am going to try to break it down in the order you provided it.

We contemplate that these solutions could be in place for upwards of three to five years.  I had mentioned 2027.  The Dawn LTFP contracts are long-term contracts in place until 2027.  Yes, LTFP shippers can get out of those contracts should they want to, but there are penalties associated with doing that, and in our knowledge very 
few -- almost no LTFP shipper has changed its mind in the value of that service.

Now, if things change over time and TransCanada continues to try to utilize its existing assets the best way it can, and therefore there could be an extension of these LTFP-type arrangements beyond 2027.  So the availability of this service is in the here and now, but may be available in the future.

In terms of reliability, the contracting we are talking about is of the same reliability as the Parkway delivery obligation that has been in place and has basically served Ontario for 35 years now.

And so we would look to the utility and their involvement with this to establish the same degree of certainty in their contracting, with the appropriate financial assurances and mechanisms to ensure that firm delivery is met and maintained, you know, as the shipper would be obligated to do.

The challenging factor with some of this is TransCanada's involvement with this, but we believe that that could be facilitated and I didn't have enough time to put that aspect into our presentation.  But it is, again, very doable, so the reliability is the same as it has been historically with PDO and the solutions can be in place for the medium term, I would say at this point, and what that looks like will really depend on how the Ontario market evolves over the next five to seven years.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you very much for that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Quinn, I just want to explore a little bit this notion of the menu.  I guess what I am trying to understand is -- you know, we are developing a framework here.  So it's a framework for constraints going forward, for things that we need to do going forward.

So I am trying to understand what this menu would look like, what we need to know about this menu at this time of developing a framework.  So, you know, are you saying that for the framework, we need to -- you're looking for us to have supply-side options, the timing for those, that could include things similar to a PDO -- displacements, I think is what you're looking for.  So you're looking for that to be part of the framework.

So then I guess my question is, is the menu then developed when you are looking at a specific constraint. So with that constraint, there would be a menu of supply-side options?  Or is that menu simply part of the framework?  I am not quite understanding that.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.  I appreciate the opportunity to hopefully create more clarity.  The menu would be part of the framework.  It would be developed -- as I said, it could be started later this year, wherein evidence is provided to the Board to establish the efficacy of supply-side solutions, demand-side solutions, that could be reasonably compared with facility solutions.

In having those alternatives understood, vetted, and accepted by the Board, then not only the utility but potentially other parties could draw from that menu in making application to the Board or, if I could suggest this, in possibly opposing the application of the utility or for a facility to say no, I believe this menu item provides what this demand could be met with, and it could be met with more effectively given some of the economic tests that, again, Mr. Neme -- we support what Mr. Neme was saying about the economics and the tests that could be applied under that type of testing proponents of alternates different from facilities could have choices that it could advance to the Board in a proceeding, which the Board could then reasonably consider in balance with what the utility may be applying for as a facility application.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  So I am still not following how in the -- typically, you have a constraint that you're trying to address.  And then in looking at that constraint, you would be looking at the various options including supply-side options and DSM, those sorts of things, pipelines, all options.

So isn't -- I am still not understanding why that's not the time to look at the menu, when you're actually looking at a constraint.  Because if you've -- a menu in a framework, I mean, the framework is here's the things you need to look at and when you need to look at them.

So there's something I am not quite missing as to why that part of the step isn't once you have got a framework and now you have a constraint, so you are looking at options.

MR. QUINN:  I understand.  It's a different way of looking at it, and I may not be making myself clear.  But the menu established up front would allow parties to know what may be available.  And I don't want to speak at all for Mr. Neme; I have great respect for him.

But if he were to have a solution that he would say that to meet this demand, I believe this solution which is on this preferred menu already, this could work.  But it's going to take three years for it to work, and I am understanding demand has to be met in this next year, year and a half.  He could also draw on the fact that there's supply-side solutions that could act as bridging mechanisms to allow his solution to be ultimately implemented and meet the demand in a more effective manner.

So by having the menu up front, it provides stakeholders with the opportunity to advance integrated resource ideas that may have multiple components to meet the same demand.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, I think I will leave it there for now.  And any follow-ups on that?  No, we are good.

Anyway, thank you, Mr. Quinn.  That was very, very helpful.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  And where are we?  We are at 2:37 and I am looking at my schedule.  We were going to take a break at 2:40, so I think we will go ahead and take that break so we will keep to the schedule in case people are signing in and out, and thank you very much Mr. Quinn.

MR. QUINN:  Thank you.
--- Recess taken at 2:38 p.m.
--- On resuming at 2:56 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Hello, everyone.  So next on our list is Anwaatin, and is that you, Mr. McGillivray, or is Ms. DeMarco here as well?  Oh, and we have got Mr. Richardson.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  We have Mr. Richardson, and then we have Larry Sault on the line an as well, and I will just get things rolling and then I will pass it over to them.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  Thank you.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  I am just going to share my screen. Can you see that okay?

MS. ANDERSON:  Yes, thank you.
ANWAATIN
Jonathan McGillivray
Elder Larry Sault
John Richardson
Presentation by Mr. McGillivray:

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Thank you.  Good afternoon, Commissioners.  My name is Jonathan McGillivray.  I am counsel for Anwaatin in this proceeding, together with my co‑counsel, Lisa DeMarco.  Elder Larry Sault and Dr. Don Richardson will be giving a presentation on behalf of Anwaatin today, and I would just like to introduce each of them and briefly introduce Anwaatin.

Mr. Larry Sault is the president and CEO of Anwaatin and brings over 25 years of Indigenous leadership experience working with First Nations and Inuit of Canada, American Indian tribes, Aboriginal Australians, and Maori of New Zealand.

Mr. Sault has spent several terms on elected council at Mississaugas of the Credit First Nation, most recently from 2017 through 2019, interacting with Chiefs of Ontario and the Assembly of First Nations on several files, including business development.

Above and beyond his political life, he has held executive-level positions with most private-sector and non‑profit organizations.  He was chairman of the National Task Force on Access to Capital for First Nations, working with the big five banks, corporations, and governments to resolve shortfalls in capital for infrastructure development at the community level.

Dr. Don Richardson is the senior technical advisor with Anwaatin and has over 25 years of experience as a skilled facilitator supporting project implementation and impact assessments in building the agreements between energy, infrastructure, and resource management, project proponents, community and non‑governmental organizations, government agencies, and rural and Indigenous communities.  He fosters constructive engagement, creates shared value between communities and infrastructure proponents.

Anwaatin is an Indigenous not-for-profit that advocates for Indigenous communities in linked energy markets.  Its mission is to ensure that Indigenous communities are afforded reliable and affordable energy and have a central role in energy‑related climate-change action.  Anwaatin's Indigenous membership for this proceeding includes Aroland First Nation, Animbiigoo Zaagi'igan Anishinaabek Nation, and Ginoogaming First Nation.

The Anwaatin First Nations have traditional territory and associated constitutional rights and interests that may be impacted by the outcomes of this proceeding.

I would now like to turn things over to Dr. Richardson to get us started, with my thanks.
Presentation by Mr. Richardson:

MR. RICHARDSON:  Thank you, Jonathan, and thank you, everybody, for enabling us to be here today.  We'd like to make sure that everybody understands that Anwaatin is probably one of the only Indigenous voices at the OEB and certainly in this proceeding.  The image that you see there is from May 5th, 2016, which is the first time that the Ontario Energy Board had a hearing -- was privileged to have a smudging ceremony that Elder Larry Sault was able to provide, and that was back at the EB‑2016‑0004 hearing with respect to the expansion of natural gas service to unserved rural remote and First Nation communities.

As Jonathan also mentioned, Larry is the former Grand Chief of the Association of Iroquois and Allied Indians and the former Chief of the Mississaugas of the Credit, and for the past several years Larry and Anwaatin have been working with Lisa DeMarco now of Resilient LLP as counsel to Anwaatin, and with Lisa, Anwaatin has been before the Board for numerous proceedings representing the rights and interests of several First Nations.

Next slide.

So as we understand this proceeding, Enbridge is seeking Board approval and establishment of an integrated resource planning policy framework to guide its assessment of IRP alternatives, or IRPAs, and the evidence includes a proposed IRP guiding principles, IRPA screening and evaluation criteria and assessment processes, IRP cost recovery treatment, IRPA application structure and principles, and IRPA monitoring and reporting.

Next slide.

And the view that Anwaatin has is that the Board should ensure that impacts to First Nations' rights and interests are addressed as this moves forward and that fundamentally the duty to consult and accommodate is of primary importance to ensuring that First Nations' rights and interests are addressed and protected in Crown decision-making.

Enbridge's proposed IRP framework may not include sufficient protection of the procedural rights for First Nations to be consulted on the IRP, IRPAs, and other non‑pipe alternatives.

Consulting with and engaging First Nations, in our experience, produces win‑win outcomes, including First Nation commercial investments in sustainable energy projects.

We are going to provide some examples of that, and I will pass over to Larry.
Presentation by Elder Sault:

MR. SAULT:  So good afternoon, everyone.  Is my voice coming through okay?  Beautiful.

So on this particular -- one of the top agenda items for the federal government and the Assembly of First Nations right now is Bill C-15, which is the UNDRIP, Declaration of the Rights of Indigenous Peoples, together with the TRC, has been a focal point since its release in 2015.  Those two documents are major issues with respect to First Nations, not only in Ontario, but in fact nationally in the country, and UNDRIP is not just aspirational, it is a codification, I guess, in our view, of minimum standards for Indigenous peoples that Canada must address.

And I know there's been a lot of dialogue with respect to UNDRIP for many years now, and from the Indigenous side we have certain views on what that means for us as well, as we know Canada has certain views.  We know that industry has their views of UNDRIP under Canadian law, and from our perspective UNDRIP provides that state shall consult and cooperate with Indigenous peoples to obtain their free, prior, and informed consent prior to legislative measures or approval of any project.

I guess one of the major discussion points politically has been politically -- both politically and legally has been the question of veto, and it's argued that veto basically gives the Indigenous community power over projects that's within their traditional treaty lands.  However, in my view that is not the case.  It is about -- for our perspective, it's about inclusion from the beginning.  At the very beginning stages of these types of initiatives it's about inclusion on the processes as we move forward.

Also within the framework of the UNDRIP states shall establish a fair, independent, impartial, open, and transparent process to recognize Indigenous rights.  This, to many of our discussions, is an issue about intergovernmental relations, and it's a practical point of view of intergovernmental relations, it's about equity investments in business, jobs, wealth creation, long‑term sustainability in our homelands, and as you know, there's overlapping treaties throughout the province of Ontario, as well as throughout Canada.

Next slide.

So the whole issue of free, prior, and informed consent, the duty to consult becomes an issue.  And I think one of the biggest challenges is this myth that's been around for a long time, and that is that Indigenous Peoples are against development.  But nothing could be further from the truth.  We are not against development at all.  The duty to consult basically is a legal obligation to consult with Indigenous peoples, where Crown decisions or actions that may adversely impact asserted established Aboriginal or treaty rights are contemplated.

Over the last -- I have been involved in my own community here with the portfolio of business development.  Firsthand I have worked on projects, so I understand clearly this whole question of duty to consult and how it gets misconstrued, I suppose, but a positive obligation to reasonably ensure that Indigenous peoples are provided with all necessary information in a timely way, so that they have an opportunity to express their interests and concerns, and to ensure that their representations are seriously considered and wherever possible, demonstrably integrated into the proposed plan of action.

One of the gaps that we have in our communities is obviously remote factors in some of the territories in the north, language barriers within our communities in terms of understanding sort of the technical details, and guys like Don and I are trying to be that conduit to help our First Nations deal with these types of issues in terms of language barriers, remote barriers, things like that, that sometimes I think gets lost in the concrete jungle of Toronto and every major city across the country that we in First Nations out in rural remote areas, people really may be out of sight out of mind, if you will, and often the results in creative economic reconciliation to address impacts on rights and interests especially for energy projects.

So I think from a very practical level, the UN declaration in this particular means free, prior and informed consent is simply a practical side of being able to mitigate some of the problems that we've encountered over the last number of years in inter-governmental relations with provinces and the federal governments.

I guess here I'd like to say that in 2018, the Mississaugas of the credit signed off with the federal government on what we called a consultation protocol, and that was because of some of the problems with we have had within our treaty territory with industry, particularly in solar energy projects and some of the Hydro One projects, and some of the -- I guess what they call Lake Erie connector for us.  But as a result of some of the challenges that we've had, we saw it necessary to create a protocol agreement with Indigenous Crown relations and the federal government.

And within that document, they talk about the provincial perspective and municipal perspective in terms of working relationships with First Nations.  So we have tried to make that as practical as we possibly could in terms of some of the challenges that we had.

In terms of -- Don, is this me, or is this you?  The next slide?

MR. RICHARDSON:  Yeah, thanks Larry.  One of the things that Larry speaks of quite a bit is economic reconciliation, so probably everybody is familiar with the concept of reconciliation and if you've read the TRC report, you'll have a good understanding of what reconciliation means to First Nations across Canada.

Reconciliation is typically described as coming to terms with events of the past in a manner that overcomes conflict, and establishes a respectful and healthy relationships among people going forward.

And Canada did accept all the recommendations in the truth and reconciliation report, including the call for federal, provincial, territorial and municipal governments to fully adopt and implement the UN Declaration on the Rights of Indigenous Peoples as the framework for reconciliation, and to develop a national action plan, strategies and other concrete measures to achieve the goals of UNDRIP.

As you may know, the federal government has tabled legislation on UNDRIP, and that's -- I think it's just gone through first reading.  So it's quite likely to continue moving forward and potentially become law in Canada.

Economic reconciliation is an adjunct to reconciliation and creates meaningful partnerships, mutually beneficial opportunities by finding shared value between -- in the case of energy, between energy project proponents and Indigenous communities.

And the image on the right is one of the earliest examples of economic reconciliation in Ontario, in which Six Nations natural gas, which serves Six Nations and serves Mississaugas of the credit, where Larry is sitting today, is the First Nations owned natural gas utility and it was formed from a partnership initially between Union Gas, which is now Enbridge, to start to develop an improved natural gas distribution network for Six Nations and the Mississaugas of Credit.  It's been around for a number of years and it's functioning quite well. 

Next slide.

So a little bit more on energy projects and economic reconciliation.  So the history of economic reconciliation around energy projects in Canada we believe demonstrates that the duty to consult has been a primary driver of win-win sustainable energy project investments that also address issues of energy poverty and energy reliability.

And so for example -- and these are files that the Board will be very familiar with -- the Bruce to Milton transmission line, which now includes a major equity investment by Mississauga and Ojibway nations. It's Mississauga First Nation and the Chippewas of Nawash together.  They formed something called B2M Limited Partnership, and they now own -- I believe it's one-third of a section of the electricity transmission line that is operated by Hydro One Networks Inc.

I am sure you are all familiar with the east-west tie transmission line.  This is a major equity investment by these six First Nations that were impacted by that project.  And I know that one quite well, as I have been personally involved in that since the First Nations first came together to look at how they would get an equity stake in that project.

Another one that the Board should also be familiar with is a partnership between Ojibwe First Nation, Well Fire Island First Nation, and Northland Power.  The two First Nations came together and they formed FM Energy Corporation as a partner with Northland Power for a hundred-megawatt wind project near Grand Bend, Ontario.

In each of the three cases I just talked about, there were significant impacts on First Nations' rights and interests, and economic reconciliation was one of the mechanisms to address the UN declaration on the rights of Indigenous people, or at least the essence of what that is all about, and providing the First Nations involved with, you know, significant opportunities to generate additional revenues for their communities that can be used for things like healthcare, education, social programs, et cetera, et cetera, all of the things that these First Nations strive to achieve to better the livelihoods of their constituents.

And finally, I mentioned earlier Six Nations Natural Gas, which was originally a partnership between Union Gas and Six Nations, now a natural gas company limited, and was created as the first natural gas utility to be owned and built by a First Nation community in Canada that supplies now over 24000 customers in Six Nations and Mississaugas of Credit First Nation.

Larry, I'll pass over to you for the next point.

MR. SAULT:  As I mentioned a little earlier, every time I have been elected into my First Nation council here after serving as chief for several years, I have carried the portfolio for business development.  And we, in 2018, have seen some major, major breakthroughs, for us at least, in terms of business development.

One of the greatest challenges that First Nations has and that is the whole concept of seven generation thinking.  We have to set the tone, and our Elders have consistently said to us that we have to think seven generations out when we sit in a capacity of leadership in our territories.

And with respect to that, we saw ourselves from the Mississauga of the Credit as being able to be equity partners in opportunities that were within our treaty lands, and we still see our treaty lands as pretty vast.  And if we are going to deal with seven generations in terms of long-term sustainability, we have to be able to deal with industries in terms of own source revenues and being able to generate our own revenues.

So we had two major projects under -- somewhat under my tutelage, I suppose, and it was interesting for the one that I deem as Nanticoke Solar, that was a 20-year deal, that was a 20-year deal with renewable opportunity at the end of that 20 years.  And that deal came on a handshake.  Believe it or not, that deal came on a handshake with, then, Mike Martelli, who was president of renewable generation with OPG.  Mike and I basically, through a couple of meetings we -- we -- they needed a sign-off from the Mississaugas of the Credit and our treaty lands, and we were not even part of any major discussions with respect to the Nanticoke solar, and we wouldn't sign off on the environmental assessment, simply because we were not adequately consulted, but we didn't make a big issue out of it.  I was the guy that was responsible to go in and clear the air on that.  And we did, absolutely.  We got that deal done on a handshake and let our lawyers take -- go ahead -- everything was on-track with their environmental assessment.  I agreed that I would get our chief and council on board and move the agenda forward, which we did, and it turned out to be a 20-year deal.  Everything was on time, from a handshake.  Let our lawyers do their work.  I intervened with Mike if we needed to, if there was any stumbling blocks that came in the way, but that was very successful.

With the Niagara reinforcement line, the same thing.  We have a 20-year deal with the Niagara reinforcement line and Six Nations of the Grand River and Hydro One, very successful project, created financing for us on a $10 million investment, and those are the kind of deals our First Nations is open for, and we want to be included.  We want to be a part of the process from the beginning, when there's initiatives happening within our treaty lands.

Thank you.
Presentation by Mr. Richardson:


MR. RICHARDSON:  Thanks, Jonathan.  So this is another example of economic and energy reconciliation that is -- I will say it's an emerging example.  So up near the town of Geraldton there is a very large gold mine that is moving forward to a significant investment.  It's cleared all of the approvals, and there's a major goldmining company that's come in to move the project forward.

And I have been working with Aroland, Ginoogaming and AZA First Nation in a partnership that they've formed called Minodahmun Development LP.  They have formed their own economic development corporation.  And because of the location of this mine, which is on the A4L Hydro One transmission line, which is one of the least reliable transmission lines in Ontario, if not North America, that transmission line doesn't have the capacity to service the 65 megawatts of power needed to operate the mine, so in order for the mine to move forward they have to build a 65-megawatt combined heat and power plant to power their -- just their needs, and they have chosen to not be a grid-connected mine because of the challenges that they see going forward, and so they've decided to provide their own power.

The First Nations are advancing plans to become a First Nation-owned 65-megawatt power operator in conjunction with the mine.

Next slide.

So Minodahmun Development LP has some variation in plans for what to do with the 65-megawatt combined heat and power plant.  It will be fuelled by natural gas.  The mine project, which has completed both federal and provincial environmental assessments, it includes planned construction of approximately 10 kilometres of new natural gas pipeline which would run from the TransCanada main line just to the north, through the town of Geraldton, and directly to the mine.  They are looking at having a heat exchanger.  That will provide heat to some of the mine operations but, more importantly, to the First Nations, to a greenhouse, which would enable them to use excess heat to help with greenhouse production, and what's really important when you are doing greenhouse production is to sequester and use the carbon dioxide, when you pump that into the greenhouse and the plants love it and you can grow lots of good fresh vegetables in an area where buying fresh produce is extremely expensive and you can't always get good-quality fresh produce.

They are also looking at providing additional CHP energy to the region itself.  Because of the energy reliability issues and the lack of additional power that's available through Hydro One's A4L line, the population in this area is going to double once the mine's operating, and right now there's no plans on the books through the IESO to be able to service the additional power needs of that population once it's doubled its size, and so the First Nations are looking at the potential of adding more -- more natural gas engines to the CHP so that they would be able to also be a grid-connected provider to that region.

And so, you know, they're very interested in this concept of distributed energy resources, and one of the First Nations, Aroland First Nation, has some direct experience with distributed energy resources through the battery energy storage system, or BESS, that was a result of the Anwaatin and Hydro One settlement proposal from June 15, 2018, in EB-2017-0335.  And that battery energy storage system is about to be commissioned and attached to the grid serving the First Nation of Aroland, with some potential to add on solar power to that system and potentially to enable the battery energy storage system plus solar to be part of a micro-grid distribution system into the First Nation to manage the local loads.

They are also considering opportunities for participating in new natural gas distribution and energy supply opportunities, and some of those may be connected to what's happening with the new pipeline coming into the mine.  Aroland First Nation in particular is not a gas-grid-connected community, and despite the fact that it's fairly close to the TransCanada main line, there are no lateral lines off the TransCanada main line to service Aroland First Nation in the nearby non-First Nation community of Nakina, so they are very interested in how can they get gas, because they look at the energy costs that they pay compared to the energy costs of their sister community of Ginoogaming that is gas-grid-connected, and the energy costs are much, much lower and the energy reliability is much better in a community that is gas-grid-connected.

So they are looking at all the various opportunities they can play a role in around natural gas distribution and energy supply opportunities, some of which may be connected to the new natural gas pipeline that will be attached to the mine, as well as other area projects, such as the LNG project approach that has been outlined in the corporation of the Town of Marathon's project, EB-2018-0329, which Anwaatin and these First Nations have also been participating in.

Next slide.

So we've looked very carefully at what Enbridge is proposing.  You know, Anwaatin and the First Nations that we are working with are also very familiar with Enbridge's Indigenous Peoples policy.  And I will draw your attention to the upper right paragraph in that policy, which says -- which Enbridge says:

"We engage in forthright and sincere consultation with Indigenous peoples about Enbridge's projects and operations through processes that seek to achieve early and meaningful engagement so their input can help define our projects that may occur on lands traditionally used by Indigenous peoples."

And Anwaatin's position is that at a minimum the commitments of Enbridge's Indigenous Peoples policy should be reflected in its proposed IRP framework and applied if that framework is approved.

And over to you, Larry.

MR. SAULT:  So I just want to pick back up on Don's final comment there, but we can't -- we can't emphasize that enough, that at a minimum the commitments of Enbridge's Indigenous People's policy should be reflected in its proposed IRP framework and applied if framework is approved.

The last slide is talking, obviously, about regulated facilities and how they improve access to capital, and again, I am the one that's held a lot of the business side when I have been elected on to my council, and I am involved with other First Nations in business development opportunities.

The history of Indigenous energy investment in Ontario and elsewhere demonstrates that regulated facilities improve opportunities for Indigenous investment groups to access capital, reduce the cost of money, enable Indigenous investment groups to work with established, high-quality investment partners and project development partners, and it also improves the overall rate of return and risk of context for Indigenous investment groups.

I seriously encourage industry to consider these comments here for Anwaatin, in terms of the First Nation overlaps of treaty lands all throughout Ontario, we all have a vested interest.  And if nobody wants to stop anybody, at least from my perspective, we want to be a participator. we want to be a part of the process.

And finally, may I just suggest that most Indigenous communities in Ontario are ready to roll up their sleeves and help Enbridge and OEB become the North American leaders in economic reconciliation.  And I am sincere when I talk like that.  I want to see us have a working relationship that we don't have to butt heads at each other, but to have a streamlined process as we move forward together.

We're good.  Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you.  And now for questions from commissioners.  Ms. Frank, do you have any questions?

MS. FRANK:  Thank you.  I was having trouble unmuting there, but I finally managed.

I certainly -- actually, I have worked in the past with Anwaatin and at one point in time, I was looking at developments.  And certainly there is the opportunity to benefit from the partnership on capital projects.  So I have seen it work, and it works very well.

My question actually relates to what we are considering here where it's alternatives to actually building of assets.  So not building pipelines, but instead of pipelines coming up with something that actually may reduce the load growth, or may create additional supply, or a whole variety of items that actually doesn't result in a physical asset and it doesn't actually use the land.

So I am wondering how Anwaatin sees their participation on things that are not land-based.  What would you see as Anwaatin's role in that?

MR. RICHARDSON:  Could you maybe provide some examples?

MS. FRANK:  Oh we've had quite a few.  So demand side management type activities, so there's things that encourage people to do home improvements and therefore reduce their consumption.  And already those type of programs are available through people -- you know, throughout Ontario.  So it's not a new program, but it may be something that is area-specific.

So if there's an area where there's a constraint and the -- what would have happened in the past is a new pipeline would have been built to deal with that constraint.  Today, we are looking at is there an alternative to the new pipeline.  So don't build the new pipeline, but instead find a way to reduce the need and reduce the growth that was originally forecast, and there's a whole host of things that are being considered.

We just had a presentation where the idea was maybe we can look at getting supply to the area that displaces the need for the new pipe.  This is not to say a new pipe might not be needed and it might still be one of the things that's considered.  But if it turns out that the alternative that is not land-based is the recommended alternative, what -- you know, what does Anwaatin see is its involvement in that?

MR. RICHARDSON:  Larry, if you're okay, I will take this one.

I think you have to start with the understanding of what's already there and on whose lands, whose territory it's already on.  Some of the assets where something like demand management could be met could be on First Nation reserve territory, certainly on First Nation traditional territory, and there will very likely be, you know, Indigenous First Nation, could be Metis, constituents who are part of the utilities' consumers for a demand management program.  Or they could actually be the distribution entity themselves through a First Nation owned entity and would be able to drive forward with that kind of demand management program.

So I think it's important to again go back to the basic principles of early consultation and meaningful consultation to look at both the consumers side, the Indigenous consumers side and the Indigenous ownership/ operator side to see what roles people are currently playing and what roles they could play going into the future.

MS. FRANK:  And I know that certainly the demand-side management, there has been a lot of programs have actually been tailored towards those communities and they have been tailored as a result of the consultation.  So I know that a consultation is important.

But I am struggling with the notion -- I have heard a lot in your presentation about equity involvement, and I just wondered how does that fit in?  Is there a fit?  What does that look like?

MR. RICHARDSON:  One of the things we are seeing with First Nations we work with is a steady and stronger interest in becoming equity partners in distribution networks, especially in northern Ontario.  You may be aware of the Five Nations energy transmission line, which also includes five independently owned First Nations distribution systems for electricity distribution.

Lots of First Nations are looking -- partly because of challenges with Hydro One on the distribution side, but looking at future opportunities to become part of energy distribution systems and not simply recipients.

And so that I think that interest is going to materialize over the next few years, and probably we will all see much more involvement of First Nations in whether it's natural gas or electricity or both, but more involvement on the distribution side of the equation.

MS. FRANK:  So just one last attempt at this.  What we are about is trying to figure out what a framework would look like for integrated resource plan, integrated across a whole variety of different alternatives to dealing with a problem of supply in an area.  So the demand is increasing or there's currently a problem of supply in the area, and we are looking at alternatives.

So what our job is to come -- it's no particular investment in mind here; it's just a framework.  So what are the things to consider, how is the process going to work.

So my question is:  How do you see the engagement for Anwaatin being any different than the engagement for other parties because there is no project here, right?  We don't -- we are not talking about a project, we are just talking about a framework.  So what would you feel would be necessary to satisfy Anwaatin's participation?

MR. RICHARDSON:  Well, right now, just looking at the process to date, there doesn't appear to be much if any record of First Nation-Métis consultation for the IRP, at least we're not aware of any substantial consultation record.  If you look at the circumstances of most First Nations across Ontario, they're dealing with fairly significant issues of energy poverty and significant issues of energy reliability; the two things tend to go hand in hand.

And so as consumers and, in some cases, as players in the provision of energy, First Nations tend to be very focussed on finding ways to improve energy reliability and improve circumstances of energy poverty.  And the only way that's going to happen is if there is, you know, meaningful consultation and engagement with whichever parties are proposing to move forward, whether it's demand management or new infrastructure. 

But to be at the table and be part of those dialogues so that, you know, the types of settlements like the Board saw with Hydro One and Anwaatin for the battery energy storage system, those types of things can actually happen, they can move forward, because the parties are at a table and having a constructive meaningful dialogue and working to actually understand the very unique circumstances, particularly in First Nation communities, around reliability and energy poverty and, you know, working to meaningfully find appropriate solutions for those circumstances.  That doesn't tend to happen naturally; it needs a push.

MS. FRANK:  Okay, so there will be more opportunities -- this is just the first day of the presentation day, and I know that you have been involved in the technical conference as well.  But there will be many more opportunities for your thoughts on what is helpful and necessary, and I think we'd appreciate if you could be a little bit more specific or concrete as to what we could do.

Okay.  So I am going to leave my questions at that.

MS. ANDERSON:  Mr. Janigan?  Michael, you are on -- were you going to ask questions?  He is frozen.  I think we will have to move on.  He looks like -- it looks like -- I will go ahead and ask my questions, and hopefully he will get unfrozen at that point.

So I guess my question was on --


MR. JANIGAN:  I don't [audio dropout]


MS. ANDERSON:  Michael?  No.  Now, is he gone?  Okay.  Staff, help me out here.

MR. MILLAR:  It looks like we have lost him, Madam Chair.  Let's see if we can track him down.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  See if you can -- in the meantime, I will ask my question.  It's all transcribed, so he will have the opportunity to see that.

I was interested in the Enbridge Indigenous Peoples policy, and you provided this excerpt from -- and what I just wanted to know -- I mean, we obviously have that excerpt now on the record.  Is the -- there, he is back, but I will just finish my question -- and he is frozen again.

Is that entire policy on the record at this proceeding such as, you know, when it was dated, were there any interrogatories on it?  So I just want to know what's on the record as far as that policy.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Madam Chair, I will be able to help a little bit on that.  That actually is the entirety of the policy.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  It's all on that slide, and it is on the record.  I will have to check the interrogatory response, but it was included, actually, as a hyperlink in response to an Anwaatin interrogatory, but I think it is all on that slide.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  I --


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  It's just a one-page policy.

MS. ANDERSON:  So it's current, as in, it was a link, so it's currently on Enbridge's website; is that what we take from that?

MR. McGILLIVRAY:  Yes.

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay.  We will have the opportunity to probe Enbridge about that as well when we proceed further.

So that was my question.  It looks like we have Mr. Janigan back, and hopefully that works.

MR. JANIGAN:  Thank you.  My understanding of the position of Anwaatin in this proceeding is -- is that, I mean, there is a priority for the development of affordable [audio dropout]


MS. ANDERSON:  I don't know if Michael can still hear us, but we might have to have him ask the question without video on if he is having some network issues.

MR. MILLAR:  Yes, we are trying to contact him to relay that message, Madam Chair.  I am not sure if he is getting the messages.

MR. JANIGAN:  -- energy to [audio dropout]


MS. ANDERSON:  I think we have just lost him again.  We will give him a couple minutes.

MR. JANIGAN:  It's a pretty twitchy connection.  Can anybody hear me now?

MS. ANDERSON:  We can hear you, thank you.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  I don't know how far along I have got to that --


MS. ANDERSON:  Pretty much nothing.  No.  Not having any luck here.

MR. MILLAR:  Maybe, Madam Chair, we should take five and see if we can get Mr. Janigan.

MR. JANIGAN:  What I was trying to do in the preface was this [audio dropout]


MR. MILLAR:  Yes, maybe we should try and -- I am in your hands, Madam Chair, but obviously there is some connectivity issues here, which we may be able to fix if we have a couple of minutes, but it's very difficult to do on the fly.

MS. ANDERSON:  Let's take five.

MR. MILLAR:  Okay.  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thanks.
--- Recess taken at 3:41 p.m.
--- On resuming at 3:45 p.m.


MS. ANDERSON:  Our apologies to everyone.  We are going to try it with Mr. Janigan on phone only to see if he can ask his question.  Are you there?


MR. JANIGAN:  I'm here.


MS. ANDERSON:  Good.


MR. JANIGAN:  Sorry about that.  For some reason, the internet has been a little twitchy today.


But my question was -- as I understand the position of Anwaatin, its primary concern is associated with the delivery of affordable energy to First Nations and in the event that that involves facilities on lands of the First Nations, that there has to be sufficient consultation and in fact ability to perhaps have a stake in the investment.


Would that be correct?


MR. RICHARDSON:  It's not just the cost, but it's also the reliability which is a substantial issue, particularly in the north.


MR. JANIGAN:  Yes.


MR. RICHARDSON:  And it's not simply about new facilities, but about existing facilities where Indigenous people are consumers of energy supply and in some cases are producers and distributors of energy.


But I think to go back to previous questions, when there are, let's say, demand management programs that are being proposed, I would think you would want to engage very meaningfully with the people who are demanding these energy supplies, and are using those energy supplies and fully understand what their circumstances are.


One of the challenges that we have seen over the years here in Ontario, with First Nations in particular, is that there really isn't as granular or robust an understanding of what happens at the community level and what the challenges are at the community level. And when we were intervening with them, one of the results being that agreement with Hydro One for the battery energy storage system, is that came out as a solution because there was very little understanding of what's happening on the demand side of that particular First Nation and the First Nations across that region, when the power goes out.


And those of us in the south, you know, if the power goes out for 24 hours, say, we can go to Loblaws and fill a basketful of food, stick it in our car and drive home, and we have experienced some minor inconvenience for, you know, a day or two.


If you are a person in the First Nation in the north and the power goes out for 24 hours, the food that you have harvested, you have hunted, you have fished for, you have gathered and stored in freezers for future use for perhaps four to six months into the future, you lose all of that food.  And you have to go back and get that food in order to sustain the life of your family, and you can't just go to Loblaws.  You have got to go back to land; you have got to hunt it, fish it, harvest it, and it's a very different situation.


So demand management in a First Nation like Aroland is a very different thing than demand management in downtown Toronto.  And you only learn that if you consult, engage, communicate, and jointly come up with solutions with the people involved, not just impose solutions that we may think will work, but we don't really know will work because you haven't actually talked to the people involved and worked in collaboration with them on solutions.


MR. JANIGAN:  Okay, thank you very much for that.


MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you very much for your presentation, Anwaatin.  We appreciate the time taken, and unless there's anything, Mr. McGillivray, you wanted to close with before we move on?


MR. McGILLIVRAY:  No, that's it for me.  Thank you, Madam Chair.


MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you very much, gentlemen.


MR. RICHARDSON:  Thank you.


MS. ANDERSON:  And we will move on to Mr. Brophy, our last of the day, and Pollution Probe.

POLLUTION PROBE

Michael Brophy

Presentation by Mr. Brophy:


MR. BROPHY:  Okay, thank you.  I will just pull up the presentation here.  Can everyone see that?  Great, terrific, thank you.


Good afternoon, Madam Chair and Panel members.  Thank you for the opportunity to present today.  Hopefully, I have no internet trouble, but so far it's been pretty good, thank you.


First, I'd like to start with just a slide on some context.  For some reason, the video is over my slides -- there, that's better.


So I wanted to just start first off by recognizing that there was input and collaboration from other parties and stakeholders, and I wanted to thank them and recognize that input because it is certainly has been valuable in putting this together.  And in fact, everything that we send in, including the letters and other materials in this proceeding, and often in others are done in collaboration with other stakeholders as listed there.


This approach in particular reduces the overall number of intervenors in the proceeding and helps consolidate information, so that it can be considered in an efficient manner.  So hopefully, that is of value to the Board.


Okay.  So we are talking about the IRP framework and transparent and effective -- an effective IRP framework may be one of the most important things that the Board does this decade, in our opinion.  There's obviously a lot that goes on at the Board.  They have a lot on their plate including DER and other big items.


But basically, you know, a natural gas IRP, even though it's been tried to be tackled in the past in ways through DSM and other things, you know, it's become the time now that if it doesn't get dealt with, Ontario's going to get left behind and it will be hard to catch up.  So an effective shift from old-school planning and implementation relating to gas infrastructure is one of the biggest challenges moving forward, and this proceeding will hopefully move that forward and help to deal with that.


So effective IRP is also not a business as usual scenario or old-fashioned siloed planning, as we've seen over the last 50, 60 years plus.  Energy planning and implementation needs to be consumer-centric, fuel agnostic, and aligned with things like community energy and emissions planning across Ontario.  Building an effective IRP framework is a difficult task and the record in this proceeding has been enhanced due to the flexible approach by the OEB, and we thank you for that open, transparent and inclusive approach.


Other presenters have done a good job today in covering several of the issues that will need to be addressed, and I am going to try to avoid duplication.  I think many of those presenters did a good job on those items.  So even though I skip them, if there's question on them, I can certainly address that as well.


Mr. Neme also did a good job, fairly comprehensive in identifying issues around things like the cost-effectiveness test.  I didn't plan to speak much about the specific cost-effectiveness test today, but I would like to echo the comments that the DCF alone is inappropriate for IRP assessment.  And when we look back even to the early '90s, the OEB through EBO 169 set the societal cost test, SCT, as the base test in Ontario, which then a proxy for that was the TRC test, and the TRC plus test that's currently used for DSM, as Mr. Neme had outlined, is consistent with that approach as well.


Okay.  So this table is just a quick snapshot of what the shift needs to be.  It's moving from that old fashioned paradigm to a new modern reliable and sustainable paradigm that's needed in Ontario.


So I won't read everything on the slide, as you can probably read it faster than I can talk.  But it's 
around -- you know, old-fashioned is around utility-centric planning, it's siloed, little integration between those departmental and process silos, short-term decision-making, so, you know, when, say, a leave to construct or even things that aren't leave to construct, smaller facilities that still cost money and should be considered are looked at, they're done in a silo often, and then, as we've seen, even in the current waterfront leave-to-construct case currently before the Board, it had been considered a little bit in the Don River, but now it's back again.  So, you know, a more comprehensive approach is needed.

Also, there's often urgent applications that come forward.  It's -- probably the majority come forward saying, you know, we need a decision within -- it's usually within about three or four months, or certainly within six, and that's a very tight timeline in relation to that.

And then, you know, the consultation process is talked about there.  There's little to no meaningful stakeholder consultation.  You know, Anwaatin went over consultation.  That's value that -- that actually -- those principles apply to all stakeholders as well, as far as when you consult you get a better outcome and include that meaningful consultation.

And then, you know, moving to what's needed, again, consumer-centric planning, includes broader policy consideration, including energy and emissions planning, open and transparent stakeholder communication, and input.

So go back and not just do consultation, but then show how you used it in the product, and that's not usually done these days -- these days.

Long-term decision-making's needed, and promoting the best options for Ontario consumers.

So, you know, at the end of the day it gets down to a message of transparency, transparency, and more transparency, basically, is the bottom line.

And there's been lots of examples of, you know, projects recently that -- that would have been better off if they had aligned with that more modern paradigm.

So I will just move on to why an OEB-mandated IRP framework is required.  Some of the other presenters have talked about what's been looked at in the past.  OEB decisions have been made to raise the bar, but there's been little to no progress, and so, you know, that bar has to be raised.

We will talk a little bit later about, you know, some of the recent guidance from the Board about raising that bar and expectations that are required as well.

Enbridge has indicated it requires OEB guidance and direction to move forward, so, you know, they are admitting that they don't know what to do, I think, and it is a process that they are learning through this, and they really need that guidance, and also having direction and decisions from the Board drives some of the changes that are going to be required at Enbridge as well that they may not be able to do or in fact won't -- won't do unless those decisions come through.

Currently there's no policies, procedures, or manuals that address IRP, but Enbridge has indicated once the OEB directs them to that they would then develop those.

There's a couple of quotes from the interrogatories there, just about, you know, Enbridge's evolution through this process about starting with an IRP proposal, and now that they have moved off of that, the IRP proposal actually is not valid any more.  What their -- their subsequent submission is they have actually moved to new positions.  That was highlighted in their presentation today.

So, you know, the process and this proceeding has already brought some value in breaking down some barriers to think about doing some things differently, and even evolution of thinking, so, you know, we are obviously not there today, but -- but it has brought some value to that already.  So hopefully all the stakeholders recognize that this proceeding is helping to drive that value, but there's still a long way to go.

Status quo will not change without clear and effective IRP framework and OEB direction.

Okay.  I just put up these two diagrams that Enbridge had submitted just to show some of the elements and -- that go into planning and some of the silos and processes that need to be fixed.  So, you know, today each of these pieces are independent, not connected.  There's no processes connecting them, and I think you'll probably find with the panels like we did in the technical conference that, you know, there's individual people talking about each piece, but as far as how they flow in a way that's more integrated for effective IRP, you know, that's an outcome that will have to be done through the IRP framework.  I didn't want to spend too much time on that one.

And then I know that this proceeding is not about specific projects.  However, there is value in looking at case studies.  And, you know, I put a quote there.  It's often referred to.  If you don't remember the past, you are condemned to repeat it.

There are a lot of even recent projects where these issues have come up, and we're not looking to reopen decisions, obviously, but, you know, it is important to reflect on some of that, and obviously in some of those decisions the Board has recognized that, you know, the bar is not being met, and even the current bar, let alone, you know, the bar that will be set in the IRP framework.

So it already does set expectation that change needs to happen today, not just in the future under the IRP framework.

So looking at some of those case studies helps to inform, you know, what are the gaps, why were they there, and what would change.

So in relation to the London Line decision that came out, it was very specific about, you know, needing to raise the bar in the future as Enbridge submits applications, and all eyes will be on Enbridge on its next application to see if they comply with these OEB requirements.

There's a few other case studies, and I am not going to go through these in detail.  One that is recent is the Dawn-Parkway expansion.  I think most people know about that.  It was an urgent request for a large pipeline over $200 million.  The Board put a more thorough process in place and, because of the controversy in the local community and elsewhere, had planned for local consultation as part of the proceeding and other elements.

So through that process there was more analysis that was done, and then that -- that application was ultimately withdrawn, so there's, you know, about $200 million -- I think it was 204 million or somewhere around there, now is not in front of the Board as an active request for funding.

So, you know, it's a good example that shows that the transparency and stakeholder consultation done prior to some of these leave-to-construct applications is not adequate and -- and the leave-to-construct proceeding should not be considered the only consultation that's done.  Consultation needs to happen prior to that as well in order to identify these issues before they're in front of the Board.

And then I think I did mention already that it would be informative to consider the approach proposed by Enbridge in the IRP proposal in relation to one of these case studies to see what would have been changed if that application -- if that process was applied, and, you know, from our review of the IRP proposal, if that had been applied to these projects, it would have really changed nothing in the consultation or the process, so, you know, taking one of these and maybe use it as an example for Enbridge to apply the IRP proposal to, to say what would have been different may have been helpful in informing what the real changes are in that proposal.

Okay.  I will move on to the next topic, and I know the Board specifically asked for input in these presentations around the level of evidence and what's needed to go forward, and as you know, Pollution Probe filed a letter in November 2020 highlighting some concerns.  I indicated that wasn't just a Pollution Probe letter, it was based on input from other stakeholders that we received, and we thought it was valuable to submit something to the Board and to put that, you know, on the record and make sure everyone kind of understood those issues and that it was transparent.

We appreciate the Board's consideration of those concerns and accommodating them in the process that that was published in the procedural orders.

The interrogatories and technical conference were also helpful in discussing some of the evidence gaps and the issues, and we believe the oral hearing will be useful in identifying some of those issues and exploring them further as well.

One of the concerns I know that we had highlighted in the letter to the Board was, you know, the amount of evidence on the record in relation to what's needed in order to put in place an effective IRP framework.  And it appeared at that time that certain evidence, including the ICF report, was suggesting that there really was limited to no best practices or information that's available that's relevant to help the Board in looking at an IRP framework.

And this clearly now we know that that's not true.  But at that time, we thought it was not true and we wanted to make sure that there was an opportunity to put that material on the record and make sure that there was an opportunity to do that through the process.

We also wondered why the scope of the ICF assessment was so narrow and excluded many of the best practices that should have been included, in our opinion.  In the technical conference, ICF had an opportunity to clarify that their scope was based on their agreement and therefore, that's what directed them in the work that they did.  And also there was some other information that they had identified in their research for the report, but they weren't able to put it in the report because they didn't have the approvals to include that in the report and on the public record.

So I am not going to go through all of this in detail. I think everyone knows the materials that were filed by Pollution Probe through either research that we did, or contributions by other parties that we work with.  So the first two are the community and energy emissions plans; it's just a sample from two municipalities in Ontario.  One was from the City of Toronto and one was from the City of Ottawa.  There's many others that are available, but we just wanted to make sure the two were available for consideration in the IRP proceeding.

So there's two graphs I just extracted from those reports and again, I am not going to go into a lot of detail here, but visually you can see what those municipalities are projecting into the future out to 2050, as far as energy use and emissions reductions to meet their policy objectives.

So they're very similar, although you know slightly different where there's a decrease in fossil fuel use.  You know, some of this material does come up in the leave to construct proceedings.  But until now, it's been dismissed by Enbridge that they don't include this in any of their planning right now.

I will flip to the City of Ottawa one, which is very similar, a large decrease in fossil fuel use out to 2050.  So even if we were to accept the suggestion from Enbridge that it's not likely that these municipalities or the provincial government will reach their targets by 2030 or 2050.  It's hard to imagine that none of this progress and targets will be met.  

So even if a portion of this is met, it's a significant change and decrease of fossil fuel use in Ontario.  And I know this was highlighted by other parties in earlier presentations today, so I am not going to spend a lot of time on that specific issue.

There were other best practice and jurisdictional references that we provided.  Some of these were touched on by other parties or consultants, but we thought it was important to put some of that material on the record.  I think Enbridge's position from the technical conference is that now that, you know, they have had a chance to digest what's gone on in Con Edison with their utility guideline, cost-benefit analysis guideline, I think they are considering doing something similar now, which would be positive. but won't meet the full need of the IRP framework.  But all of this certainly helps and is a best practice move going forward.

Also in British Columbia, basically right in our backyard in Canada, this has been going on since 2003 and there's been a lot of lessons learned through that stakeholder approach and IRP review.  In fact, stakeholder consultation is going on right now prior to Fortis filing its next IRP proposal to the regulator.  So they're not waiting until their file and then the stakeholdering begins.  They are actually doing that as we speak and that will be completed prior to their filing materials with their regulator on their next generation plan.

Commissioner Frank asked earlier how ongoing developments could feed into this proceeding, and yes, there is a lot of activity that's going on and relevant to the IRP proceeding that we're currently in here at the OEB.  It may be appropriate to consider check points as the IRP framework is developed to ensure that the latest best practices are considered.  This should also be considered for inclusion in continuous improvement process going forward.  

So even if there was a 100 percent A plus IRP framework and rules put in place today, because there is a lot of change going on in best practice, they will probably have to be looked at -- I would say annually, but certainly with, you know, every few years to make sure that those best practices are looked at and the appropriate ones adopted in Ontario as well.

And then here's the final list of materials that we had filed as well that are available on the record.  I would mention that the IESO materials, they actually filed their final report February 3rd, 2021.  So we filed the draft straw man design and they just recently completed that.  They were, as you probably know, have taken a very broad and inclusive consultation process on that and I know the OEB's been involved in that process.

In the OEB -- in the IESO regional planning process, they also consider municipal energy planning, energy and emissions planning.  And the IESO even launched an Indigenous community energy planning program to complement the province of Ontario's current plan for municipalities that exists today.

We also submitted the IESO engagement principles and filed those, so those are available.  And I think every party that we asked in the technical conference agreed that those are best practice consultation principles for stakeholder engagement, including Enbridge and then ICF added -- said that generally they agree with it.  They might use slightly different wording, but I believe all the other parties agreed that those are best practice principles to consider.

And then I am not going to get into significant details on the environment plan for Ontario, but obviously it supports DSM and community energy and emissions planning.

The Ontario Municipal Energy Plan Program, as I mentioned, supports municipal planning and their goal is to have 100 percent municipalities have these plans in place that inform full energy planning, not just natural gas and electricity, but all energy planning in their communities.  They exist today.

So a municipal energy plan under that program is a comprehensive long-term plan to improve energy efficiency, reduce energy consumption and greenhouse gas emissions, foster green energy solutions and support economic development.  It's very relevant to the issues that we're talking about in IRP today.

And just can to finish on the community energy and emissions planning link to IRP, energy planning needs to be holistic, community focussed, and include effective policy consideration, not just what utilities are mandated to include today but, you know, what is on the doorstep and things that are policy but not mandatory for them to include.

In fact, if you look at the OEB's environmental guidelines, there is requirements to consider all policy in those guidelines as well.  It's a best practice to do.  IRP framework will expand beyond leave-to-construct threshold, which I believe is proposed to move to the 10-million-dollar threshold, so it's not just best practices on leave to constructs, but also other infrastructure projects as well.

Municipalities are already in the game on energy and emissions planning, and their plans already include stakeholder consultation.  So the plans that we file as an example include public consultation in those.

Municipal energy and emissions plans exist for municipalities across Ontario.  Many exist today.  They're fuel-agnostic, they're integrated, and they're looking at issues from the consumer level.

Current planning and OEB applications do not adequately consider these plans.  In fact, they've been largely ignored, including in the recent Cherry Street leave to construct and others.

So another example I was going to raise as a link in to IRP is the five-year gas supply plan.  And in that scorecard the OEB mandates that policy, which is one-third of what's required in the utilities scorecards, is a mandatory requirement.  And there was struggle on how to incorporate effective policy measures into the five-year gas supply plan scorecard.  So perhaps there's an opportunity in linkage with IRP framework process to enhance those as well.

The IRP technical conference brought significant value to help understand what is known and unknown today.  It was very difficult to follow through all the materials that were filed in the proceeding so far about what current positions are, you know, where there's a gap.  You know, I think Enbridge made it clear that they need direction or they're learning as they go.  So even a framework today won't cover everything, it's -- there's certain things that are known gaps or even things that are unknown that will have to be addressed as this process matures.

The EBO 188 and 134 are not currently sufficient to enable effective IRP.  I think all stakeholders have mentioned that, including Enbridge.  Enbridge has proposed an adjustment now to try and accommodate some of the gaps.  We heard from Mr. Neme that, you know, those principles that just use a discounted cash flow are not the best way to go, and there's other, better cost-effectiveness tests to do that as well.

Enbridge did undertake to provide a list of what it considers next steps to be through the technical conference.  I haven't had a chance to look at the -- I think today, or maybe it was yesterday, they filed a few undertaking responses.  I didn't get a chance to go through to see if that was in there or if that's still outstanding, but a few of the elements that they mentioned in the technical conference is, you know, OEB development of an IRP framework, proceeding with pilots, Enbridge developing their 10-year Asset Management Plan.  They believe that that's what they would be moving to for future Asset Management Plans anyways.  Some sort of consultation, although they were promoting stakeholder day.  And then annual IRP reporting.

So I will move on to the conclusions -- some of the conclusions that we'd like to highlight.

Effective IRP is needed in order to support a modern, reliable, and sustainable energy sector in Ontario.  This is in alignment with the Board's objectives.  It is not business as usual.  Significant changes are required from the approach and processes of the past and those that are used today.

IRP is consumer-centric, and the scope outlined in Procedural Order No. 2 from the OEB supports an industry-wide focus rather than a utility-centric focus.  Board Staff highlighted and included a reference this morning from Procedural Order No. 7 that also highlighted this broader focus, and we believe that's very appropriate.

I talked about EBO 188 and 134 not being appropriate to currently deal with IRP.

The Enbridge IRP proposal that was initially filed is no longer relevant.  If you were to look at that proposal, it actually doesn't reflect what is currently proposed by Enbridge, and there has been a lot of change even in discussion since that was filed, so it's really going to be moving forward in this proceeding, getting the clarity of all the elements that are best to move forward on.

Next steps proposed in the IRP framework is to provide guidance.  And in fact, today's presentation by Enbridge was very helpful in starting to put some of the pieces together that were in some of the materials that they had filed before to understand which things are things they still currently believe make sense and what in the past materials like the IRP proposal are not valid any more.

The OEB IRP advisory committee, something like the Vermont model suggested by Mr. Neme, would help ensure continuous improvement and sufficient stakeholder input.

In this proceeding it's unclear how input from market providers and related stakeholders for non-gas solutions will be conducted.  It's a bit of a sleeper issue in this IRP proceeding, but it is a huge item, as it relates to what is a monopoly activity and what isn't, and even for things that would be delivered by other service providers that potentially Enbridge could enable and receive a benefit from, you know, how that would exactly work.

It appears in the IRP proposal that there hasn't been any consultation with those stakeholders yet.  So one of the questions in our minds is through this process and particularly when we hit those issues in earnest, how that -- how that process will unfold.

And I will just move on to the last slide, which is a summary of some next steps for consideration.  We recommend complete testing of evidence and public input through the oral-hearing component that the Board has proposed.  This component starts in one week, and it's not clear which panels there will be and which process would be used, so it would be helpful as soon as possible to understand that process because, as I mentioned before, it's not just Pollution Probe that would be coming up with questions and material for that, it would consult with other stakeholders, so we would need to do that in advance of that process starting in about a week.

We believe that the -- an interim decision from the OEB in this proceeding can lay out the foundational elements and requirements of the IRP framework and put in place immediate requirements to make improvements.

So I think that's been outlined in the presentations today.  Not everything's going to get addressed quickly and at once, but there are certain things that can be put in place today.  In fact, there have been some already put in place through decisions like the London Line from the Board, saying areas that the bar needs to be raised and is expected for any filings in the future.  That can be done under the IRP framework as well for some short-term gains and then work on the more difficult longer-term things in the future as well.

We believe that one of the things that should be dealt with is the definition of IRP, and it should include a comprehensive definition of IRP, not a narrow definition like that proposed by Enbridge.

We believe that the Board should look at continuing implementing common-sense requirements like that was done on the London Line decision.  We believe that the OEB should establish an IRP committee, as mentioned before.  We believe there's an option that the OEB retain an expert firm or, if suitable, OEB Staff could undertake to complete a draft of an IRP framework document in a consultative manner with interested parties, leveraging all best practices available and ensure the best long-term outcome for Ontario consumers.

The OEB took this kind of approach with the DER approach, which is another very complicated set of issues that the OEB's working through, and that approach has worked very well so far.

In parallel, Enbridge and other parties identified it's prudent to look at pilot opportunities, not instead of these other activities but in parallel with them in order to test out some on-the-ground real examples starting in 2021.

The OEB will also need to update related OEB policies and guidelines that link to this.  So some examples that were given is EBO 188 and 134, but there are also other ones, such as the environmental guidelines link in to some of these issues as well and some of those other guidelines.  But really, once the OEB has their IRP framework, it will be easier to map out then all the connections to the gaps and the changes that would have to happen.

And we recommend continuous improvement approach.  You know IESO often states that they never consider themselves done on this process, they're always looking at stakeholder feedback and continuous improvement process.  So it's a very good approach to look at -- not that everything will be aligned with the gas examples one to one, but there's a lot of best practices there to consider.

So I am going to end there and take any questions. Thank you very much.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, Mr. Brophy.  Ms. Frank, do you have questions?

MS. FRANK:  Yes.  You gave us a lot to think about here, Mr. Brophy, so I am only going to focus on two areas.  This is not to say that some of your other thoughts aren't also items that I will ponder in greater detail. But for right now, two items.

First, I want to ask you about policy considerations.  You've suggested that the IRP framework and actually an IRP that's produced will need to consider the policy direction.

And I my question is what's your thoughts in terms of at what stage of the policy direction?  Is it broad-brush comments that we get from governments or other groups, or is it when something is in place?  Kind of what stage of the policy is appropriate to include in the assessment of an IRP.  Your thoughts?

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you for that question and I will just start off by saying this presentation was much longer before I got other stakeholder feedback and cut it down.  So there would have been much more material, and I thank them for their feedback and keeping me focussed.

So on the policy consideration question, it is a tricky one because there are mandated policy requirements and, you know, regulatory requirements, you know, all those things, right?

Utilities can't do their job and comply with the law unless they follow those, and if they don't follow them, they are breaking the law.  However, there's a lot of policy out there existing and emerging that does not set that black and white line on thou shalt do this.  So there will be policy statements -- well, provincial policy statements for environment was an example, right, on wetlands, that kind of thing, right.  So those are published and referenced in the OEB's environmental guidelines as an example, because their best practice on what the province, and the Minister of Natural Resources in particular, expected all utilities and stakeholders to follow to protect the environment, wildlife.  You know, those are areas for drinking water recharge areas, some very serious big issues.

So they put those out as policy statements.  You wouldn't say it's -- it's a law; if you don't do it, you're breaking the law.  But those should be treated exactly the same way that -- that they should be considered in IRP and in facility planning, because they're just as relevant and just as important.

And so those exist today.  The Ontario environment plan exists today, the community energy and emissions plans exist today, the ones we've filed and others.  So there's no question in my mind that those should be included, and if the Board was to make it clear that any filing to the OEB should indicate how those types of policies have been considered, then I think that would help to nudge to make sure that those considerations are considered in a more fulsome way.

There are other future things.  I am trying to think of an example, but something that is not as crystal clear, hasn't been finalized, doesn't exist today, you can't open it up, read it and get some pretty clear ideas on what the policy and direction is, but is emerging and will be coming.

Well, examples, okay.  So Ontario's consulting right now on an update to their environment plan, and also in relation to hydrogen and other things as well.  So some of those merging things, you don't know exactly where those will land, so you can take a best estimate and try to make decisions based on, you know, what's reasonable.

But there are some things that, you know, probably won't hit for say five, ten years in a concrete way that are more difficult.  But certainly it should be broader than it is today.

Hopefully I answered the question.

MS. FRANK:  And then just a little bit further on that, Mr. Brophy.  If a proposal came forward and in those emerging areas made some thoughts as to what it might look like -- as you say, you can't know for sure, but they made some thoughts.  Would you say, okay, you know, best efforts made there; might not be quite right, but it's helpful and we will go on that basis?  Or do you think it would bog down the consideration as people would say you got it wrong, you know it's going to be more than this, you didn't go far enough, and how much -- for the emerging policy items, how firm do they have to be before they're included or, you know, or if they are included, will they still allow us to proceed in the examination?

MR. BROPHY:  I think even the emerging policy items need to be considered and the Board hasn't done that.  So the Board did make approvals on -- they made certain decisions.  Ones that come to mind are the RNG proposal and the clean energy one in Markham.  You know, that's not based on necessarily firm commitments today, but, you know, the general consensus is that those are things that need to be considered, at least, you know, tested out and that's where jurisdictions are heading.

So I think that they need to be considered and I think the onus is on utilities to -- you know, and this is done as part of strategic planning anyways.  Like just because it doesn't come in in an application, doesn't mean it isn't considered from a strategic planning point of view.

You know, the onus should be on the utilities to say that they've considered that and indicate why they're not relevant as well.  But, you know -- I can't remember who made the point.  I think it was several people earlier today.  The investments that are made today on capital when you put a pipeline in the ground, it could be in the ground serving customers for 100 years from now, it's collected from rate payers for around 40 years from now.

So we are talking if you approve something today, it's still getting collected from rate payers in 2060, way beyond some of the time frames and policy items we've talked about today, such as the city of Toronto or city of Ottawa energy and emissions plans.  You know, they are looking out to 2030, 2050.

Decisions today on infrastructure actually approving those things out to 2060, and I know some issues came up around -- or discussion around stranded assets and those things, I probably won't wade into that given the time we have today.

MS. FRANK:  Let me try one other area.  You had expressed concern that there would be other service providers -- or potential parties who might be interested in some of the alternatives, and your suggestion was that these parties are not engaged today, they are not participating, they haven't been -- had the opportunity or maybe an awareness as to what's happening.

And so what I am wondering, Mr. Brophy, is, is there a gap here that needs to be filled by some party, or is that the type of thing that you talked about dealing with many groups?  Is that something that you would see yourself bringing forward?  How do we get that input?

MR. BROPHY:  That's an issue that we try and help with through working with different stakeholders and partners out there.  I am not going to pretend or suggest that we know all those parties or, you know, you know, anybody would have a full list of everybody, but there are certainly ones that have come up in the discussions that potentially are missing.

And, you know, one of the issues that I get calls from very often from stakeholders and particularly municipalities is they have a difficult time engaging in the regulatory process, and they've got very busy day jobs delivering on things like the energy and emissions plans, you know, they often don't even know these things are going on, and that's why -- you know, there's groups like Pollution Probe or others that we work with that try to help inform them and collect that information, and some of them actually, you know, have been able to make appearances, like City of Ottawa did in the DER proceedings, but it's very difficult and daunting.  You know, even the -- what we consider simple, you know, people that have been working with this type of process for quite a while, you know, we know how to file things, even with the new system the OEB put in, for RESS and that kind of thing, but City of Ottawa, which is large and sophisticated, you know, that was all new to them, so they made a submission this week where they sent a letter to the registrar saying, you know, we don't know how to do this.  Here is our letter.  Can you do it?  And then we actually -- they asked us if we could circulate it to all the parties, because they didn't know some of these processes.

So we are actually even working with what you think are stakeholders that might understand the process and can engage in it that are having some trouble doing that, so by the time you get down to, you know, some of the industry stakeholders that might be putting in these non-gas solutions, you know, they probably even struggle with it even more, I'd say.

So, you know, there's no end to what I suggest the goal is to try and engage those parties.  Obviously, we are trying to do it, and some others are, but I just put it on the radar because there may be some opportunities at certain points to either engage or, you know, Enbridge is in a -- you know, they didn't have an opportunity to engage with certain stakeholders before they filed their proposal, but maybe there's some additional stakeholdering that can be done, and we made suggestions in the technical conference on specific stakeholders that should be included and added to the consultation list.  

Enbridge, you know, didn't agree that those stakeholders should be added to a list and that, you know, their proposal is that if there's a stakeholdering session that happens, it's open to anybody, so anyone can show up, but one of the problems is that you can't show up if you don't know about it and, you know, with people very busy it's hard to find out about those -- those things, and we are suggesting anything related to IRP, that there be a list built or some sort of a website or something you can bookmark that you can go to and stay up on this.  It's a tough issue.  There's not just a simple solution.

MS. FRANK:  But Mr. Brophy, you are not suggesting that that -- well, I accept that there are likely people out there who would make a contribution and it be helpful to hear from them, but it's not a barrier that would prevent us from proceeding, is it?  Do you think we have to wait until we can reach out to all those people?

MR. BROPHY:  I don't think it's a barrier, no.  I think that what we laid out in the recommendations as far as proceeding can be done.  You know, I think as a proceeding gets into certain issues that may impact stakeholders that may not be active through, you know, directly or indirectly in the proceeding, then something, you know, we have been trying to do is make sure that, you know, those stakeholders are aware as well.

So I don't think it's a barrier, and in fact I think it would be harmful to say, okay, stop, let's kind of not proceed.  I think there's so much more that's going to come out and get discussed in things like the oral proceeding that that needs to happen, because, you know, to be honest, there's not even a clear understanding in exactly what the non-gas solutions would be and how they would be treated yet.

So I think that would need to be developed, at least in some draft form, in order to make sure that all those stakeholders could be -- could be considered.

MS. FRANK:  Okay.  Thank you for your thoughts.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  I have been watching that Mr. Janigan has been staying connected, so do you have any questions?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah, I will chance it here.  I just have one question.  What is the minimum level of OEB superintendents or review of the implementation of the IRP framework, and in particular how that framework works on meeting potential demand that Pollution Probe sees is required?  And when will it be required, at what stage, what timeline?

MR. BROPHY:  So are you talking about OEB issuance of an IRP framework or once it's issued how often the OEB would need to kind of interject and be active on that?

MR. JANIGAN:  Yeah, once it's issued, both looking at whether or not the framework is working, but more particularly whether or not the IRP framework has been adequately applied to any -- to meet any particular demand.

So we are dealing with the question of, is it only when the -- when they -- all the alternatives have been rejected and an LTC application is made, or does OEB supervision and review occur at an earlier point in the timeline?

MR. BROPHY:  I think that there need to be some sort of a review, certainly within the first few years of it being issued, to identify if it's meeting its intended goals and potentially if there's new best practices or other things that should be considered and incorporated that that's done.

However, I think that the OEB will be looking at these issues almost every day in relation to rate-case proceedings, ICM applications, leave-to-construct applications, and other things.  Anything that comes before the Board is an opportunity to see if we are moving in the right direction in alignment with an effective IRP framework or not.

And, you know, in fact, in some of the decisions recently there's been elements that have indicated more is expected even before an IRP framework is issued.

So, you know, as far as, you know, a check point to do a formal review, probably within the first few years, you know, two years or so, but, you know, it can be looked at on an ongoing basis as well, and if it's identified more recently than that that things aren't working, then it might, you know, require quicker action.

MR. JANIGAN:  Okay.  Okay.  Thanks very much.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thanks, Mr. Brophy.  I know we are running quite long here.  So I have -- I just have one question on your next-steps slide for consideration, something that I didn't -- didn't quite understand.  And I don't know if you can call it up.  I have got it up in front of me.

But you speak to an interim decision for the framework, and then go on to say that we should have a consultation to develop the framework, and I am trying to understand, I mean obviously, you know, you know that we're working hard on issues of regulatory efficiency and it kind of sounds like you are saying we should run through this whole adjudicative process and end up with an adjudicated interim framework, and then start a whole consultation process like we did on DER, a non-adjudicative process to develop the real framework.

You know, that's what it looks like in the bullets, so help me understand what you're saying.

MR. BROPHY:  Thank you for that question and clarification.  That's -- we are not asking for a non-efficient process.  I think what's unfolding even since this proceeding started is there's a lot of complex issues, even ones Enbridge may not have considered.  And there will become a point in time, and it will probably become more clear after the oral component is done, on the list of things that, you know, there is some clarity and other things that may take some more time to do.

So I use the term "interim decision" probably loosely, it could be something elsewhere there will be a set of things that make sense to do pertaining to an IRP framework, and that there's value in implementing and making sure get locked in now.

That may be before the full suite of items can be dealt with, and there may be some that could take, you know, potentially a year or more to deal with.  Right?

So I am not sure if the Board intended this proceeding to go on that long or not.  But, you know, there's a point in time where you have to say, okay, here's enough to lock in a certain amount, probably in the shape of a decision.  It can happen in alignment with issuing an IRP framework, or it can happen in advance of finalizing a full IRP framework.  Because, you know, I have worked on those kind of framework documents before and it takes a lot of time to kind of work them out and even if you -- you think it's perfect and you share it with people and they say, well, this, you know, this means this to me, and you go oh, no, that isn't what was intended, right.  So there's a little bit of fine tuning to do there.

But it's, yeah -- it's not outside again of the adjudicative process.  I think it would have to fit into the adjudicative process.  We are not saying the IRP framework would then be taken outside. I think it would be impossible to do that actually and keep it in alignment with the scope laid out in this proceeding.

Hopefully, I have answered the question somewhat.

MS. ANDERSON:  Yeah, thank you.  And just quickly 
on -- is there a major difference between what you're saying is an interim framework and what we were hearing from Enbridge as a living framework?  Are they kind of similar, in your view?

MR. BROPHY:  Well, thank you for that question.  You know, I heard the term "living framework" referred to and I can understand it.  But there is a -- it's a double-edged sword.  There's a negative aspect to the term "living framework" as well where -- where you could consider a living framework that you're never done, which is probably partially true, right?  You're always trying to improve and deal with enhancing IRP.

However, that can get in the way of doing things now and sometimes using the term "living framework" is used to delay things from being done now when you actually need to say, okay, let's lock this in now.  Sure our process is living, but there's certain things that should be happening now rather than, you know, just keeping it too broad a concept, right?

So I struggle with the term "living framework".  It is an evergreen kind of process.  Even IESO, like they don't ever consider they're done.  They have done much more consultation over the last decade than has been done on, say, gas IRP.  But they're not done.  In fact they keep identifying more and more gaps and keep increasing kind of their approach to it to make it even better.

So I struggle a bit with the term "living framework".

MS. ANDERSON:  Okay, thank you, Mr. Brophy.  I think we will leave it there.

At the beginning of the outset of this morning, I did say that the Panel was going to have a quick conversation at the end of this, just to reflect on what we have heard and whether or not there would be any changes to our plans going forward.

I will share with you, we have had you know some good discussions on this already from the breaks that we have had today, and I apologize; it is late and some of us have some snow shovelling to do.

But we are going to break out the Panel, and we are hoping that it's about five minutes and then we will come back to close.  So I appreciate you just taking that time.  Thanks.
--- Recess taken at 4:51 p.m.
--- On resuming at 4:53 p.m.

MS. ANDERSON:  Thank you, everyone, for the time you have taken today.  The Panel did find it very valuable in helping us preparing for the oral hearing, and as I say that, yes, we are proceeding.  We think -- we think there's value, and we didn't hear, you know, any great opposition to that, even -- there's lots of things that will be explored at the oral hearing.  We didn't expect to have that all explored here.  This was just the overview for us.  So no change.  Schedule proceeds as planned for March the 1st.

I will ask, Mr. Stevens, if you can have Enbridge be preparing their panels as quickly as we can to get ready for that hearing.

And I will remind people that we had three days of technical conference, we have a transcript from that technical conference, we expect that you will not repeat questions that you asked at that technical conference and received a response for.  Obviously follow-ups that extend beyond that are fine, but you don't need to duplicate it in the oral hearing.  We have looked at the transcripts, you can refer to those transcripts in your submissions, so you don't need to repeat that at the oral hearing, so we can be a bit more efficient, and obviously we have all been here today, so things that have been part of your presentations today you don't need to repeat as well.

So as I said, thank you, everyone.  It's been good, and I just -- I will ask, Mr. Stevens, is there anything that you wanted to close with from Enbridge's perspective?

MR. STEVENS:  There's not, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much for today.  I know that Enbridge found it equally useful to have greater definition around the positions of each of the parties.

And just to confirm, Enbridge will provide information about its witness panels as soon as we are able, and my understanding is, just to confirm witness availability, that we are set to sit each of the days during the first week of March; is that correct?

MS. ANDERSON:  That is -- is it my schedule -- I am trying to remember what's exactly in the procedural order, but certainly that's what's in my calendar.

Mr. Millar, are you going to help me out here as to what the exact wording or...

MR. MILLAR:  I apologize, I don't have the PO open right now.  Ms. Walter may, or perhaps -- I'm going to pull it up in just a second.

MS. ANDERSON:  It's in my Outlook calendar for that week, so...

MS. WALTER:  So the procedural order says that it's March 1st to 5th, so it says 1st to 3rd, and then it says, if required, 4th and 5th.

MS. ANDERSON:  That's what I suspected it said, but it's good to get that confirmed, so, you know, for sure we have got the three days, but if necessary we have got the other two.

MR. STEVENS:  Thank you.

MS. ANDERSON:  So, yes, long day, and thank you, everyone, for your cooperation.  Technically we only had one little glitch.  The rest of it worked very well.  And I appreciate it, and certainly appreciate how well our court reporter has kept up with this.  So anyway, have a good weekend, everyone.  
--- Whereupon proceedings concluded at 4:57 p.m.
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